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Marquis Aurbach Coffing
Terry A. Coffing, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 4949
Micah S. Echols, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 8437

Tye S. Hanseen, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 10365
10001 Park Run Drive

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
Telephone: (702) 382-0711
Facsimile: (702) 382-5816
tcoffing@maclaw.com
mechols@maclaw.com
thanseen@maclaw.com
Attorneys for Defendant Michael J. Mona, Jr.
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CLERK OF THE COURT

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, a California
corporation,

Plaintiff,
V5.

RIO VISTA NEVADA, LLC, a Nevada limited
liability company; WORLD DEVELOPMENT,
INC., a California corporation; BRUCE MAIZE,
and individual; MICHAEL J. MONA, JR., an
individual; DOES I through 100, inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No.: A-12-670352-F
Dept. No.: XV

OPPOSITION TO MOTION ON AN
ORDER SHORTENING TIME
FOR BOND PENDING APPEAL

Hearing Date: September 17, 2015
Hearing Time: 9:00 a.m.
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Defendant Michael J. Mona, Jr. (“Mike”), by and through the law firm of Marquis
Aurbach Coffing, hereby submits his opposition to Far West’s motion on an order shortening
time for bond pending appeal. This opposition is made and based on the attached memorandum
of points and authorities, the pleadings and papers on file herein, and any oral argument allowed
by the Court at the hearing on this matter

Dated this 16th day of September, 2015.

MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING

By /s/ Micah S. Echols
Terry A. Coffing, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 4949
Micah S. Echols, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 8437
Tye S. Hanseen, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 10365
10001 Park Run Drive
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
Attorneys for Defendant
Michael J. Mona, Jr.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. INTRODUCTION
After this Court sanctioned Mike and his now ex-wife, Rhonda Mona (“Rhonda”), in July

2015, the Monas petitioned the Supreme Court for extraordinary relief from the sanctions order.
After reviewing the Monas’ writ petition and the extensive stay briefing, the Supreme Court has
now exercised its discretion to order briefing on the Monas® writ petition.' Additionally, the
Supreme Court weighed the four NRAP 8(c) factors and ordered a stay of “all proceedings in
Eighth Judicial District Court Case No. A-12-670352-F, pending further order of this court.”
The stay of all District Court proceedings demonstrates that: (1) the object of the Monas’ writ

petition would be defeated absent the Supreme Court’s stay of all District Court proceedings;

' The Supreme Court’s August 31, 2015 order is attached as Exhibit A.

2Jd atpg. 1.
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(2) the Monas would suffer irreparable and serious injury absent the Supreme Court’s stay of all
District Court proceedings; (3) Far West will not suffer irreparable or serious injury with the
Supreme Court’s stay of all District Court proceedings; and (4) the Monas are likely to prevail on
the merits of their writ petition. See NRAP §(c).

During the course of the Supreme Court stay briefing, Far West asked the Supreme Court
to require the Monas to post a “significant’ supersedeas bond.> Far West also asked the Supreme
Court to prevent the Monas from ‘transferring, disposing of or encumbering any non-exempt
property while this [matter] remains pending.’* The Supreme Court denied both of Far West’s
requests because the Supreme Court wanted this Court to first consider these requests subject to
review by the Supreme Court.’ This Court now has limited jurisdiction to determine “the proper

amount of any supersedeas bond . . . .”®

In its shortened time motion, Far West now asks this Court to order a supersedeas bond
of $24,172,076.16 to be posted within only three days. Notably, Far West has abandoned its
request to prevent the Monas from ‘transferring, disposing of or encumbering any non-exempt
property while this [matter] remains pending.’’ Specifically, Far West does not make any claim
to Rhonda’s separate bank accounts. This Court previously considered this request and, like the
Supreme Court, denied the request because “[t]he Court understands, however, that people need
money to live.”® So, the threshold issue before the Court is whether a bond should be posted for
all District Court proceedings to remain stayed. But, Rhonda’s separate bank accounts and

property remain stayed pending further order of the Supreme Court.

? See Exhibit A, pg. 2.

‘1

*Id.

8 Jd. (emphasis added).

I

8 Excerpts from the July 9, 2015 hearing transcript are attached as Exhibit B. See Exhibit B, pg. 45.
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The Court should not require a supersedeas bond to stay this case because Far West has
initiated at least three other cases in the Eighth Judicial District Court to pursue the Monas’
assets. Far West’s other cases provide an avenue to avoid the Supreme Court’s stay of all
eXecution proceedings. In light of these other proceedings, Far West’s request for a bond in this
case for the full amount of the judgment is disingenuous because Far West still intends to
execute in these other matters. Thus, the Court should réfuse to provide Far West with what
amounts to double security.

Far West’s motion argues that the Monas are supposedly not entitled to alternate security.
However, Far West avoids the Supreme Court authority that allows the requirement of a
supersedeas bond to be waived altogether. See Nelson v. Heer, 121 Nev. 832, 836, 122 P.3d
1252, 1254 (2005). As an alternative, the Court should weigh the Nelsorn factors and conclude
that no supersedeas bond is required.

Finally, the Court should preserve the status quo pending the resolution of the Supreme
Court original proceeding. See Nelson, 121 Nev. at 835, 122 P.3d at 1254. At a minimum, the
Court should honor the Supreme Court’s stay as it relates to Rhonda. Although Far West
previously asked for Rhonda’s accounts to be turned, this Court denied that request, and the
Supreme Court also denied the same request. Therefore, this issue of Rhonda’s separate property

is now the law of the case for stay purposes and should not be disturbed.

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. SINCE FAR WEST WILL NOT STAY EXECUTION IN ALL ITS
LAWSUITS, NO SUPERSEDEAS BOND SHOULD BE REQUIRED.

Far West’s motion requesting a bond from this Court is disingenuous because it fails to
disclose that Far West is pursuing the Monas in at least three other cases in the Eighth Judicial
District Court. The purpose of a supersedeas bond is to stay execution during the pendency of an
appellate proceeding. See NRCP 62. However, Far West proposes the requirement of a full
supersedeas bond in this case while continuing to pursue the Monas in the three other cases
based upon the same foreign judgment.
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(D) In Far West Industries v. Cannavest Corp., Case No. A695786, Department 21
(filed on February 7, 2014), Mike is a named defendant.’ The requested relief against Mike is
for “the establishment of a constructive trust in favor of Far West in an amount sufficient to
satisfy its judgment against MONA.”'?

2) In Far West Industries v. Mona, Case No, A724490, Department 32 (filed on
September 11, 2015), both Mike and Rhonda are named defendants.!! Far West seeks relief
against the Monas for “a declaration by the Court that the aforementioned transactions are
fraudulent transfers and that Plaintiff [Far West] may execute upon and apply those assets, based
upon the fraudulent transfers and/or the community property nature of the assets, towards the

satisfaction of the Judgment.”'?

(3)  In Monav. Mona, Case No. D517425, Department B, the Monas completed their
divorce in July 2015. On September 4, 2015, Far West has now sought to intervene into the
closed divorce case to have the District Court adjudicate Far West’s intervenor complaint."”® The
entire purpose of the intervenor complaint is to enforce Far West’s same foreign judgment
against the Monas.

Since Far West does not intend to halt all of its litigation against the Monas, based upon
the same foreign judgment, Far West is not entitled to any supersedeas bond. “[T]he effect of a
supersedeas [bond] . . . is to suspend proceedings and preserve the status quo pending the
determination of the appeal.” Jinkens v. Hampshire Gardens Dev. Corp., 8 F.R.D. 330, 332
(D.D.C. 1935). Since a supersedeas bond in the instant case would not serve to entirely halt the

execution proceedings of Far West’s judgment, the Court should order that no supersedeas bond

A copy of Far West’s third amended complaint in Case No. A695786, filed on July 15, 2014, is attached
as Exhibit C.

" 1d. at pg. 9.

'""A copy of Far West’s complaint in Case No. A724490, filed on September 11, 2015, is attached as
Exhibit D.

2 1d at pg. 12.

" Far West’s motion to intervene and accompanying intervenor complaint is attached as Exhibit E.
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is required. Tellingly, Far West filed its second and third lawsuits against the Monas in an
attempt to subvert the Supreme Court’s August 31, 2015 stay order. This arrangement would
allow the Supreme Court to consider the Monas’ pending writ petition without changing the
status quo, while allowing Far West to undertake its execution efforts in the other three cases.
Conceptually, no supersedeas bond should be ordered since Far West is continuing its execution
efforts on these other fronts, and a bond would result in double security, Therefore, without
interfering with the Supreme Court’s stay of all District Court proceedings in the instant case, the
Court should order that no supersedeas bond is required.
B. THE COURT SHOULD, ALTERNATIVELY, WEIGH THE NELSON V.
HEER FACTORS AND CONCLUDE THAT NO SUPERSEDEAS BOND IS
REQUIRED.

Far West recites the five Nelson factors in its motion but only offers them for the notion
that alternate security should not be permitted. However, the Supreme Court outlined the same
factors for the purpose of “determining when a full supersedeas bond may be waived . . . .”
Nelson, 121 Nev. at 836, 122 P.3d at 1254. Two relevant examples are mentioned in Nelson
when a full supersedeas bond is not required: First, when “the judgment debtor’s financial
condition is such that the posting of a full bond would impose an undue financial burden.”
Poplar Grove, Etc. v. Bache Halsey Stuart, Inc., 600 F.2d 1189, 1191 (5th Cir. 1979). Second,
when “a full bond would impose an undue financial burden and the debtor’s financial dealings
can be restrained to provide alternate security.” /d. As the Court is aware, the Monas simply do
not have the requested $24,172,076.16 to post a supersedeas bond, much less within three days.
Far West’s request for such a supersedeas bond asks for an impossibility that simply cannot be
met. Therefore, the Court should consider the noted exceptions for the posting of a supersedeas

bond, as outlined in Nelson, and waive the supersedeas bond requirement,

C. AT A MINIMUM, THIS COURT SHOULD LEAVE RHONDA’S
SEPARATE BANK ACCOUNT INTACT.
Far West previously asked this Court to turn over Rhonda’s separate bank accounts. This

Court refused the request because the Court understood that “people need money to live.”'.

14 See Exhibit B.
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When presented with Far West’s identical argument, the Supreme Court similarly denied Far
West’s request.”” Far West has now abandoned this argument by failing to raise it in the motioﬁ.
Thus, for purposes of a stay, the Supreme Court’s order is now the law of the case, and the Court
should not disturb the stay on Rhonda’s separate bank account. See Bd. of Gallery of History,
Inc v. Datecs Corp., 116 Nev. 286, 289, 994, P.2d 1149, 1150 (2000).

II. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny Far West’s motion for a bond pending appeal because the entire
purpose of a supersedeas bond is to maintain the status quo. Yet, Far West has intentionally
subverted the Supreme Court’s stay order by continuing execution proceedings against the
Monas in three other lawsuits (two filed after the Supreme Court’s stay order). The posting of a
supersedeas bond in this case would not have the effect of staying execution proceedings.
Therefore, the Court should simply deny Far West’s request, while honoring the Supreme
Court’s stay order, and allow Far West to pursue its other litigation.

Alternatively, the Court should formally waive the supersedeas bond requirements by
considering the factors outlined in Nelson. At a minimum, the Court should leave Rhonda’s
separate bank accounts intact according to the Supreme Court’s stay order.

Dated this 16th day of September, 2015.

MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING

By s/ Micah S. Echols
Terry A. Coffing, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 4949
Micah S. Echols, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 8437
Tye S. Hanseen, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 10365
10001 Park Run Drive
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
Attorneys for Defendant
Michael J. Mona, Jr.

1% See Exhibit A, pg. 2.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that the OPPOSITION TO MOTION ON AN ORDER
SHORTENING TIME FOR BOND PENDING APPEAL was submitted electronically for
filing and/or service with the Eighth Judicial District Court on the 16th day of September, 2015.

Electronic service of the foregoing document shall be made in accordance with the E-Service

6

List as follows:"

Lee, Hernandez, Landrum & Garofalo
T Contact .
- Aurora M. Mas

Dara or Colleen
 DavidS.Lee

/s/ Cally Hatfield
Cally Hatfield, an employee of
Marquis Aurbach Coffing

'® Pursuant to EDCR 8.05(a), each party who submits an E-Filed document through the E-Filing System
consents to electronic service in accordance with NRCP 5(b)(2)(D).
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DEFENDANT’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION ON AN ORDER SHORTENING TIME
FOR BOND PENDING APPEAL

Exhibit Description
A. Supreme Court’s August 31, 2015 Order

Excerpts From the July, 9, 2015 Hearing Transcript

Far West’s Third Amended Complaint in Case No. A695786

Far West’s Complaint in Case No. A724490

B O QW

Far West’s Motion to Intervene and Intervenor Complaint
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An unpublisﬂed order shall not be regarded as precedent and shall not be cited as legal authority. SCR 123

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RHONDA HELENE MONA; AND No. 68434
MICHAEL J. MONA, JR,,
Petitioners,
vs,
THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT F I L E D
COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF AUG 31 2015
CLARK; AND THE HONORABLE
JOSEPH HARDY, JR., DISTRICT CLER OF SUPRENE COURT
JUDGE, av_éo%%ﬁr-
Respondents,

and
FAR WEST INDUSTRIES,
Real Party in Interest.

ORDER

This original petition for a writ of mandamus or prohibition
challenges a district court order that, in part, directs funds in certain bank
accounts to be applied to a domesticated foreign judgment. We previously
entered a temporary stay, pending receipt and consideration of additional
documents regarding the stay. Having reviewed the motion for stay, the
opposition thereto, and the reply,! we conclude that a stay 1s warranted,
pending our further consideration of this writ proceeding. NRAP 8(c)
Fritz Hansen A/ S v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 116 Nev. 650, 6 P.3d 982
(2000). Accordingly, we stay all proceedings in Eighth Judicial District
Court Case No. A-12-670352-F, pending further order of this court.

1We grant petitioners’ motion to exceed the page limit for the reply
in support of the stay motion and direct the clerk to file the reply received
on August 24, 2015. ' ‘

SupREME COURT
OF
Nevaoa

© 19474 <5 . l5'2(030”




In its opposition to petitioners’ stay motion, real party in
interest requests that petitioners be required to post a “significant” bond
as a condition of any stay. It does not appear that the district court has
yet considered the proper- amount of any supersedeas bond, NRAP
8(a)(1)(B), and we have routinely recognized that the district court is
better suited for making supersedeas bond determinations. See Nelson v.
Heer, 121 Nev. 832, 836, 122 P.2d 1252, 1254 (2005). Accordingly, we
deny without prejudice real party in interest’s request to require a bond
and determine the amount of such a bond.

Additionally, real party in interest has filed a motion to
prevent petitioners from “transferring, disposing of or encumbering any
non-exempt property while this [matter] remains pending.”? Having
considered the motion and petitioners’ opposition,? we deny the motion.
We note that a bond would be an appropriate method to protect real party
in interest’s ability to eventually execute on their judgment and, as
explained above, the district court is the proper forum to seek a bond.

Finally, having considered the petition and reviewed the
documents submitted with it, it appears that an answer to the petition

will assist this court in resolving the matter. Therefore, real party in

2Real party in interest titled. its motion as an “emergency’ and
requested relief within four days of its filing. However, real party in
interest failed to identify a specific event or action that required relief in
less than 14 days, other than its apparent desire to have the motion
resolved as soon as possible. This does not constitute an emergency under
our rules.

iWe - grant petitioners’ motion to exceed the page limit for an
opposition to a motion and direct the clerk to file the opposition received
on August 25, 2015,

SuPREME COURT
OF
NEVADA
2

© 15574 <G> '




interest, on behalf of respondents, shall have 30 days from the date of this
order within which to file an answer, intluding authorities, against
issuance of the requested writ. Petitioner shall have 15 days from service

of the answer to file and serve any reply.

It is so ORDERED.
Q«Eﬁ-—_ﬁ
Saitta .
9 ‘ ‘ p‘ ¥ ‘
. - Ry .
Gibbons Pickering J

cc:  Hon. Joseph Hardy, Jr., District Judge
Marquis Aurbach Coffing
Lemons, Grundy & Eisenberg
Holley, Driggs, Walch, Fine Wray Puzey & Thompson/Las Vegas
Eighth District Court Clerk

Surneme CouRT
OF
NEVADA
. 3

©) 19478 <Ef
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CLERK OF THE COURT

TRAN
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
x ok Kk Kk %
FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, . CASE NO. A-670352
Plaintiff, . DEPT. NO. XV
vs. . TRANSCRIPT OF
. PROCEEDINGS

RIO VISTA NEVADA, LLC, et al..
Defendants.

Aﬁd.all reléted claims.

BEFORE THE HONORABLE JOE HARDY, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

SHOW CAUSE HEARING: WHY ACCOUNTS OF RHONDA MONA SHOULD NOT BE
SUBJECT TO EXECUTION AND WHY THE COURT SHOULD NOT FIND MONAS

IN CONTEMPT
THURSDAY, JULY 9, 2015
APPEARANCES :
FOR THE PLAINTIFF: F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ.
ANDREA GANDARA, ESQ.
FOR THE DEFENDANTS: TERRY A. COFFING, ESQ.

ALSO PRESENT:

FOR RHONDA MONA: ANDREW KYNASTON, ESQ.
ED KAINEN, ESQ.
COURT RECORDER: TRANSCRIPTION BY:
MATTHEW YARBROUGH VERBATIM DIGITAL REPORTING, LLC
District Court Englewood, CO 80110

(303) 7%8-0890

Proceedings recorded by audio-visual recording, transcript
produced by transcription service.
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to preserve the status quo. And if we unfreeze these assets,
they may not be there tomorrow. That's not preserving status
quo. They've told you over and over again, Mr. Mona makes
$300,000 a year. If that's not enough money to retain
counsel, I don't know what is.

THE COURT: They have 7 days from today to produce
the records. That would include the bank account records.
Presumably, if transfers are made that are dubious in nature,
if I were her, I'd be hesitant to make.

The Court understands, however, that people need
money to live. And so the Court is going to grant the request
for stay for 7 days from today, limited again, to Mrs. Mona
and those three bank accounts. In all other regards, however,
the order is not stayed.

MR. EDWARDS: Your Honor, I know you told me I only
get one more chance, but could we at least put a dollar cap on
it, what she can expend over these seven days?

THE COURT: No.

MR. EDWARDS: Okay. Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. COFFING: Thank you, Your Honor.

(Proceeding was concluded at 11:26 a.m.)

x * * * *

Verbatim Digital Reporting, LLC ¢ 303-798-0890
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3 |i Nevada Bar No, 1545
HLEE, HERNANDEZ, LANDRUM
4 | & GAROFALO
_ 117575 Vegas Dirive, Suite 150
2 it Las Vegas, Nevada 89128
41 (702) 880-9750
6 1l Fax; (702) 314-1210
dleeimlee-lawfitm.com
7 | jhawley@leelawlirm.com
8 Attorneys for Plaintiff
9 DISTRICT COURT
189 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
g 11 -
i 19  FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, a California | CASENO.: A-14-695786-C
% Il corporation. DEPT: XXI
R 1l
; SE 13 Plaintiff, THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT
Zulg iy -
57 B ARBITRATION EXPEMTION:
3 58w 15 1 - DISPUTE IN EXCKESS OF $50,600.00
1;: 3‘3 o ) CANNAVEST CORP., a foreign corporation;
4% 16 || ROBEN VENTURES, LLC a Nevada limited
& | Hability company; MAI DUN, LLC, a
= 17 }| Nevada limited liability company; MERCIA.
& HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada limited Hability
18 Il company; MICHAEL J. MONA, IR,
{9 - individually, and as an officer and a director
- of CANNAVEST CORP., a foreign
20 {| corporation, and a manager of ROEN
+ VENTURES, LLC a Nevada limited liability
21 | company; BART MACKAY, individually,
oy and as a director of CANNAVEST CORP., a
== 1 foreign corporation, and as a manager and
73 ¢ member of ROEN VENTURES, LLC a
1 Nevada limited ligbility company; MAI
24 1 DUN, LLC, a Nevada Hmited Lability
company; and MERCIA HOLDINGS, LLC, a
25 1t Nevada limited liability company; DOES I
ae 1 through 25 inclusive, and ROE corporation 3
“2 N through 25, inclusive,
27 Defendants,
28 3 TN
i




LEE, HERNANDEZ, LANDEUM & GAROFALO
7578 VEGAS DRIVE, SUITE 150
LAS VEGAS, NV 89125
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12
13

14 |
|'member of ROEN.

13

18
1%
20

e N3 W

10 |

16 i}

1 foreign corporation that is authorized to do business in Nevada and which does business in Clark

THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT
Plaintiff, FAR WEST INDUSTRIES (FAR WHST), by and through its attorneys, LEE,

HERNANDEZ, LANDRUM & GAROFALO, alleges and complains against Defendants, |
CANNAVEST CORP., ROEN VENTURES, LLC, MICHAEL J. MONA JR., and BARTE:
MACKAY and certain DOES Defendants as follows: '

1. Plaintiff Far West Indugtries (FAR WEST) is and at all times relevant hereto was &
 California corporation doing business in California.

- 2. Defendant Michael J. Mona Jr. (MONA} is and at all times relevant hereto was a
resident of Clark County, Nevada, and is an officer and a director of CANNAVEST, and a
manager of ROEN,

3. Defendant Bart Mackay (MACKAY) is and at all times relevant hereto was a resident

of Clark County, Nevada, and is a sharcholder and director of CANNAVEST, and a manager and |

4, Defendant CannaVest Corp. (CANNAVEST) is and at all times relevant hereto was a 5

iCoun‘iy, Nevada,

5. Defendant Roen Ventures, LLC, (ROEN) is and at all times relevant hereto was a

;N'evada limited Hability company doing business in Clark County, Nevada. ROEN was formed

by MONA and a third party, Michael Llamas,

6. Defendant Mai Dug, LLC (MAI DUN) is and at all times relevant bereto was a Nevada |

: f,!im}.t.ed lability company doing business in Clark County, Nevada.

7. Defendant Mercia Holdings, LLC (MERCIA) is and at all times relevant hereto was a |

Nevada limited liability company doing business in Clark County, Nevada

8. Upon information and belief, both MAI DUN and MERCIA are wholly owned my §

{MACKAY, and is used as investment vehicles by MACKAY.
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an individual; MICHAEL J. MONA, JR., an individual”; and was filed in the Superior Court of :

and stead of ROE corporations 1 & 2, respectively.

{unknown to Plaintiff, who therefore sues such defendants as such fictitious names, Plaintiff is |
|herein as DOE 1 through 25, inclusive, andior ROE corporations 3 through 25, inclusive, |
| participated in the efforts described in this complaint to conceal assets, waste assets subject to

| execution, and defraud creditors such as FAR WEST. Plaintiff will seek leave to amend this

! as soon as those identities can be ascertained.

1110, inclusive, as though fully set forth herein.

{fraud arising out of a land transaction in California. That case wes siyled “FAR WEST
{INDUSTRIES, a California corporation, vs. RTO VISTA NEVADA, LLC, a Nevada limited
the State of California, county of Riverside, case number RIC495966 (the California Action).

! | FAR WEST and against MONA, and others, in the principal sum $17,777,562.18.

properly in Nevada, and enforcement proceedings commenced including, but not limited to an |
{| examination of MONA as judgment debtor, and gamishments of various accounts belonging to

1 MONA.

I} received $6 million from a brokerage account, MONA loaned an unspecified amount exceeding

9. MAI DUN and MERCIA are hereby substituted in as a party defendant in the pla\cc.E

10. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or otherwise, |

of defendants DOES 1 through 23, inclusive, and ROE corporations 3 through 25, inclusive, are

informed and believes and thereon alleges that each of the individual defendants designated

Complaint to insert the true names and capacities of the fictitiously designated defendants herein

’

RARRARRIK R

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS _

11. FAR WEST repeats and realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 tln‘oughg

12. On March 24, 2008, FAR WEST sued MONA and others for damages resulting from
Liability company; WORLD DEVELOPMENT, INC,, a California corporation; BRUCE MAIZE,
13. On Febrary 23, 2012, g judgment was entered in the California Action in favor of

14. On October 18, 2012, the judgment in the California Action was domesticated

15. In the judgment debtor exam, MONA testified, among other things, that in 2013, he




1 S” million of that money to ROEN, which was then loaned by ROEN to CANNAVEST, ({the
2 loans are collectively referred to herein as “the Transaction™).

3 16, On or about July 25, 2013, MONA, on behalf of CANNAVEST, executed an
4 amendment to CANNAVEST’S loan agreement which provided, inter alia, that advances under
5 §;the ROEN-CANNAVEST note could be increased to $6 million and that the note could be

converted, at ROEN’S option, to stock in CANNAVEST at a discounted price from the stock’s

6
7| fair market value (the “Conversion Price”) as determined by CANNAVEST’S Board of Directors, |
3 17. Upon information and belief, at the time of the July 25, 2013, amendment to the loan |
9 { agreement, CANNAVEST stock was trading at between Twelve Dollars ($12.00) and Thirteen
10 {} Dollars ($13.00) per share.
2 11 18. On or about October 29, 2013, the Conversion Price of the CANNAVEST shares was
§i§ 5 12 :set at sixty cents {$0.60) per share.
;g_i 13 19. Upon information and belief, on the date that the Conversion Price was set (October
%:3 :: ?5 14 1129, 2013), CANNAVEST stock was trading at between Twelve Dollars ($12.00) and Thirteen |
:% :E’gi 15 Dollars ($13.00) per share, |
ii’:g 16 20. Upon information and belief, the Conversion Price represented a discount of over
‘Z‘:) 17 95 % from the fair market value of CANNAVEST stock, as deiermined by its trading price on that |
A 1% idate. |
19 | 21, Upon information and belief, on the date that the Conversion Price was set (October .

20 29, 2013}, CANNAVEST stock was trading at approximately $12 per share, and 10 million shares
1 of that stock would have been worth approximately $120 million (hereinafter the “Conversion |
29 i‘v’ﬂhl&”). |
23 22, MONA bas also testified that following the Transaction, MACKAY offered MONA
24 | $500,000 to purchase the note or notes that MONA made to ROEN, and to buy out MONA’s
25 .:‘intcrcst in ROEN including MONA’S interest in the notes from ROEN to CANNAVEST, as

26 i| described above.




for the sum of $300,000 MONA sold ROEN’S debt {o him, along with MONA’S interest in
{ROEN to MACKAY, making MACKAY and Michacl Liamas the owners of ROEN. |

i Date was between Twelve Dollars ($12.00} and Thirteen Dollars ($13.00) per share.

{| CANNAVEST stock securing the note, based on its trading price, exceeded $100 mitlion.

il de facto control of all the monies that were loaned to ROEN and CANNAVEST pursuant to the
H Transaction and/or the stock obtained by ROEN after the loan was converted.

NRS 112.150(2).

insiders of MONA, as that term is defined in NRS 112.150(7)(a)(4).

alleged lack of an ownership interest in ROEN.

y 1| that arose out of a deficiency proceeding that followed a frustee’s sale of certain real property.

he personally is a member of ROEN.

IMACKAY, opted to convert CANNAVEST'S $6 million debt to stock in CANNAVEST at the
Y ‘Conversion Price. Thus MACKAY, through ROEN, MAI DUN and MERCIA received 10

Fmillion shares of CANNAVEST stock. (hereinafter “the Conversion™).

23. MONA testified that he agreed, and on or about November 25, 2013, (the Sale Date)

24. Upon information and belief, the reasonable value of CANNAVEST stock on the Sale

25. On the Sale Date, both MONA, and MACKAY, individually and as the sole owner

of MAI DUN and MERCIA knew or should have known that the Conversion Valoe of fhf:E
26. Upon information and belief, by virtue of MONA’S position as a manager of ROEN
and an officer and director of CANNAVEST, MONA did retain, and continues o retain, at least
27. The monics that were the subject of the Transaction constitited an asset as defined in
98, At the time of the Transaction described above, ROEN and CANNAVEST, were |
29. Upon information and belief, MONA remains a manager of ROEN, despite his
30. MONA also testified that there is another $22 million judgment pending against him
31. Upon information and belief, MACKAY has represented (0 MONA, and others, i‘haté
32. MONA testified that it was MACKAY who paid him the $500,000 for his interest %n

ROEN.

33. On or about January 22, 2014 (the “Conversion Date™), ROEN through its manager, |
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| received stock valued at approximately $620 million on the Conversion Date, to settle’

H CANNAVEST’S $6 million debt.

| CANNAVEST, by virtue of his interest in ROEN, and his sole ownership of MAI DUN and.
1| MERCIA.

10]
| 36, inclusive, as though fully set forth herein,
12
13 :CAN}*QAVEST have a history of engaging in financial transactions with each other.
“

15 ECANNAVEST and ROEN knew or should have known that MONA was insolvent, or in danger

.gofﬁcer and/or co-director in CANNAVEST and ROEN was insolvent or in danger of becoming

1 insolvent.

1 CANNAVEST stock securing the note exceeded $100 million.
ERDEN, and which was allegedly then loaned to CANNAVEST.

| when viewed in light of the Conversion Value of the Note on the Sale Date.

34, On information and belief, on the Conversion Date, CANNAVEST stock was trading
between Sixty-Two Dollars ($62.00) per share and Seventy Dollars ($70.00) per share.

35, Upon information and belief, MACKAY, through ROEN, MAI DUN and MERCIA

36. Upon information and belief, MACKAY, owns well in excess of 50% of the stock in
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

37. FAR WEST repeats amd realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through

38. Upon information and belief, MONA, MACKAY, ROEN, MAI DUN, MERCIA, and

39. In their dealings with MONA, as an officer and as a manager and director,

of becoming insolvent.

40. Upon information and belief, MACKAY knew or should have known that MONA, an |

41. The Transactions described above was between and among insiders.

42, On the Sale Date, both MONA, and MACKAY, individually and as the sole owner of
MAI DUN and MBERCIA, knew or should have known that the Conversion Value of the

43, MONA did not receive equivalent value for the monies that he allegedly loaned to

44, The $500,000 that MONA reccived for his interest in ROEN shocks the conscience

45, The series of transactions described above were intended to prejudice FAR WEST by
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-concealing and wasting assets that would have otherwise been available to satisfy the judgment

that FAR WEST has against MONA.

46. The sale of MONA’S interest in ROEN and the notes as described above isa

| frandulent transfer within the meaning of NRS112.140 ef seq.

47. The loan conversion described above between MONA, ROEN, and CANNAVEST |

| nust be set aside, and the funds therefrom must be held in a constructive trust for the benefit of

FAR WEST.
48. It has been necessary for FAR WEST to hire an attorney to prosecute this action, and |
FAR WEST is therefore entitled to an award of attorney’s fees. f
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
49, FAR WEST repests and realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through
48, inclusive, as though fully set forth herein.

50. Upon information and belief, both MAT DUN and MERCIA are wholly owned

{influenced, and governed by MACKAY, who is the only person authorized to act on behalf of |

Feither of them in any capacity.

51. Upon information and belief, both MAI DUN and MERCIA are members of ROEN,
52. There exists a unity of interest between MACKAY and MAI DUN and MERCIA that

i
‘both entities are indistinguishable from MACKAY.

53. Upon information and belief, MACKAY has used MAI DUN and MERCIA 10

:iconceaj his interest in CANNAVEST, a company in which he controls over half of the stock |

 through MA1 DUN and MERCIA.

54, Upon information and belief, MACKAY'S tota] interest in CANNAVEST 1s
;'val.ued at over § 1 billion.
_ 55, Upou information and belief, a substantial portion of MACKAY’S interest in
CANNAVEST was obtained throogh the Transaction, described above.

36. Upon information and belief, and based on the series of transactions described above

; MONA uses his position as a manager of ROEN and an officer and director of CANNAVEST to!

disguise the fact that ke uses the assets of ROEN and CANNAVEST as his own,
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57. Upon information and belief, and based on the transaction described above

| MACKAY uses his positions as: (@) the sole owner of ROEN members and CANNAVEST
.shareholde:rs MAI DUN and MERCIA; (b) manager of ROEN; and (¢) director of

CANNAVEST to disguise the fact that he uses the assets of ROEN and CANNAVEST as hlb
oW, |

58. CANNAVEST and ROEN are influenced and governed by MACKAY to an undue

Fxtent, as evidenced by the structuring of the series of transactions described above, which
1| resulted in MCXAY, individually, and through his sole ownership of MAI DUN and MERCIA,

1 obtaining spproximately $620 miftion worth of CANNAVEST stock to satisfy a $6 million loan.

59. Upon information and belief, there is such a unity of interest and ownership of

|| CANNAVEST and ROEN that they are inseparable from the inierest and/or ownership of MONA

{in those entities.

60. Upon information and belief, there is such a unity of interest and ownership of

| CANNAVEST, ROEN, MAI DUN and are inseparable from the interest and/or ownership of

| MACKAY in those entities,

61. Adherence to the corporate fictions of CANNAVEST, ROEN, MAI DUN, and

H MEBRCIA being separate entities will sanction a massive fraud as described above, by shielding

assets from FAR WEST that would otherwise be subject to legitimate collection efforts.

62. FAR WEST is entitled to a finding that CANNAVEST, ROEN MAI DUN and

| MERCIA are the alter egos of MONA and/or MACKAY.

63. It has been necessary for FAR WEST to hire an attorney to prosecute this action, and

{| FAR WEST is therefore entitled to an award of attorney’s fees,

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
64. FAR WEST repeats and realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through

:;63 inclusive, as though fully set forth herein.

65. The transactions set forth above were the resuit of a conspiracy between MONA and

7| MACKAY to use entities that they control to conceal assets that are otherwise subject to lawful

| execution efforts,




1 66. The disparity in value between the Conversion Value of the CANNAVEST stock on

| the Sale Date, and the amount received by MONA shocks the conscience and is evidence of the

2 5

3 ; | false and fraudulent nature of that transaction, which was designed to prejudice third parties, like
4 HFAR WEST, from pursuing MONA.

5 67. FAR WEST is entitled to an award of punitive damages against the defendants, and

¢ tHeach of them for the malicious, oppressive and fraudulent conduct set forth above.
7 68. It bas been necessary for FAR WEST to hire an attorney to prosecute this action, and

g ||FAR WEST is therefore entitled to an award of attorney’s fees.

9 FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
4] ; 69. FAR WEST repeats and realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through

11 | 63 inclusive, as though fully set forth herein.

12 : 70. Upon information and belief, a confidential relationship existed between MONA and
13 MACKAY at the timme of the series of transactions set forth above.

14 | 71, That the disparity between the Sale Price and the Conversion Value set forth above
15 .;rcsulted in unjust enrichment to ROEN, and to MACKAY, through his sole ownership and |

16 I control of MAI DUN and MERCIA, at the expense of legitimate creditors such as FAR WEST.

17 72. Equity requires that a constructive trust in favor of FAR WEST must be established on
18 | the profits made by ROEN and MACKAY, through his scle ownership and control of MAI DUN
19 | and MERCIA, to the extent sufficient to satisfy the judgment that FAR WEST has against f
20 || MONA.,

21 73. It has been necessary for FAR WEST to hire an attorney to prosecute this action, and

22 {FFAR WEST is therefore entitled to an award of attorney’s fees.

23 WHEREFORE, FAR WEST INDUSTRIES prays for judgment as follows:

24 i 1. For compensatory damages in an amount exceeding $10,000;

25 1| 2. For disgorgement by defendants of the $6 million that was allegedly loaned to
26 1 defendants CANNAVEST AND ROEN;

37 3. For the establishment of a constructive trust in favor of Far West in an amsount
78 | sufficient to satisfy its judgment against MONA;
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. Por attorneys’ fees and costs according to proof;

. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem appropriate.

- Semveaavenraree

LEE, HERNANDEZ, LAKDRUM
& GAROFALO

}eﬁdmar No. 6033
JOHN R. HAWLEY, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No.1545

7575 Vegas Drive, Suite 150

Las Vegas, Nevada 89128

Attorneys for FAR WEST INDUSTRIES

10
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

- Far West Industries vs, Cannavest Corp., Roen Ventures, LLC, Michael J. Mona, Jr.and |

Bart Mackay

THEREBY CERTIFY that ou the _[g:lft‘lay of July, 2014, 1 hereby certify that I served a

;‘.iposiagc: prepaid to the following counsel:
 Terry A, Coffing, Esq.

'MARQUIS & AURBACH

i1 10001 Park Run Dr.

Las Vegas, Nevada 891435
(702) 942-2136
Fax: (702) 856-8966

 Email: icoffing@maclaw.com
‘Attorney for Judgment Debtor Michsel J.

‘Mona, Jr.and Michael J. Mona, Jr. as trustee

of the Mona Family Trust Dated February
21,2002

Williaun R. Urga, Esq.

JOLLEY URGA WOODBURY & LITTLE

| 3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1600
| Las Vegas, NV 82169

(702) 699-7500
Fax: (702) 699-7555
Email; wru@ivww.com

| Attorney for CannaVest Corp.

copy of the above and foregoing, Third Amended Complaint, via U.S, mail, in a sealed envelope,

Seott Omohundro, Esq.

PROCOPIO, CORY HARGREAVES &
SAVITCHLLP

525 B, Street, Suite 2200

San Diego, California 92101

(619) 238-1900

Fax: (619) 235-0398

Email: todd neal@procopio.com

Ematil: scott.omohundro@procopio.com
Email: Barbara,culp@procopio.com
Email: Carla.clark@procopio.com
Attorney for Theodore Sobieski

¥rika Pike Turner

GORDON SILVER

3960 Howard Hoghes Pkwy., 9™ Floor
Las Vegas, NV 89169

(702} 796-5555

Fax: (702) 369-2666

Mackay

w=g

X,

An employee of LEE, B

NDEZ, LANDRUM

& GAROFALO
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comP )
F, THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ. K. b orasrm

Nevada Bar No. 9549

E-mail: tedwards@nevadafirm.com
ANDREA M. GANDARA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12580

E-mail: agandara@nevadafirm.com
HOLLEY DRIGGS WALCH

FINE WRAY PUZEY & THOMPSON
400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Telephone:  702/791-0308
Facsimile:  702/791-1912

CLERK OF THE COURT

Attorneys for Plaintiff Far West Industries
DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, a California
corporation, Case No.. A-15-724490-C

Plaintiff, Dept. No.: XXXII

V.

MICHAEL J. MONA, JR., an individual; COMPLAINT
RHONDA HELENE MONA, an individual,

MICHAEL MONA 111, an individual,
LUNDENE ENTERPRISES, LLC, a Nevada ARBITRATION EXEMPTION CLAIMED:

limited liability corporation, DOES 1through 10 Declaratory Relief Requested
and ROE CORPORATIONS 1 through 10,
inclusive,

Defendants.

FAR WEST INDUSTRIES (the “Plaintiff” or “Far West”), a California corporation, by
and through its attorneys, F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ. and ANDREA M. GANDARA,
ESQ., of the law firm of HOLLEY DRIGGS WALCH FINE WRAY PUZEY & THOMPSON,

complain of Defendants as follows:
PARTIES

1.  Plaintiff Far West Industries is, and at all times relevant herein was, a California

corporation.

10594-01/1560796
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2. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereupon alleges that Defendant
MICHAEL J. MONA, JR. (“Mr. Mona™), is, and at all relevant times has been, an individual
residing in Clark County, Nevada, the husband of Defendant RHONDA HELENE MONA, and
the father of Defendant MICHAEL MONA III

3. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereupon alleges that Defendant RHONDA
HELENE MONA (“Mrs. Mona™), is, and at all relevant times has been, an individual residing
in Clark County, Nevada, the wife of Mr. Mona, and the mother‘of Defendant MICHAEL
MONA IIL

4,  Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereupon alleges that Defendant
MICHAEL MONA III (“Michael III”), is, and at all relevant times has been, an individual
residing in San Diego County, California, the son of Mr. Mona, the son of Mrs. Mona, and the
sole member and manager of Defendant LUNDENE ENTERPRISES, LLC.

5.  Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereupon alleges that Defendant

LUNDENE ENTERPRISES, LLC (“Lundene”), is, and at all relevant times has been, a Nevada

limited liability company with its principal place of business in Clark County, Nevada, and
owned and managed by its sole member Michaet III.

6. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate, or
otherwise of Defendants herein designated as Does I through 10 and Roe Corporations 1
through 10, inclusive, are not known to Plaintiff at this time and are therefore named as
fictitious defendants. Plaintiff will seek to amend this Complaint to allege the true names and
capacities of Does I through 10 and Roe Corporations 1 through 10 when and as ascertained.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS APPLICABLE TO ALL CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

7.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges the preceding allegations and by this reference

incorporates the same as though fully set forth herein.

FAR WEST’S JUDGMENT AGAINST MR. MONA AND THE MONA FAMILY TRUST

8. On February 23, 2012, the Superior Court of the State of California, County of

Riverside, Riverside Court (the “California Court™), entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions

10594-01/1560796
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of Law in the case of Far West Industries v. Rio Vista Nevada, LLC, et. al., Case No.
RIC495966 (the “California Action™).

9.  Among other things, the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law states that Mr.
Mona, among others, intentionally misrepresented material facts and concealed other material
facts from Plaintiff on behalf of Rio Vista Nevada, LL.C, with intent to defraud Plaintiff and that
Plaintiff justifiably relied on those misrepresentations and omissions, which caused Plaintiff
damages.

10.  The Findings of Fact and Conclusions also stated that Mr. Mona was the alter ego
of the Mona Family Trust, dated February 21, 2002 (the “Mona Family Trust”), such that he
and the Mona Family Trust are both liable for any and all damages awarded against Rio Vista
Nevada, LLC.

11.  On April 27, 2012, the California Court entered Judgment in the amount of
$17,777,562.18, plus costs of $25,562.56 and attorney fees of $327,548.84, in favor of Plaintiff
and against the following parties, jointly and severally: Mr. Mona, Mr. Mona as Trustee of the
Mona Family Trust, Rio Vista Nevada, LLC, and World Development, Inc. (the “Judgment”).

12. On October 18, 2012, Plaintiff domesticated the Judgment in Nevada by filing an

Application of Foreign Judgment with this Court, initiating the case entitled Far West Industries

v. Rio Vista Nevada, et. al., Case No. A-12-670352-F (the “Judgment Collection Action”).

MR. MONA FRAUDULENTLY TRANSFERS HIS INTERESTS IN ROEN VENTURES, LLC

13. On November 25, 2013, Mr. Mona sat for an initial judgment debtor examination
in the Judgment Collection Action during which he admitted that just days prior he sold his 50%
interest in an entity called Roen Ventures, LLC (“Roen™) and a $2.6 million promissory note
owed to him by Roen Ventures, LLC (the “Roen Note”) for $500,000.

14, Mr. Mona’s sale of his interest in Roen and the Roen Note is the subject of a
separate fraudulent transfer action entitled Far West Industries v, Cannavest Corp., et. al., Case

No. A-14-695786-F (the “Fraudulent Transfer Action”).

10594-01/1560796
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MR, MONA FRAUDULENTLY TRANSFERS MRS. MONA MORE THAN $500,000
15. Mr. Mona testified at a judgment debtor examination on June 30, 2015 that he

transferred the $500,000 he received from selling his interest in Roen and the Roen Note to Mrs.

Mona.

16.  Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona did not receive any consideration for the

$500,000 transfer to Mrs. Mona.

MR. MONA FRAUDULENTLY TRANSFERS MRS. MONA MORE THAN $3.4 MILLION

17.  On May 13, 2015, Plaintiff obtained orders in the Judgment Collection Action
scheduling judgment examinations of Mr. Mona and Mrs. Mona. The orders required Mr. Mona

and Mrs. Mona to produce documentation prior to the examinations.

18, One of the documents Mr. Mona and Mrs. Mona produced was a Post-Marital
Property Settlement Agreement (the “Agreement”), executed on or about September 13, 2013.

19. In the Agreement, Mr. Mona and Mrs. Mona explain that they have sold their
community property shares of Medical Marijuana, Inc., for $6,813,202.20.

20. The Agreement then purports to divide the proceeds equally between themselves
as their separate property, with each receiving $3,406,601.10.

21.  Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona did not receive any consideration for the
$3,406,601.10 transfer to Mrs. Mona.

22.  Mr. Mona failed to produce the Agreement pursuant to prior orders scheduling his
judgment debtor examination and requiring production of documents.

23, | Mr. Mona also failed to disclose the Agreement during his testimony at the prior

judgment debtor examination on November 25, 2013,

24, Mrs. Mona testified at a judgment debtor examination on June 26, 2015 that she
gave Michael III $900,000 from money she received under the Agreement.
25.  Upon information and belief, Mrs. Mona transferred the $900,000 to Michael III

without any consideration.

10594-01/1560796
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26.  Upon information and belief, on or about March 7, 2014, Michael III purchased
certain real property located at 877 Island Avenue #701, San Diego, California 92101,
APN:535-114-04-11 (the “San Diego Property”) with the $900,000 from Mrs. Mona.

27. Upon information and belief, on or about November 5, 2014, Michael III
transferred the San Diego Property to his company, Lundene, without any consideration.

MR. MONA FRAUDULENTLY TRANSFERS MRS. MONA $90,000 TO PURCHASE A JAGUAR

28.  Upon information and belief, on or about February 14, 2014, Mr. Mona and Mrs.
Mona, acting as co-trustees of the Mona Family Trust, sold stocks held in an investment
account with Employers Holdings, Inc. for approximately $100,000.

29. Mr. Mona testified at a judgment debtor examination on June 30, 2015 that he and
Mrs. Mona received $90,000 from the sale of stocks held in the Employers Holdings, Inc.
investment account and that he gave the money to Mrs. Mona to buy a car. |

30. Upon information, Mr. Mona did not receive any consideration for the transfer of
the $90,000 to Mrs. Mona.

31. Upon information and belief, Mrs. Mona used the $90,000 to purchase herself a
white two-door convertible Jaguar (the “Jaguar™) in 2014.

MR. MONA FRAUDULENTLY TRANSFERS MICHAEL III A RANGE ROVER

32. Mr. Mona testified at a judgment debtor examination on June 30, 2015 that he
purchased a Range Rover vehicle (the “Range Rover”) either two or three years prior and that
he gave the Range Rover to his son (Michael III) a year prior.

33.  Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona, either individually or through his
company, Mona Co. Development, LLC, purchased the Range Rover in 2012 or 2013.

34,  Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona, either individually or through his
company, Mona Co. Development, LLC, transferred the Range Rover to Michael Il in 2014,

35.  Upon information, Mr. Mona did not receive any consideration for the transfer of

the Range Rover to Michael III,

10594-01/1560796
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

(Fraudulent Transfer of $500,000 — Mr. Mona and Mrs. Mona)
36. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the preceding allegations and by this reference
incorporates the same as though fully set forth herein.
37. Mr. Mona transferred $500,000 to Mrs. Mona.
38.  Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona made the transfer with the actual intent to
hinder, delay or defraud Far West.
39. Mrs, Mona is an insider to Mr. Mona.
40. Upon information, Mr. Mona retained possession or control of the property
transferred after the transfer. |
41.  Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona concealed the transfer.
42, Before the transfer was made, Mr. Mona had been sued or threatened with suit.
43. Upon information and belief, the transfer was of substantially all Mr. Mona’s
assets.
44. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona removed or concealed assets.
45.  Upon information and belief, the value of the consideration received by Mr. Mona
was not reasonably equivalent to the value of the assets transferred.
.46. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona was insolvent or became insolvent
shortly after the transfer was made.
| 47.  The transfer occurred shortly after a substantial debt was incurred.
48. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona made the transfer without receiving a
reasonably equivalent value in exchange for the transfer or obligation.
49. Upon information and belief, at the time of the transfer, Mr. Mona intended to
incur, or believed or reasonably should have believed that he would incur, debts beyond his
. ability to pay as they became due.
50, Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona made the transfer without receiving
reasonably equivalent value in exchange for the transfer and Mr. Mona was insolvent at the time

of the transfer or became insolvent as a result of the transfer.

6
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51. As a direct and proximate result of the conduct by Mr. Mona and Mrs. Mona,
Plaintiff has been damaged in a substantial sum, in excess of $10,000.

52.  Plaintiff has, by reason of the foregoing, been required to obtain the services of an
attorney and is entitled to recover its reasonable attorney fees and costs from Mr. Mona and

Mrs, Mona.
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

(Fraudulent Transfer of $3,406,610.10 — All Defendants)

53. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the preceding allegations and by this reference
incorporates the same as though fully set forth herein.

54. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona transferred $3,406,601.10 to Mrs. Mona.

55.  Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona made the transfer with the actual intent to
hinder, delay or defraud Far West.

56. Mrs. Mona is an insider to Mr. Mona.

57. Upon information Mr. Mona retained possession or control of the property
transferred after the transfer.

58.  Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona concealed the transfer.

59. Before the transfer was made, Mr. Mona had been sued or threatened with suit.

60. Upon information and belief, the transfer was of substantially all Mr. Mona’s
assets.

61. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona removed or concealed assets.

62. Upon information and belief, the value of the consideration received by Mr. Mona
was not reasonably equivalent to the value of the assets transferred.

63. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona was insolvent or became insolvent
shortly after the transfer was made.

64. The transfer occurred shortly after a substantial debt was incurred.

65. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona made the transfer without receiving a

reasonably equivalent value in exchange for the transfer or obligation.
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66. Upon information and belief, at the time of the transfer, Mr. Mona was engaged
or was about to engage in a business or a transaction for which his remaining assets were
unreasonably small in relation to the business or transaction.

67. Upon information and belief, at the time of the transfer, Mr. Mona intended to
incur, or believed or reasonably should have believed that he would incur, debts beyond his
ability to pay as they became due.

68. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona made the transfer without receiving
reasonably equivalent value in exchange for the transfer and Mr, Mona was insolvent at the time
of the transfer or became insolvent as a result of the transfer.

69. Upon information and belief, Mrs. Mona transferred $900,000 of the
$3,406,601.10 from Mr. Mona transferred to Michael III without consideration.

70.  Michael III is an insider of Mr. Mona.

71.  Upon information énd belief, Michael IIT purchased the San Diego Property with
the $900,000 Mrs. Mona transferred to him.

72. Upon information and belief, Michael III did not take the $900,000 in good faith
for value.

73.  Upon information and belief, Michael III transferred the San Diego Property to
Lundene.

74.  Upon information and belief, Lundene did not take the San Diego Property in
good faith for value.

75. As a direct and proximate result of the conduct by Defendants, Plaintiff has been
damaged in a substantial sum, in excess of $10,000.

76.  Plaintiff has, by reason of the foregoing, been required to obtain the services of an
attorney and is entitled to recover its reasonable attorney fees and costs from Defendants.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Fraudulent Transfer of $90,000 — Mr. Mona and Mrs. Mona)
77.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges the preceding allegations and by this reference

incorporates the same as though fully set forth herein.

8
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78. Mr. Mona transferred $90,000 to Mrs. Mona.

79.  Mrs. Mona used the $90,000 to purchase Mrs. Mona the Jaguar in 2014,

80. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona and/or the Mona Family Trust made the
transfer with the actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud Far West.

81.  Mrs. Mona is an insider to Mr. Mona and the Mona Family Trust,

82. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona concealed the transfer.

83. Before the transfer was made, Mr. Mona had been sued or threatened with suit.

84. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona removed or concealed assets.

85.  Upon information and belief, the value of the consideration received by Mr, Mona
was not reasonably equivalent to the value of the assets transferred.

86. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona was insolvent or became insolvent
shortly after the transfer was made.

87. The transfer occurred shortly after a substantial debt was incurred.

88. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona made the transfer without receiving a
reasonably equivalent value in exchange for the transfer or obligation.

89. Upon information and belief, at the time of the transfer, Mr. Mona intended to
incur, or believed or reasonably should have believed that he would incur, debts beyond his
ability to pay as they became due.

90. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona made the transfer without receiving
reasonably equivalent value in exchange for the transfer and Mr. Mona was insolvent at the time
of the transfer or became insolvent as a result of the transfer.

91. As a direct and proximate result of the conduct by Mr. Mona and Mrs. Mona,
Plaintiff has been damaged in a substantial sum, in excess of $10,000.

92. Plaintiff has, by reason of the foregoing, been required to obtain the services of an
attorney and is entitled to recover its reasonable attorney fees and costs from Mr., Mona and

Mrs. Mona.

10594-01/1560796
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Fraudulent Transfer of Range Rover — Mr. Mona and Michael III)

93. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the preceding allegations and by this réference
incorporates the same as though fully set forth herein.

94, Mr. Mona, either individually or through his company, Mona Co. Development,
LLC, transferred a Range Rover to Michael III.

95.  Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona made the transfer with the actual intent to
hinder, delay or defraud Far West.

96. Michael III is an insider to Mr. Mona.

97. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona concealed the transfer.

98. Before the transfer was made, Mr. Mona had been sued or threatened with suit.

99.  Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona removed or concealed assets.

100. Upon information and belief, the value of the consideration received by Mr. Mona
was not reasonably equivalent to the value of the assets transferred.

101. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona was insolvent or became insolvent
shortly after the transfer was made.

102. The transfer occurred shortly after a substantial debt was incurred.

103. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona made the transfer without receiving a
reasonably equivalent value in exchange for the transfer or obligation.

104. Upon information and belief, at the time of the transfer, Mr. Mona intended to
incur, or believed or reasonably should have believed that he would incur, debts beyond his
ability to pay as they became due.

105. Upon information and belief, Mr. Mona made the transfer without receiving
reasonably equivalent value in exchange for the transfer and Mr. Mona was insolvent at the time
of the transfer or became insolvent as a result of the transfer. |

106. As a direct and proximate result of the conduct by Mr. Mona and Michael III,

Plaintiff has been damaged in a substantial sum, in excess of $10,000.

10
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107. Plaintiff has, by reason of the foregoing, been required to obtain the services of an
attorney and is entitled to recover its reasonable attorney fees and costs from Mr. Mona and
Michael III.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Civil Conspiracy — All Defendants)

108. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the preceding allegations and by this reference
incorporates the same as though fully set forth herein.

109. Upon information and belief, the Defendants conspired and agreed with each
other to commit the aforementioned transactions to hide, transfer, and/or accept the transferred

properties with the intent of hindering, delaying, and/or defrauding the Plaintiff in its collection

_of the Judgment.

110. = As a direct and proximate result of the conduct by Defendants, Plaintiff has been
damaged in a substantial sum, in excess of $10,000.

111. Plaintiff has, by reason of the foregoing, been required to obtain the services of an
attorney and is entitled to recover its reasonable attorney fees and costs from Defendants.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Declaratory Relief — All Defendants)

112. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the preceding allegations and by this reference
incorporates the same as though fully set forth herein.

113. An actual, justiciable controversy exists between Plaintiff and Defendants
regarding the nature of the aforementioned transactions and assets, including whether Plaintiff
may execute upon and apply those assets towards the satisfaction of the Judgment.

114. Plaintiff contends that the aforementioned transactions are fraudulent transfers
and that Plaintiff may execute upon and apply those assets, based upon the fraudulent transfers
and/or the community property nature of the assets, towards the satisfaction of the Judgment.

115. Notwithstanding the above, upon information and belief, Defendants contend that
aforementioned transactions are not fraudulent transfers and that Plaintiff may not execute upon

and apply those assets towards the satisfaction of the Judgment.

1
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116. Plaintiff is entitled to a declaratory judgment and determination that the
aforementioned transactions are fraudulent transfers and that Plaintiff may execute upon and
apply those assets, based upon the fraudulent transfers and/or the community property nature of
the assets, towards the satisfaction of the Judgment.

117. A judicial determination is necessary and appropriate at this time and under the
circumstances so that Plaintiff may ascertain its rights in connection the aforementioned
transactions and fraudulent transfers.

Plaintiff has, by reason of the foregoing, been required to obtain the services of an attorney and
is entitled to recover its reasonable attorney fees and costs from Defendants.
DEMAND
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendants as follows:

L. For all damages allowed by law as to each of Plaintiff’s Causes of Action;

2. For prejudgment and postjudgment interest, at the highest rate permitted by
applicable law;

3. For a declaration by the Court that that the aforementioned transactions are
fraudulent transfers and that Plaintiff may execute upon and apply those assets, based upon the

fraudulent transfers and/or the community property nature of the assets, towards the satisfaction

of the Judgment;
4, For an order avoiding the fraudulent transfers;
5. For an order of attachment and/or garnishment against the fraudulently transferred

assets property and other property of the transferees;
6. For an injunction against further disposition by the Defendants of the fraudulently

transferred assets and of other property;

7. For all costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred by

Plaintiff in connection with the commencement and prosecution of this action; and

12
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8. For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

iw
Dated this i day of September, 2015.

10594-01/1560796

HOLLEY DRIGGS WALCH
FINE WRAY PUZEY & THOMPSON

=

F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 9549

E-mail: tedwards@nevadafirm.com
ANDREA M. GANDARA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12580

E-mail: agandara@nevadafirm.com
400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Telephone:702/791-0308

Facsimile: 702/791-1912

Attorneys for Plaintiff Far West Industries
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Electronically Filed
09/04/2015 03:39:14 PM
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LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS
DANIEL MARKS, ESQ. CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada State Bar No. 002003
CHRISTOPHER L. MARCHAND, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 11197
610 South 9" Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 386-0536; Fax (702) 386-6812
Attorney for Defendant

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

RHONDA HELENE MONA, Case No. 15-517425-D
Dept, No, B
Plamitiff,
Date of Hearing: 10/ 8/ 15
V8, Time of Hearing: 9: g0am
MICHAEL JOSEPH MONA,
Defendant,

Vs,

FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, A
CALIFORNIA CORPORATION

Intervenor,

FAR WEST’S MOTION TO INTERVENE, FOR A FINDING AND ORDER THAT THE
POST-MARITAL AGREEMENT IS VOID BASED ON THE PRINCIPLES OF RES
JUDICATA AND ISSUE PRECLUSION, AND THAT THE PLAINTIFF AND DEFENDANT
ARE JOINTLY LIABLE FOR THE JUDGMENT HEL.D BY INTERVENOR

COMES NOW the proposed Intervenor Far West Industries, by and through its counsel, Daniel
Marks, Esq., and hereby submits its Motion to Intervene, For a Finding and Order that the Post-Marital
Property Settlement Agreement is void based on the principles of Res Judicata and Issue Preclusion, and
i
1
i
i
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that the Plaintiff and Defendant are jointly liable for the judgment held by Intervenor. The grounds for
Intervenor’s Motion are set forth in the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities.

DATED this ﬁj day of September, 2015.
LAW/OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS

ﬂ\m_v__ﬁ e

DANIEL MARKS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 002003
CHRISTOPHER L. MARCHAND, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 11197

610 South 9™ Street

Las Vegas, Nevada §9101

Attorney for Defendant

NOTICE OF MOTION

TO: RHONDA HELENE MONA, Plaintiff; and
TO: EDWARD L. KAINEN, ESQ., Counsel for Plaintiff, and .
TO: MICHAEL JOSEPH MONA, Defendant,
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned counsel will bring the above and foregoing Motion,

on for hearing before this Court on the 8th day of Oct ober 2015, at the how of
9 o’clock a.m,
DATED this day of September, 2015.
LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS

DANIEL MARKS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 002003
CHRISTOPHER L. MARCHAND, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 11197

610 South 9% Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Attorney for Defendant

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

L FACTUAL BACKGROUND

While this action is newly filed before this Count, the true start of legal proceedings in this maiter

began in March of 2008 when Proposed Intervenor Far West Industries (hereinafter “Far West”) filed an

2
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action in the state of California against Rio Vista Nevada, LLC, World Development Inc., and Michael
Mona, Jr in case number RIC495966. That matter went to trial on September 23, 2011, The Court found
that Defendant Michael Mona (hereinafter “Michael™) mislead Far West into purchasing lots in an at the
time yet developed master planned community, Specifically the Court found that Michael intentionally
defrauded Far West, made a negligent misrepresentation to Far West, breached the Common Law Duty
to Disclose, and committed Conspiracy to Commit Fraud. On March 5, 2012, the Coutt entered judgment
against the defendants in that case, including Michael in his individual capacity and as Trustee of the Mona
Family Trust. The judgment through the date of March 5, 2012 was for $17,841,651.92, See Exhibit <1”
attached hereto.

Far West domesticated the judgment in the State of Nevada, Accordingly, Far West conducted
Judgment Debtor examinations against both Michael as well as Rhonda, Due to numerous
misrepresentations during those judgment debtor examinations Far West was eventually required to file
an Order to Show Cause as to why both of the Monas should not be held in contempt in the Eighth Judicial
District Court case number A-12-670352-F, Judge Hardy in that case found that on April 27, 2012 Far

West properly obtained a Judgment against Michael and the Mona Family Trust and that the parties

executed a Post-Marital Property Settlement Agreement on or about September 13, 2013 which Michael
failed to produce during his judgment debtor examination. See Exhibit “2” attached hereto. The Courtalso
found that Michael “lied” and failed to disclose the transfer of nearly $3.5 million to Rhonda during the
judgment debtor examination. /d. The Court went on to find that the money purportedly fransferred from
Michael to Rhonda was community property as it was acquired during their marriage and that the judgment
against Michael was a community debt. Jd. The Cowrt concluded that the Post-Marital Property Settlement
Agreement was a fraudulent transfer intended to hinder, delay and defraud Far West in its efforts to execute
upon the judgment and the $6,813,202.20 that remains of community property. I4 It appears that the
Monas are now attempting to take another bite at the apple by ﬁling the present action in yet another
attempt to hinder Far West.

1
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II. LEGAL ARGUMENT
A, FAR WEST SHOULD BE PERMITTED TO INTERVENE UNDER NEVADA
RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 24(a) and (b)

NRS 12.130 allows, before the trial commences, “any person . . . who has an interest in the matter
in litigation, in the success of either of the parties, or an interest against both” to intervene in an action
under the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedute. See, e.g., Danberg Holdings Nevada, LLC, v. Douglas
County and Its Board of County Commissioners, 115 Nev. 129,978 P.2d 311 (1999). For the Reasons

set forth in the Statement of Facts, Far West has an interest in the matter and in the success of either of the
Parties or has an interest against both, Specifically, without the Intervention of Far West it is suspected
that the Monas were yet again going to take steps to hinder Far West’s collection efforts by getting this
Court to divide community property assets according to the already determined to be fraudulent Post-
Marital Property Settlement Agreement.

The Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure permit Far West to intervene in this action either as an
intervention of right or as permissive infervention. According to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 24:

(a) Intervention of Right. Upon timely application anyone shall be
permitted to intervene in an action: (1) when a statute confers an
unconditional right to intervene; or (2) when the applicant claims an
interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of
the action and the applicant is so situated that the disposition of the
action may as a practical matter impair or impede the applicant’s
ability to protect that interest, unless the applicant’s interest is
adequately represented by existing patties,

(b)  Permissive Intervention, Upon timely application anyone may be
permitted to intervene in an action: (1) when a statute confers a
conditional right to intervene; or (2) when an applicant’s claim or
defense and the main action have a question of law or fact in
common, In exercising its discretion the court shall consider whether
the intervention will unduly delay or prejudice the adjudication of the
rights of the original parties.

(¢)  Procedure. A person desiring to intervene shall serve a motion to
intervene upon the parties as provided in Rule 5. The motion shall
state the grounds therefor and shall be accompanied by a pleading
setting forth the claim or defense for which intervention is sought.
The same procedure shall be followed when a statute gives a right to
intervene.
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1. FAR WEST SHOULD BE PERMITTED TO INTERVENE AS A MATTER OF
RIGHT UNDER NRCP 24(a)

Under NRCP 24(a)(2) an applicant must meet four requirements: (1) that it has a sufficient interest
in the litigation’s subject matter, (2) that it could suffer an impairment of its ability to protect that interest
if it does not intervene, (3) that its interest is not adequately represented by existing parties, and (4) that

its application is timely. American Home Assurance Co. v. Dist. Ct., 122 Nev. 1229, 147 P.3d 1120,

1126 (2006).

Far West holds a judgment against the Monas of which they have repeatedly taken steps to hinder
the collection. The Monas are aftempting to have this Court divide community property which another
Court has already determined is community property subject to collection by Far West the community
property debt judgment holder, Far West therefore has an interest in this litigation;

Far West is so situated that the disposition of that community property in which it has an intérest
will impair or impede its ability to protect that interest, The Parties already atiempted to enforce a Post-
Marital Property Settlement Agreement to give Rhonda millions of dollars in order to protect it from Far
West’s judgment.

Far West’s interest is not adequately protected by the existing parties are they are working in
collusion to try to impede Far West,

Far West’s application is timely as it is believed that Michael has not even answered at this time,

2. FAR WEST SHOULD BE PERMITTED TO INTERVENE AS A PARTY
UNDER THE PRINCIPLES OF PERMISSIVE INTERVENTION

Far West additionally requests that it be permitted to intervene under NRCP 24(b)(1). Under

NRCP 24(b)(1} Far West has an interest in the Property at issue and its claim and the main action have

a question of law and fact in common-the validity of the Post-Marital Settlement Agreement and the
disposition of the parties’ assets. Far West’s intervention will not unduly delay or prejudice the
adjudication of the rights of Rhonda or Mic;hael.

fit
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B. THE POST-MARITAL PROPERTY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT SHOULD BE
‘ HELD TO BE VOID

As has already been discussed supra, the Monas® purported transfer of millions of dollars of
community property to the separate property of Rhonda through the Post-Marital Property Settlement
Agreement was a fraudulent fransfer intended to hinder the ability of Far West to collect its judgment. The
monies transferred were community property money earned during the mairiage NRS 123.220 and are
subject to collection of a community property debt incurred during the marriage, Randono v, Turk, 86
Nev. 123, 466 P, 218 (1970). The Parties are now attempting a sham divorce in order o hinder Far West,
which should not be allowed by this Court.

C.  RES JUDICATA REQUIRES THAT THIS COURT FIND THE POST-MARITAL

PROPERTY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT TO BE FRAUDULENT

The matter of whether the Post-Marital Property Settlement Agreement was fraudulent has already
been ruled on in case A-12-670352-F wherein the Court determined that the Mona’s purported transfer is
a fraudulent transfer, and the facts proving the fraudulent transfer are deemed established. See Exhibit “2”,
The Court further held that the parties are prohibited from claiming any money purportedly transferred
pursuant to the Post-Nuptial Agreement and any money held in bank accounts by Rhonda are exempt from
execution. 7d.

Nevada recognizes the doctrines of Res Judicata and issue preclusion. As the Nevada Supreme‘
Court has noted, “[glenerally, the doctrine of res judicata precludes parties or those in privity with them
from relitigating a cause of action or an issue which has been finally determined by a court of competent
jurisdiction,” University of Nevada v. Tarkanian, 110 Nev, 581,598,879 P.2d 1180, 1191 (1994) (citing
Hervath v, Gladstone, 97 Nev, 594, 597, 637 P.2d 531, 533 (1981); Gilbert v. Warren, 95 Nev, 296,

594 P.2d 696 (1979)). The Court went on to note that “[fJor res judicata to apply, three pertinent elements
must be present: (1) the issue decided in the prior litigation must be identical to the issue presented in the
current action; (2) the initial ruling must have been on the merits and have become final; and (3) the party
against whom the judgment is asserted must have been a party or in privity with a party to the prior

litigation.” Id, (citing Horvath, 97 Nev. at 597, 637 P.2d at 531). However, Nevada law now recognizes

Res Judicata and issue preclusion as two distinct doctrines and these three factors apply only to Res

6
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Judicata. Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby, 124 Nev. 1048, 1051, 194 P.3d 709, 710 (2008) (citing
Executive Mgmt. v. Ticor Title Ins. Co., 114 Nev. 823, 836, 963 P.2d 465, 473-74 (1998)). The factors

to look to in determining whether the doctrine of Res Judicata applies are “(1) there has been a valid, final
judgment in a previous action; (2) the subsequent action is based on the same claims or any part of them
that were or could have been brought in the first action; and (3) the patties or their privies are the same in
the instant lawsuit as they were in the previous lawsuit, or the defendant can demonstrate that he or she
should have been included as a defendant in the eatlier suit and the plaintiff fails to provide a “good
teason” for not having done so.” Weddell v. Sharp, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 28 (2015). The factors to look
to in determining whether the doctrine of issve preclusion applies are: “(1) the issue decided in the prior
litigation must be identical to the issue presented in the current action; (2) the initial ruling must have been
on the merits and have become final; ... (3) the party against whom the judgment is asserted must have
been a party or in privity with a party to the prior litigation™; and (4) the issue was actually and necessarily

litigated.” Five Star, 124 Nev. at 1055, 194 P.3d at 713.

The Doctrine of Res Judicata requires that this Court follow Judge Hardy’s determination that the
Post-Marital Property Settlement Agreement was fraudulent and void, that the Judgment obtained by Far
West is a community property debt, and that Rhonda is prohibited from claiming that the funds purportedly
transferred to her in the Agreement are her separate property. The first element set forth in Tarkanian is
met because there has been a valid final judgment in the District Coust action. See Exhibit “2”. The
Second element is likewise mef because Rhonda and Michael are attempting to relitigate issues which the
District Court has already ruled on. All ofthese three issues are identical to issues which would otherwise
be presenied in the present litigation, There are several telling paragraphs in Rhonda’s complaint which
evidences that these exact issues which have already been decided are now being brought before this court:

“That the parties entered into a Post-Marital Property Settlement Agreement
on or about the 13" day of September, 2013, which is valid and enforceable
and should be adopted by the Court and incorporated into the final Decree of

Divorce in this matter.” See 4 of Complaint.

“That there are community property and debts of the parties herein to be
adjudicated by the Court.” See § 6 of Complaint.

“That there is separate property of the Plaintiff, which should be confirmed
as her sole and separate property.” See § 7 of Complaint.
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“That there are separate property debts of the Defendant, which should be
confirmed as his sole and separate obligations.” See 9 of Complaint.

It should be noted that there is no mirror of § 9 of the complaint which would confirm the sepavate property
debts of Rhonda to her, The second element set forth in Tarldmhug is likewise met as the District Court
has heard the testimony of the parties on the merits and entered a final judgment, See Exhibit “2”. The

third and final element as modified in Weddle is also met as Michael was a patty to the District Court

litigation and Rhonda was at the time a trustee of the Mona Family Trust, and, subsequent to the action,
took part in the fraudulent Post-Martial Property Settlement Agreement,

The elements of the doctrine of issue preclusion are likewise met. The fitst factor to look to under
the Five Star analysis is whether the issue presented in this action is identical to an issue presented in a
prior action. As discussed supra, Rhonda is bringing identical issues before this Court which judge Haedy
has already ruled on. The second element is also met as Judge Hardy made a decision on the merits which
is final. See Exhibit “2”, The third element is met because Michael was a party to the District Courtt
litigation and Rhonda was at the time a ttustee of the Mona Family Trust, and, subsequent to the action,
took part in the fraudulent Post-Mattial Property Settlement Agreement. The final element is met because
the issue was actually and fully litigated before the District Court which entered its final judgment. /d.

The matter regarding the fraudulent nature of the Post-Marital Property Setilement Agreement as
well as Rhonda’s ability to claim any of the funds allegedly transferred under the Agreement as her
separate property has alteady reached a valid and final judgment, Res Judicata and issue preclusion
therefore bar subsequent litigation of the matter in the present case.

DATED this day of September, 2015,

LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS

//.

DANIEE"MARKS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 002003
CHRISTOPHER L. MARCHAND, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No, 11197

610 South 9% Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Attorneys for Defendant
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DISTRICT COURT
FAMILY DIVISION
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
Rhonda Helene Mona )
Plaintiff/RXH XK ) :
)  CASENO. D-15-517425-D
~V§~ )
) DEPT. B
Michael Joseph Mona )
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE

FAR WEST INSTUSTRIES, A CALIFORNIA Case No, RIC495966

CORPORATION, PLANTIFF V RIO VISTA NEVEDA, ) '
' JUDGE: Hon. Jacqueline Jackson

DEPT: J1

LLC., ANEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY; WORLD

DEYELOPMENT, INC,, A CAILFORNIA COR.PORATION:)

} FINDINGS OF FACT AND
BRUCE MAIZE, AN INDIVIDUAL; MICHAEL 1. MONA, ) CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

JR,, AN INDIVIDUAL, AND DOES 1 THROUGH 100, Action Filed: March 24, 2008

Trial Date: September 23, 2011
INCLUSIVE, DEFENDANTS

On September 23, 2011, the above-referenced action came on for trial before thé
Honorable Jacqueline C. Jackson, Judge presiding. Plaintiff Far West Industries, a Califomia
corporation {“Far West”) was represented by Robert L. Gréen & Hall, APC. Defaulis were taken
against Defendants Rio Vista Nevada, Ll:C, a Nevada limited liability company (“RVN") and
World Development, Inc., a California corporation (“World Development™) ;m October 7, 2010,
Defendant Michael J. Mona, Ir. (*Mona™), both individually and as a Trustee of the Mona
Family Trust dated February 21, 2002, was represented by Howard Golds and Jerry R. Dagrella
of Best, Best and Kﬁcgcr, LLP. After considering the trial testimony and evidence, the Court

issued its Statement of Tentative Decision on November 30, 2011, Pursuant to Rule 3,1590(c)(3)

b

' .aoﬂl
;- LT AR LA




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

172

18

19

20

21

22

- 23

24

25

" 10,

11,
12.

- 13

of the California Rules of Court, Far West was directed to prepare these Findings of Fact and

Cpnclusions of Law. The court .has edited them and this is the final vetsion.

1. Summary of Facts and Evidence

A, Mona Acguirgg'tﬁe-Pi‘B]'gcj

Michael Shustek (“Shustek) was for all times relevant herein the President of Vestin
Mortgage, Inc. (“Vestin®).

Vestin is a mortgage broker who lends money from Vestin-controlled Real Estate - .
Investments Trusts (“REITs").

. Vestin had loaned money to Lynn Burnett {“Burnett™), who in 2003 was developing a

project which consisted of 1,362 lots in Cathedral City, California (the “Project”).

549 of those lots were being financed by Vestin (the balance by another lender), and
Burnett had defaulted on his loan.

Shustek asked Mona to purchase from Burnett that portion of the Project financed by
Vestin, acd in doing so, agreed to loan Mona $35 million of the REIT's money.

Shustek asked Mona to get involved even though Mona had no experience building a
master planned residential community. ' .

Of the Vestin $35 million loan, $19,268,568.32 was paid to purchase the Project; this
was the amount needed to fully pay off Bumett’s loan to Vestin,

$9 million was to pay for the construction (the “Construction Laan”) and §3.6 million
was reserved 1o pay interest on the loan (the “Interest Reserve”).

Mona formed RVN, a Nevada, single-purpose LLC to take title to the Project,

The Mona Family Trust dated February 21, 2002 (“Mona Family Trust”) owned
100% of RVN.

Mona contributed no capital to RVN upon its formation, He formed that entity and-
took title in its name “to avoid lability”. He had no intention of making any personal
investment in the Project because it was “too risky”.

Mona provided Vestin with a 12-month guaranty of the RVN loan (the “Guaranty”)
by another single-purpose, Nevada entity that was owned solely by Mona and also
had no capital or assets, Emerald Suites Bonanza, LLC (“Emerald Suites™).

For its part, Vestin (and not the REITs) was paid an initial fee of $1.4 million from
the RVN loan proceeds. )

2
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B. _Mona Distributes Construction Loan Prnceeds for Purposes Othgr tha
Construction

- 14, Mona began issuing checks from the Construction Loan.

15, More particularly, on February 9, 2004, the first draw was made on the Construction
Loan for $2,448,481.82.

16. When that money was deposited info the RVN checking account three days later,
there was only $2,118,776.38 lefi,

17, Mona “couldn’t remember” what hap;ﬁened 1o the remaining $329,703.55.

© 18, Mona and his wife are the sole Trustees and Beneficiaries of the Mona Family Trust

(a revocable trust). The Mona Family Trust was 100% owner of RVN at that time
and Mona was the only signatory on the RVN account.

19. There was $900,00 paid to RVN on February 5, 2004.

20. This check was deposited into the RVN account, but does not show up on the RVN
Account Register. .

21, Mona also patd $702,000 from the Construction Loan to certain individuals and
entities at the express direction of Shustek, even though those individuals and entities
had never been affiliated with the Project, preformed no work on the PI‘OJBGt, and
Mona did not even know who they were.

22. Mona then paid $1,283,700 to the Mona Family Trust, himself, and MonaCo
Development Company (his Nevada construction company) from the Construction
Loan at the direction of Shustek who had told Mona that Mona could take a §1

" million fee for himself up front.

23. There was no provision in the RVN Operating Agreement for any of these payments.

24. The Court finds that Mona took the money for himself, the Moria Family Trust, and
MonaCo Development from RVN shortly after he acquired the Project.

25. At the time that Mona took that money, and also immediately paid the $1.4 million
fee to Vestin and the $702,000 to the Shustek-related individuals, RVN was insolvent,

C. RVVA is Also Created at the Same Time

26, Mona had only purchased 549 of the Project’s 1,362 total lots.
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27. Because it was all being developed at the same time, and Burnett was retaining the
balance of the Project, he and Mona created Rio Vista Village Associates, LLC
(“RVVA™) to perform all of master plan community work which benefitted both parcels
jointly (infrastructure improvements such as streets, utilities, a clubhouse, a park,
landscaped detention basins, a water reservoir, a school, efe.).

28. Mona was the sole Manager of the RVN and one of the two Managers of the RVVA,

29, Mona retained his title and function as a Manager of RVN throughout the life of that

entity, and for all times relevant, he was in charge of all finances for the RVN and the
Project.

D. Mona Solicits World Development’s Partielpation
30. Mona solicited World Development‘s involvement in the Project,
31. The Mona Family Trust sold 45% of RVN to World Development for $45.
32, At that time, the Mona Family Trust also contributed $55 in capital to RVN.

33, This $100 from World Development and the Mona Family Trust was the only capital
ever contributed to RVN at any time,

34, For all times relevant hereafter, World Development's CEO and the dcsignated
Manager of RVN was Bruce Maize (“Maize™).

35. Mona remained Co-Manager of RVN with Maize,

E. The Project .

36. Bumnett defaulted on his other loan for the balance of the Project and filed
bankruptcy.

37. His interest in RVVA was thereafter acquired by WHP Rio Vista, LLC, which was
owned by Capstone Housing Partners, LLC (“Capstone”).

38. By October of 2005, RVN had exhausted Interest Reserve.

39, Maize and Mona knew that the Project still required $15 million in construction costs,
with 40% ($6,000,000) owned by RVN under the RVVA Operating Agreement.

40. That $6,000,000 sum did not include interest payments on the $35 million loan
(which were as high as $411,230.96 per month and which wete no longer able to be paid
from the Interest Reserve since it had already beer exbausted),
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" 41, In an Amended Opérating Agreement for RVVA, RVN allowed Capstone to become

a member of RVVA under certain conditions.

42, One such condition required Capstone to contribute just under $1, 5000,000 to
reimburse RVN for construction costs.

43. World Development learned about Mona’s above-referenced million-dollar-plus
payments from the Construction Loan to himself, his Family Trust and MonaCo
Development and demanded that it also receive a distribution of “profits” to World
Development in the amount of $856,598.60, even thongh RVN had a negative net worth
of $3.8 million at the time and no revenue from inception.

H. January of 2006

44, In January of 2006, the Construction Loan was coming due with no funds to pay it
off.

45. Mona and Vestin agreed to extend the Construction Loan for a short period of time
(three months), at the cost of $700,000 in loan extension fees.

46. That $70b,000 came from the Construction Loan proceeds and if was paid to Vestin,
not the REITs.

47. Therefore as of January of 2006, Vestin had now collected an aggrepate of
$2.imillion on loan fees from the Project ($1.4 million initial fee plus the $70C,000
extension),

48, The parties documented that extension in a January 3, 2006, Loan Exlensmn
Agreement (the “Amendment™).

49. Mona was concemed the Project was in financial trouble in January of 2006,

50. At that time, conversations took place between Maize and Mona about a plan to “sell
the asset, get the loan paid off, and move down the road.”

51. That's also why at this time, RVN hired Park Place Partners to sell either the entire
Project, or any parts of it they could,

L Far West Expresses Interest in the Proi.ect

52. In approximately January of 2006, Far West was cons1dermg purchasing a pomon of
the Project,

53. One of the things requested by Far West was information about who was behind the
RVN and guarantying its obligations. .
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54. Scoft Lissoy (“Lissoy”) of Far West kaew of Maize and held Maize in high regard.

55, While that relationship gave Far West some measure of comfort regarding this i
Project, it still wanted to be sure that somebody had something financially ai risk to make
sure that they would deliver to Far West critical infrastructure and critical water meters
after eserow closed.

56. Far West was purchasing 76 lots from RVN that were effectively an “island” in the
middle of a large undeveloped residential community.

57. If the infrastructure surrounding that island was not completed, Far West would have
no streets, water, electrical, cable, telephone, and the like to which it would connect.

58. It would also be in the midst of 2 mastet-planned community (clubhouse, swimming
pools, community parks, common areas everywhere, etc.) that would not be completed.

59, Any hope of successfully building and selling homes would be gone, and therefore
Far West wanted to insure that the infrastructure was going to be completed in & tunely
manner (by the agreed date of November 1, 2006).

" 60, Maize represented to Lissoy that RYN and RVVA could complete all infrastructures

by November 1, 2006,

61, Far West therefore asked Maize 10 include specific Representation and Warranty in
the Purchase Agreements, thereby obligating RVN to complete that ennre infrastructure
by November 1, 2006.

62. Far West also secured Representations and Warranties that confirmed what Maize
was telling it on behalf of RVN; all necessary water meters would be available to Far.
West at the close of escrow and there was no claims either pending or threatened by any

. entity that might otherwise negatively impact the development of Far West's lots and/or

the construction of the Project’s infrastructure,

63. Finally, Par West asked Maize to confirm what he had told Lissoy; that the “Due
Diligence Documents” given by Maize to Far West included everything that was material
to the transaction,

64. Lissoy also asked Maize about who was financially behind RVN, and when Maize
and Robert Pippen (World Development's and RVN attorney) represented to Lissoy and
Ira Glasky of Far West that Mona was a man of substantial financial means who had
personally guaranteed the Vestin loan, Lissoy asked for written proof,

65, The next day, Richard Van Buskirk (on behalf of Maize) asked for written proof of
Mona’s personal Guaranty,
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. precedent to escrow closing).

66. Mona had in his possesswn an amendment to the Loan (the “Amendmcnt”),
document that he had signed in January, 2006 as an individual,

67. Therefore in response to the initial request from Lissoy, Mona's Office Manager (on
behalf of Mona and acting as his agent) provided Maize with the Amendment (and not -
the actual Guaranty), since it represented him to be the Guarantor personally by separate
signature and it neither revealed that the Guaranty was from Emerald Suites nor that it
had expired.

68. The Amendment was forwarded to Far West the next day in response to jts inquiries
regarding confirmation of Mona’s personal Guaranty.

69. That proof of Guaranty was sent by Maize to Far West with a copy to Mona and
containing a note stating that a “copy of the loan extension with the Guarantee is
attached- Condition met” (referring to proof of Mona s personal Guaranty as a condition

J. The Capstone Notice of Defauit

70. RVN was in default on its capital contributions to RYVA, and on March 31, 2006,
Capstone (through Bert) sent Mona a formal Default Notice, demanding that RVN cure
its deficit in the RVVA account.

71. Capstone demanded that RVN contribute $762,943 by April 14, 2006 and an
additional $968,953 in the coming months,

72. Mona told Bert that RVN was out of money and wd_uid not be paying anything furthe
to RYVA.

73. Bert told Mona and Maize that Capstone would continue moving forward with only
its portion of the Project so that its investment was not placed in jeopardy.

74. Bert refused to wnﬁbute towards any of the infrastructure that benefited the RVN
property (including what was to be Far West’s lots) unless and until RVN cured its
breach,

75, Bert also told them that he was keeping all of the water meters allocated to the Project
until RVN brought its aceount current.

76. Without a water meter, no developer could build and sell a home.

77. Therefore as of the Spring of 2006, RVN’s portion of the Project had no realistic
chance of completion,-
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K. May of 2006

78. By May of 2006, Cathedral City (the “City"™) had become very concemc;l with the
Project’s innumerable problems and lack of progress,

79. By that time, the Project’s infrastructure was far from complete (including a $5
million off-site water reservoir, a recreation center and common area amenities).

80. The City was threatening to shut down Phase If of the Project (which included the Far
West lots) altogether.

&1. Also at this time, the Vestin loan was again coming due and Mona negotiated another
short (three month) extension. ' :

82, These short extensions were costly in terms of large extension fees demanded and
subsequently paid to Vestin (and not the REIT s} totaling $1,700,000 along with interest

" rafe increases (rising from 8% to as high as 14.5%),

83. At this point, Vestin had now taken over $3 million in total fees from the loan
proceeds provided to Mona by the REITs (which at this point in time had funded all of
Mona’s financial requirements in this Project),

84. The Project was already $1,913,636 over budget as of May 16, 2006, and RVN was
both out of cash and in default of its obligations to RVVA.

85. Mona knew that this cost overrun was important.and needed fo be disclosed to Far
West,

86. The same is true with respect to the Capsto:ie Default Notice: Mona assumed that
Maize was telling Far West all of this during their negotiations. )

87. Maize told Far West nothing about the RVVA default or the cost overruns, nor did he

provide Far West with the default letters/notices.

83. As of that point in time, Mona, World Development, and Vestin (and Vestin’s related
parties) had taken $7,521,254.65 (all but $900,000 coming from the $9 million
Construction Loan) that was not used by them for construction, :

89. Also as of that date, there was still $6,936,454.82 that needed to be contributed to
RVVA by RVN, . ‘

90. RVN therefore had é shortfall as of June 1, 2006, with no potential available source
of additional capital. v

91. Neither Maize nor Mona disclosed this shortfall to Far West at any time prior to Far .
West executing the Purchase Agreements.

B
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92. Furthermore, neither Maize nor Mona ever fold Far West that Mona, World
Development, and Vestin had taken $7,521,254.65 from the Project,

. Mong and Maize Mislead Far West into Purchasing Lots b Concea the

Eroject’s True State
93. Maize’s negotiations with Far West were proceeding and he kept Mona informed.

94, Mona was responsible for all finances on behalf of RVN, and Maize told Lissoy that
all decisions must therefore be made jointly with Mona. _

95. Furthermore, the draft Purchase Agreements (as the transaction was negotiated

. between January and May of 2006) were sent to Mona for review and comment.

96, E~-mail correspondence between Maize and Mona and addressing the Far West deal
started with the first draft agreement in January of 2006 and ended with the “final dezl
points” on May 26, 2006 (five days before the Purchase Agreements with Far West were
signed).

97. On June 1, 2006, Far West signed two Purchase Agreements for 76 lots in the Project.

98. The combined purchase price under the agreements was $6,430,961.45. Escrow for
72 of the lots closed on June 9, 2006, and escrow for the remaining 4 lots closed on
August 31, 2006,

99.The Purchase Agreements contain, among others, the following Representations and
Warranties which were deemed to be true as of the date of the Purchase Agreements were
signed and restated as of the date escrow closed:

100.”To the actual knowledge of the Seller, there are no...[alctions or claims pending or
threatened by any governmental or other party which could affect the Property”

101.”Seller warrants that none of RVVA'si improvements outs1de or inside the Property
boundary shall preclude, limit or delay Buyer from developing the Property (including
obtaining building permits and/or certificates of occnpancy...)”

102.”[A]ll improvements except the final lift of asphalt (surface or otherwise) on the
streets surrounding the Property (Rio Largo Road, Ric Guadalupe Road and Rio Madera |
Road) will be complete by November 1, 2006

103.”Seller shall use diligent reasonable efforts to ensure that water meters are available
to Buyer, pending payment by Buyer of required meter and facilities fees,..”
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104.”To Seller’s actual knowledge, the Due Diligence Documents constitute all of the
material documents relating to the Property in the Seller’s possession as of the date of
this Agreement...”

105.”Ench of the representations and warranties set forth in this Section 3 and in Section
6.2 is material o and is being relied upon by Buyer and the continuing truth thereof shall
constitute a condition precedent to Buyer’s obligations hereunder”,

106.A1 of these Representations and Warranties were false on June 1, 2006, and both
Maize and Mona knew they were false.

107, Maize and Mona knew that RVN was in default under RVVA .Operations
Agreement, and that the Project was facing imminent failure.

108. Moreover, RVN's defanit had resulted in a pending claim by Capstone (sent directly
to Mona as RVN's Manager) which would preclude completion of the infrastructure,
delivery of water meters, and Far West's ability to develop and sell homes upon its lots.

109. Neither Maize nor Mona informed Far West that Capstone had informed them that it
would not contribute toward infrastructure construction benefiting the Far West lots or
that Capstone was retaining all water meters for the entire Project.

110, The failure to disclose those facts constituted a materjal breach of the Representation|
and Warranty pertaining to RVVA’s improvements not precluding, limiting, or delaying
Far West in its development efforts,

111, Furthennore, RVN was not using diligent commercially reasonable efforts to insure
that Far West obtained the requited water meters, thereby materially breaching that
Representation and Warranty,

112. RVN did not complete all improvements except the final lift of asphalt by
November 1, 2006, which again constituted a material breach of the Purchase
Agreements, '

113, Finaily, Maize and Mona did not provide Far West with all “material documents
relating to the Property in Seller’s possession as of the date of this Agreement” (June 1,
2006).

114. At no time did Maize or Mona provide Far West with the following material
documents: (1) the Capstone Default Notice; (2) comrespondence from the City
threatening to shut down the Project; (3) documentation showing that the Project was $2
million over budget; or (4) any documentation informing Far West that RVN was out of

“money and unable to meet its financial commitments 1o RVVA.

113. The Purchase Agreements contain a provision awarding Far West liquidated
damages of $1,200 per day for every day that RVN delays delivery of water meters.

10
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116. To this day, those meters have not been delivered by RVN, and the per diem

damages calculated to the first day of trial are $2,100,000.

~_117. Immediately after the first close of escrow, Bert wrote a second Default Notice to

Mona. :

118. Here again, Bert threatened RVN that it would “cease to have any powers, rights, or
authorifies” in connection with the management of RVVA and he confirmed that he told
Maize and Mona all along: Capstone “retain(s) the exclusive right to the use if all the
water meters acquired with such amounts funded solely by us”.

" 119. This was two months before Far West closed the second escrow (August 31).

120. Neither Maize nor Mona provided Far West with the second Capstone Default
Notice or informed Far West about its existence,

121. Far West continued with the transaction and the second escrow closed,

122, In good faijth, Far West proceeded with its short-lived plans for development.

123, The company spent another several million doltars in: (1) completing all of the in-
tract infrastructure in preparation for connecting to the Project infrastructure, which RVN

never completed; and (2) building three model homes and one production unit for sale,

124, The Far West project wes an island of completed construction in the middle of -

* uncompleted streets, curbs, gutters, utilities, and the like.

M. Mona Unpilaterally Conveys RVN’s Only Asset and Takes the Repmainin
Funds for his and Maize's Personal Use

125. Sometime in September of 2006 and Jess than 30 days after the second Far West
close of escrow but before the Vestin loan was due, Mona unilaterally decided to walk
away frot the Project and give what remained of it back fo Vestin,

126. Mona never informed Far West that RVN was transferring the remaining Property 1o
the lender right after Far West closed escrow.

127. RVN also has $125,000 in its account at El Paseo Bank, which was RVN’s only
bank account.

128. On or about November 13, 2006, Mona and Maize decided to take that money for
themselves via checks to the Mona Family Trust and World Development, despite having

‘received multiple Jetters from Far West alieging breach of the Purchase Agreements,

11
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129, Far West had deposited $32,846 into Escrow at the time of the original transaction,
and that money was being held to pay for certain infrastructure improvements that RVN
was going to perform. ' )
130. Those improvements were never constructed,

N. Far West Suffers Damage

131, RVVA never completed the infrastructure and all of RVN’s property mterests were
conveyed to Vestin by Mona.

132. Becauss the infrastructure was incomplete, no developers could move forward with
the Project’s remaining lots.

133 Far West was left with four fully-constructed and merchandized homes (3 models

and one production home), with no way to complete the rest of the development and/or to

sell anything.

134, Far West remained obligated to complete certain in-iract infrastructure, or risk a
cleim on Far West's performance bond with the City.

135. All fotaled, Far West invested $11,138,411.45 into this Project (which includes the
per-diem delay damages under the Purchase Agreements)

136, With 10% pre-judgment i mtercst through the first day of trial, the grand total is
$16,886,132.16.

137. Daily damages of $5,259.75 from September 23 2011 until entry of Judgment ate

comprised of the per diem penalty plus further pre-judgment interest on Far West's out-
of-pocket expenses at 10%.

0. Alter Ego
138. Mona and the Mona Family Trust failed to adequately capitalize RVN,

139, Mona commingled funds belonging to RVN, the Mona Family Trust, MonaCo
Development, and himself personally.

140. Mona diverted RVN's funds to other than RVN's uses.
141. Mona treated the assets of RVN as his own.

142, Mona used RVN as a mere shell, instrumentality, or conduit for his own personal
gain. )

12
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143, Mona diverted assets from RVN to Vestin, himself, MonaCo Development, and
World Development to the detriment of RVN’s creditors

144, Maintaining legal separation between RVN, Mona, and the Mona Family Trust
would sanction fraud and promote injustice. .

145, All actions taken by Mona in this regard were both in his individual capacity and in
his capacity as Trustee of the Mona Family Trust.

Conclusions o

A. RVN Breached the Purchase Agrecments

1.. RVN breached both Purchase Agreements with Far West and Far West suffered .
damages proximately caused thereby.

2. Those fixed and readily-ascertainable damages total $11,138,411.45, exblusively of
pre-judgment interest,

3. Pre-judgment interest calculated from the day each expense was incurred by Far West
through the first day of trial total $5,727,720,71, and Far West is entitled to that

interest.

4, All Totaled, Far West suffered damages of $16,886,132.16 as of September 23, 2011,
that were proximately caused by RVN's breaches of the Purchase Agreements,

B. Mona, RVN, and World Qeﬁelogmen’t Intentionally Defrauded Far West

‘5. Both Maize and Mona intentionally misrepresented material facts and concealed other

material facts from Far West as discussed above,

6. When Maize and Mona misrepresented and concealed those materials facts, they were
doing so on behalf of RVN as Members and Managers.

7. Furthermore, Maize mede those same material misrepresentations and omitted those
material facts as the CEO and Sharelolder of World Development,

8. Maize and Mona were under a duty to disclose those material facts that were
concealed from Far West, and Far West was unaware of those facts or Maize’s and
Mona’s concealment,

9, Maize and Mona acted with an intent to defraud Far West, Far West justifiably relied

upon Maize’s and Mona’s affirmative misrepresentations and omissions, and Far West
sustained damage

13




1o

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23
24

25

'14. Maize and Mona failed to disclose the numerous facts referenced above which

10. As a result of Mona’s, RVN's, and World Development’s intentional fraud, Far West
sustained damages totaling $16,886.132.16 as of September 23, 2011 (with pre-
judgment inferest included). . ' .

C. Mona, RVN, and World Development are Liable for Negligent Misrepresentation)

11. Maize and Mona (on behalf of World Development and RVN) misrepresented materiall
facts without a reasonable ground for believing them to be true and omitted certain
material facts, with the intent to induce Far West’s reliance on those facts '
misrepresented or ormitied,

12. Far West was ignorant of the truth, and justifiably relied upon Maize and Mona’s
representations and omissions, thereby sustaining damage.

D. Mona, RVN and World Development are liable for Breach of the Common Law
Duty to Disclose '

13. As a seller of real property, Monga, RVN, and World Development had aduty to
disclose to Far West all facts that materially affected the value of the property being
sold. '

materially affected the value of the property, and they knew that such facts were not
known 1o, or within the reach of diligent attention and observation of Far West.

15. As a result, Far West sustained the damage referenced above.

E. Mona, RVN and World Development are all Liable'ior Conspiracy to Commit
Fraud

16. Mona and Shustek agreed and conspired to defraud any potential purchasers of the
Project (which ultimately included Far West) by structuring this entire ttansaction to
appear to be a legitimate loan being made to a legitimate company (RVN) and
guaranteed by another legitimate company (Emerald Suites). :

17, The conspiratorial agreement between Mona and Shustek was for them to take
millions of dollars for Vestin in the form of fees, to pay certain individuals and entities
unrelated to the Project a total of $702,000, and for Mona and the Mona Family Trust
to personally reap an initial $1 million profit.

18. Mona and Shustek also agreed that Mona would use what was left of the Construction
Loan to move the Project along far enough to find some unsuspecting developer to
purchase all or part of it from RVN.

19. At some point after the formation of that conspiracy, but no later than the Fall of 2005,
Maize joined them as a co-conspirator.
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20. In exchange for agreeing; (1) to continue moving the Project along and seeking
unsuspecting developers to purchase it; and (2) to stay silent about the monies already
paid from the Construction Loan {o Mona and Vestin, Woild Development was paid
$858,598.60, which money was separate from any project management costs to which

- it was to be paid.

21, The many wrongful acts done furtherance of that conspiracy are more fully set forth in

the Findings of Facl

22, The Liability of Mona, RVN, and World Development is therefore joint and several as
a result of their conspiratorial agreement.

F._Maize Acted as Mons’s Agent

23. Maize was Mona’s actual and ostensible agent when Mona directed him to submit to
Far West the fraudulent Guaranty.

| | A 1S TER EGO OF RVN, AND TO THE EXTENT NECESSARY.
OF THE MONA FAMILY TRUST

27. California law goverﬁs any alter ego analysis,
28. The alter ego doctrine applies to Limited Liability Companies.

29, Under California law, the alter ego doctrine is a viable theory of recovery against a
Trustee for actions taken in his or her representative capacity to benefit the Trust.

30. Accordingly, this finding of aiter ego liability applies to Mona both in his individual
capacity and in his capacity as the Trustee of the Mona Family Trust,

31. There is such a unity of interest and ownership that the separate personalities of
RVN, the Mona Family Trust, and Mona no longer individually exist.

32. The acts of RVN are treated as those of the entity alone, an inequitable result will
follow.

33. Mona, individually and in his capacity as Trustee of the Mona Family Trust, are the
alter egos of RVN and therefore iable for any and all damages awarded against RVN.

34, To the extent necessary, Mona is the alter ego of the Mona Family Trust, and as a

result, both he and the Mona Fanily Trust are both hable for any and all damages
awarded herein against RVN,
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II.___FAR WEST IS ENTITLED TO THE INTERPLEAD FUNDS
35. Defendant Fidelity National Title Company filed 2 Crass-Complaint in Interpleader,

thereby depositing $32,846 with the Court pursuant to Sectlon 386.1 of the California
Code of Civil Procedure,

36. Far West is enmled to those funds, and the Clerk is hercby directed to pay those funds
to Far West forthwith.

1V. _ JUDGMENT TO BE ISSUED

Judgment shall issue forthwith against Mona in his individual capacity and as Trustee of
tile Mona Family Trust, RVN, and World Development in ﬁe amount of $16,886,132,16 plus
daily additional damages of $5,259.75 from September 23, 2011 until entry of Judgment, jointly
and severally; this amount totals $17,841,651.92 as of March 5, 2012. Furthesmore, that
judgment shall leave a blank for any award of any court costs and attorney’s fees that “'Ii“ be the
subject of Far West's post-Judgment motions. Finally, the Clerk is directed to release the

$32,846 interplead funds to Far West immediately.

Dated:  March § 2012
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ANDREA M, GANDARA, ESQ. CLERK OF THE COURT
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*B-mall: agandara@nevadafirm,com
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FINE WRAY PUZEY & THOMPSON
400 South Fourth Strest, Third Floor
Las Vogas, Nevada 89101

Telephone:  702/791-0308
Frosimile:  702/791-1912

Attorneyy jbr Plaintlff Far West Industries

DISTRICT COURT
. CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, a California Case No A-12- 670352-F
corporation, . Dept, No.: XV

Plaintiff,

Vv
Hearing Dater Ju

9, 2018

RIO VISTA NEVADA, L1.C, a Nevada limited | Time of Hearing:  9:00 a,m.

liability company; WORLD DEVELOPMENT
INC, 2 Catifornis co ration; BRUCE MAIZB
anindmdual MIC! J. MONA JR., an
individual; DOES 1 through 100, mcluswa,

Defendants.

: ORDER RE ORD SHOW CAUSE
ACCOUNTS OF RHONDA MONA SHOULD NOT BE SUBIECT TO
EXECUTION AT COURT SHOULD NOT FIND MONA. TE

Th_e Court held a hearing regarding its Order To Show Cause Why Accounts Of Rhonda
Mona Should Not Be Subject To Execution And Why The Court Should Not Find Monas In
Contempt.t ("Qeder to Show Cause™) on July 9, 2015, et 9:00 a.m, (“July 9 Hearing"). F, Thomas
Bdwards, Esq, and Andrea M. Gandata, Bsq, of the law firm of Holley, Driggs, Walch, Fine,
Wray, Puzey & Thompson, ﬁppeared on behalf of Plaintiff.Far West Indusiries (“Plaintiff” or .
“Fax West”). Terry A Coffing, Bsq,, of the law firm of Marqms Aurbach Coffing, appeared on
behalf of Defendant Michael J. Mona, Jr, (“Mr, Mona"™ and Rhonda Helene Mona (“Mrs,
Moia™) (collectively referred to as the ‘Monas”). Bdward L. Kainen, Esq,, and Andrew L,

10594.01/154 2548, doo
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Kynasfon, Esq., of the law firm of Kainen Law Group, LLC, also appeared as divorce counsel

“for Mrs. Mona.

Prior to the July 9. Hearing, the Court reviewed all rolovant pleadings and papers before
it, including, but not limited to: (1) Plaintiff’s Ex Parte Application For Order To Show Cause
Why Accounts Of Rhonda Mona Should Not Be Subject To Execution And’ Why The Court
Stould Not Find The Monas In Contempt (“Application”) and the attached Exhibits 1-4; (2) tho
Order to Show Cause and tﬂe notice of entry and receipt of copy associated therewith; (3) the
Response to Order To Show Cause Why Accounts Of Rhonda Mona Should Not Be Subject To
Execution And Why The Court Should Not Find The Monas In Contetupt (“Response™) and the
attached Exhibits A-C;-(4) the Plaintiff's Reply in Support of Ordet To Show Cause Why

Accounts Of Rironda Mona Should Not Be Subject To Execution And Why The Court Should

.Not Fi'nc_l The Monas In Contemp_t (“Reply”); (4) the Supplement to Reéponso fo Order To Show
Cause Why Accounts Of Rhonda Mona Should Not Be Subject To Execution And Why The
Court Should Not Find The Monas Tn Conterapt (“Supplemen®”). The Court wes preserited o
Declaration in Support of Request for Contempt of Plaintiff's counsel, F, Thomas Rdwards, Bsq.,
at the July 9 Hearing,. which it accepted without objection,

With no other appearances having been made, the Court having reviewed and examined
the papers, pleadings and records on file in tho above-entitled matfer and heard the argument of
counsel, and good cause appearing therofore, the Court enfers the following findings facts and
conclusions of Iﬁw. To the extent any ﬁnding of fact should properly be designated a conclusion
of law, it shall be deemed a conclusion of law. To the extent any conclusion of law should
properly be designated a finding of fact, it shall be deomed a finding of fact.

- The Court makes the following findings of facts and conolusions of faw: -

Oa April 27, 2012, Plaintiff obtelned a Judgment entored against Mr, Mona and the Mona
Family Trust Dated February 21, 2002 (“Mona Family Trust”), See fudgment, atteched as Ex, 4
to Application. Mx, Mona and Mrs, Mona were at all relevant times co-trustees of the Mona
Family Trust, although after this Court ordered Mtrs, Mona to appear for a judgment debfor
examination, based upon her capacity as trustee of the Mona Family Trust, Mrs, Mona resigned

-2-
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and/or was removed as a trustes,

' .On January 30, 2013, the Cour{ entered its original order for tho judgment debtor
examination of Mr, Mons, setting forth certain documents that Mr, Mona was required to
produce, Including:

8. Documents reflecting all asets (real, pm.‘sonal or mixed), -
whether “owned by you individuelly, in any partnership or

- corporation form or in joint tenancy or in tenancy in common-for

 the past five (5) years.
" 11, A_copy of slf statoments, and g_copy of each 'gheglg
i for e account, fo ch and every financl

nstitution (Including byt not limited to , SAvVIBgS an
oung, oredit unions, and brokersge houses) where you have an
account, where you have signature suthority on. an account, ox in
which l!nu have held or now hold an interest from Janmary 2005
through to the present,
12, % egﬁ;i o% all bank statements, deposit sliﬁs, and ganceled
checks for , money market accounts whic] own or in
which you owned any interest whatsogver, or on which you were
authorized to draw checks, whether documents were in vour
alone, In the name of another person/entity, or in the
name of another and yourself as joint tenants, for the period of
- thres (3) yoars ptior to the date hereof,
13. AUl savings igggun,t passhooks, bank statements and
. cates of deposit for any and all accounts, in which
-aymed 8 rest whatsoever, or from which you wero
authorized to o withdrawals, whether said accounts were in
your name alone, in the name of any other petson, or in your name

and another g joint tenaats, for the period of five (5) years prior to
the date hereof. .

39, fes of any and all confracts te which -ou are s pa
anicrod Ty s s T v 1) g - hich yom gre  party
See Ex. A to Order entered 1/30/13 (“January 2013 Order*’) (emphesis added).
The Court subsequeutl}" ordered Mr. Mona to make a complets prdduction of documents
by September 25, 2013. See Order entered 10/7/13 (“October 2013 Order™), 2:9-13.
On or about September 13, 2013, the Monas executed a Post-Matita} Property Settlement
Agreement,‘ n whioh Mr. and Ms. Mona explain that they have sold their community property
shares of Medical Marijuana, Inc,, for $6,813,202,20. See Ex. 1 to tho Application. The

- Agresment then purports to divide the proceeds eqtially between themseli'es ag their separate

property, with each receiving $3,406,601.10, Id,

.3
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Althmllgh Mr, Mona produced approximately 33,000 dopumgnts in response to the
January 2013 Oxder and the October 2015 Order, Mt. Mona did not produce the -Post-Marital
Settloment Agreement, in violation of both the January 2013 Order and the October 2013 Order,

LAt fis judginent debtor examination on November 25, 2013, ﬁhen Mz, Mona was asked

 what he did with the more than $6 mi}lion in stock sale proceeds, M, Mona lied and faiﬁd to

disclose the transfer of $3,406,601.10 fo Mrs. Mona. Specifically, at the judgment debtor
examitdation 6n November 25, 2013, Mr. Mona testified as follows;

- Q. When you got put of Alpine Securities, how much was the
- stock worth?

A, About $0.12 a share,

Q. And franslate that into an aggregate,
A, About $6 miltion.

Q. Did you cash out?

A, Yes,

Q. What dtd you do with that $6 milllon?
A, Pai& bilis,

Q. What bills?_ _

A. Paid off some debts that I had,

Q. What bills?

A, Just porsonal bills, Gave 2.6 — loaned $2.6 miltion to Roen
Ventures, .

See Transcript of 11/25/13 Judgment Debtor Examination of Mr, Mona, 9:8-21, attached ag Ex.2
to the Appligation,

Mr, Mona's deceit and omission cannot be excused by a lack of memory because the
purported transfer through the Post-Marital Settlement Agresment occurred only shortly before
his examination, Likewise, Mr. Mona’s deceit and omission cannot be blamed on his attorney,
a3 Mr. Mona was in control of his testimony at the judgment debtor examination in 2013, At his
more recent judgment debtor examination, Mr. Mona admitted that he should have produced the
Post-Marital Settlement Agreement in 2013 and that he should have disclosed it during the

. : 4.
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November 25, 2013 examination and, on this point, the Coutt agrees with Mr. Mona,

The Court finds that the money purportedly transferced through the Post-Marital
Seftlement Agreement was community praperty as it was acquired during the Monas’ marriage.
The Monas have been married for more than 30 years, All property acquired after the marriage
by either husband or wife is community property, subject only to limited exceptions identified in
NRS 123.220. All debts ineurted during that time are community debts under Randono v. Tutk,
86 Nev,.123, 466 P.2d 218 (1970). See also Cirac v, Lander Cnty,, 95 Nev. 723, 602 P.2d 1012;
I ro Bernardell, 12 BR, 123 (Bankr, D. Nev. 1981); Nelson v, United States, 53 F.3d 339, 1995
WL 257884; E,'_I‘Jgiﬂej,m&:, 580 F.3d 769 (8th Cir, 2009).

Plaintiff obtained the Judgment against Mr. Mona during the Monas’ mattlage, and if
therefore is a community debt, That community debt can be collected against the enfirety of the
Monas’ community properly under Randono v. Turk, 86 Nev. 123, 466 P.2d 218 (1970) and
Henty v, Rizzolo, 2012 WL 1376967 (Dist. Nev. April 19, 2012). S_e_e_aLs_é Cirac vy, Lander
_ng&u 95 Nov. ;723, 602 P.2d 1012; In re Bernardelli, 12 B.R. 123 (Bankr. D. Nev, 1981); Nelson
v, United States, 53 F.3d 339, 1995 W1 257884; R.T.C. v. Neiswonger, 580 F.3d 769 (8th Cir,
2009). The Court finds Norwest Fin. v. Lawver, 849 P.2d 324 (Nev. 1993) and Hogevoll v,
Hogevoll, 59 Cal.App.2d 188, 138 P.2d 693 (1943), which are cited in t'hé‘ Response,
distinguishable as those cases involved determinations of lender infent and community debt with
respect to loans made during matriage, as opposed 1o collection on a judgment for fraud
committed by a spouse during marriage, Mrs. Mona’s alleged leck of involvement in the
uﬁdarliring lit‘igalﬁon. that gave rise to Far West’s Judgment is not relevant as to judgment
collccﬁdn. There is no evidehce that the asscts and debts at issue hero were a(;quired by either of
the Monas before marriage. ’

On Mx'ay 13, 2015, the Court entered ordets scheduling the judgment debtor examinations
of Mz. and Mrs. Mona, The order st forth a Jist of documents that Mr. and Mrs, Mona were
required to produce, including: '

1 For the period beghiuing April 2012 through the present
dato, finaneial documents of Judgment Debtor, including, hut

not ted to, but not limited to, statements for checking,

.5
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ayings. or other fluanclal accounts, secutlties brokerage
accounts, certificates of deposit, shares in banks, savings and loan,
“theift, building loan, credit umions, or- brokerage -houses or
coogerative, and records of income, profits from companies, cash
on hand, safe deposit boxos, deposits of money with any other
institutlon or person, cash value of ingurance policies, federal and
state Income tax refimds due or expeeted, aumt payable fo or
held by or for Judgment Debtor, checks, , nofes, bonds,
interest bearing instruments, accounts recelvable, liquidated and
valiquidated claims of any nature, or any and all other asgots,

. 23, For the period beginning April 2012 through the presént
- 'date, Documents relating to monies, gifis, bequests, dispositions,
or transfers paid or to Judgment Debtor,

26.  For the period beginning Aprl 2012 through the present
date, Documents relating to all tangible or intangible property or

other assets sold, assigned, transferred, or comveyed by
Judgment Debtor ¢ QrSoM or entity. ]
29.  Documents evidenoeigf any and all other intangible
personal, tangible, and/or real property of Judgment Debfor not
alrendy identified in the items sef forth above,

Ses Orders entered 5/13/15 (“May 2015 Ordets™).
In their response fo the May 2015 Orders, the Monas did not produce certain bank

records purportedly because the bank accounts are in the name of Mrs, Mona only, despite the
fact that the accounts hold community property, in violation of the May 2015 Orders. Mrs.
Mona made no efforts to produce any documents in response to the May 2015 Orders; Mr.
Mona’s failure to pi:oduce thess bank records in response to th;s Janvary 2‘0'13 Onder and the
Ootbiaqf 2013 Order was also a violation of said orders, '
| According to Mrs, Mona's testimony during examination, she has three (3) different bank
accounts in her name, The first acconnt is a checking account at Batk of George; which contains
approximate $190,000.00 in purported earnings from dcsigﬁ projeots performed by Mrs, Mona
during the m;zrriage, such that the funds are community property. Ses Rough Transcript of
06/26/15 Judgment Debtor Examination of Mts. Mona, 26:6-14 ami 27:19-29:19 attached as Ex,
3 to the Application. ' ‘
The second account is & money market account at the Bank of George, which contains

appro'ximately $300,000.00 that is pmportcdly the only remaining money from the transfor to

|l Mrs, Mona through the Post-Marital Settlement Agreement, Mrs, Mona testificd that she

.6~
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believes she >on1j recelved approximately $2 million based upon the Post-Marital Seffloment
Agreenient, instead of the full $3.4 million identified in the Post-Martial Séttlement Agreement,
Sec Rough Transcript of 06/26/15 Judgment Debtor Examination of Mrs, Mona, 21:18-23
attached as Ex. 3 to the Application. These funds constitute commuhiiy property because they
were acquired duﬂﬁg marriage, This remains true despite the Monas fraudulent transfor of the
community prc;perty to Mes. Motia, as explained in more detail below. '

The third account is a checking accovnt from Bank of Nevads, which is purportedly
funded through the money market account at Bank of George, and thus also contains community
property, '

- The Monas did not produce any records related to these three (3) accounts that contain
qonrimunity property in Mrs. Mona’s name and so it is not possible to determine the account
numb'ers and identifying information associated with these accounts.

While the Response mentions tho Monas’ divorce proceedings, the Response onﬁitted key
facts about the divorce, including that the divorce proceeding was only filed ozi July 2, 2015, and
that the Monas testified at their respective judgment debior examinations just a fow days earlier
that they hed no plaus to get divorced. The omission of these material faots in the Response
reflects on the Monag’ ctedibility. . '

'The fact that Mers, Mona filed for divorco after the Coutt issued its Order to Show Cause
does not deprive the Court of iis jurisélicﬁon to rule on the Order to Show Cause, The Monas
have cited to no authority that the filing of a divorce complaint imposes a; stay of execution upon
8 judgraent,

The Response to the Order to Sl;ow Cruse complains about the timing of the briefing
schedule and the héaring date, However, the Response failed to disclose that Plainfiff offered to
both extend tho briefing schedule and continue the hearing. At the hearing, the Coutt offered
additional fime to the Monas, but the Mones declined. Accordingly, the Court proceeded to issus
its ruling, .

The Monas have preempfed the presiding judge as to any request for contempt in the
Application, as thoy ate entitled to do, The Court expressly makes no finding of contempt as to

a7
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Mr and Mrs, Mona without prejudice to Plaintiff pursuing sucil a request before another judge.
’I‘ha'Court only is considering whether sanctions should be issued pursuaﬁt. fo NRCP 37 as
requested in the Application. '

The Court finds that Mr. Mona violated the January 2013 Order and Octobor 2013 Ogder
by not producing fhe Post-Marital Settlement Agreement and the bank account records for Mrs,
Mona's three (3) bank accounts that contained commumty property. The Court further finds that
both® Mr dnd Mrs, Mona violated the May 2015 Orders by failing to produce bank records for
Ms, Mona (] three (3) bank accounts that contained community property. '

. 'The Court concludes that Mr, Mona's i‘ai!u:e to produce the Post—MantaI Seitlement
Agreement as ordered and Mr, Mona and Mrs, Mona’s failure to disclose Mrs. Mona’s bank
records for the thres (3) accounts in Mys, Mona's name weroe not substantially Justified and
constxtute serious violations subject to samotions under NRCP 37, Considering ail available
sanctions under NRCP 37 for such violations, the Court finds grounds {o designate the Post-
Marital Settloment Agreement a fraudulent transfer under NRS 112,180 on the merits based on
the following badges of fraud associated with that transfer,

Rirst, the transfer in the Post-Marital Settlement Agreement was to an insider, Mrs,
Monsg, as she is the wife of Mr, Mona, a judgment debtor, and was at all relevant times the

- Trustee of the Mona Family Trust, a judgment debtor.

- Second, Mr. Mona appears to have retained possession and control over some portion' of

the funds that were purportedly transferred pursuant o the Post-Marital Sabtlwicnt Agreement,

Third, Mz, Mona concealed the {ransaction by not producing the Post-Marital Settlement
Agreoment as required by the January 2013 Order and October 2013 Order and by not discl'osiﬁg
the transfer during his judgment debior examination on November 25, 2013, Mr, Mona was not
truthfilf when he was asked durlng the November 25, 2013 examination about what he did vw}ith
the approximately $6.8 millioil dollars,

Fourth, prior to effectuating the transfer through the Post-Marital Settlement Agreemont,
Far West sued and obtained the Judgment againgt Mr, Mona and the Mona Family Trost, .

"

-8-
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Fifth, the Post-Marital Seitlement Agreement, and the related transfers of the proceeds

-from the sale of the stock, transferred substantially all of Mr, Mona’s assets as he was ingolvent

at the time or the transfers, or rendered Mr. Mona insolvent shortly after they was made.
Sixth, Mr. Mona concealed assets by failing to disclose the Post-Merital Settloment

: Agreement in 2013, by not disclosing the transfer during his judgment debtor examination on

November 25, 2013, and by not producing the bank account records for the accounts fn Ms.
Mona's name, : : .

" Seventh, at the time of the transfor through the Post-Marital Settlement Agreement, Mr.
Mona was insolvent, or the transfer rendered Mr, Mona insolvent shortly after it was made,

These considerations are several of many factors in NRS 112.180(2), which provides a
pon-exhaustive list of considerations that support a determination that thers was an actual intent
to hinder, delay, or defraud a creditor. “To find a fraudulent transfer, not every fhactor must be
shown and the lack of one or more badges of fraud among many is not dispostive, The badges of
fraud_' described above provide overwhelming evidence that the Post-Marital Settlement
Agreement was a fraudulent transfor, | -

The Court therefore concludes that the Post-Marital Settlement Agresment is a fraudulent
transfer intended to hinder, delay and defraud Plaintiff in its efforls to executs upon the
Judgment and the $6,813,202.20 remains community property that is subject to execution by Far
Waest in satisfactic;xi of its Judgment. The funds in Mrs, Mona's three (3) bank accounts shall be
applied towards satisfaction of the Judgment pursuaot to NRS 21,320, The Coutt finds the |
sanotions imposed herein to bo sppropriate in light of the very serious misconduct at issue,
speciﬁoally the failure to disclose doouments as ordered, which resulted in the dlssipatioh of
millions of dollars in assets, of which only a relatively small amount remains ($300,000 in Mts,
Mona's Bank of George money market account) and concealment of significant community
property'($l90,000.00 in Mrs, Mona’s Bank of George checking account) which ¢ould have |
gons to satisfy Plaintiff’s Judgment, The Court has also previously found that Mr. Mona i3 not .
taking this proceeding éedous]y. 8¢¢ Order entered 06/17/2015, Tho sanctions ate meant io deter
the Monas and futare litigants from similar abuses,

..
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This Court has authority pursuant to NRS 21,280 and, to the extent Mrs. Mona is
considered a third party, pursuant fo NRS 21.330, to ordér Mr. and Mts. Mona to not disp;ase
and/or transfer their assets as the Court has done in the past and does z;gain in this Order,

Based on the foregoing, and good cause appearing: '

IT IS HEREBY QORDERED that the relief requested in the Applicaé_ion 18 GRANTED
IN PART and DENIED IN PART;

_ ITIS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that 'tha Monas® purported transfer putsuatt to
the Poz;t-Mariial Property Scttiement Agreement is a frandulent transfer, and the facts p;dving
the fraudulent transfer, inchuding the badges of freud outtined sbove, axo deemed established;

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that the facts el;titling Plaintiff to execute
upon the bank accounts in the name of Mrs, Mona are deemed established;

_ ITIS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that the Monss aro prohibited from claiming
that any money purportedly fransferred pursuant fo the Post-Marital Property Seftlement
Agreément and any money in the bank accounts in the name of Mrs. Mona are exempt from
exccution;

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that the Mones produco any previously
undisclosed bank records (inoluding signatute cards, bank statements, front and back of all
checks, check books and registers, deposit slips or recelpts, withdrawal slip‘s or receipts, wire |
transfer confirmations or reports, eto,) for the past five (5) yeats, regardless of whose name is on
the acco:uht, no later than July 20, 2015; | . -

YT I$ HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiffis awarded reasonsble exponsos,
including, without limitation, attorney's fess and costs incurred as a result of tho failure fo
comply with the Court's orders, with Plaintiff o submit a bill of fees and costs no later than July
20, 2015; and '

" IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED thet Mr. Mone, Mrs, Mons, and the Monas
collectively are prohibited from effectuating any transfers or otherwise disposing of or
encumbering any propetty not exempt from execution and until the money in the baﬁk accounts
in the name of Mrs, Mona are applied to Plaintifs Judgment, ' |

“10 -
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T IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that, upon the oral mouon of counsel for the
Monag, this Order is stayed until July 20, 2015, as to Mrs. Mona only, yet the Monay' obligahon
to produce bank records is ot stayed in any respect.

' ITISSOORDE D, - \,xQ
" Dated this day of \\ \j\/ 4 2P15,

DISTRICT/COURTJIUDGR U
1

Submitted by:

HOLLEY, PRIGGS, WALCH,
FINE, WRAY, PUZEY & THOMPSON

"F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ,

Nevada Bar No, 9549

ANDREA M, GANDARA, BSQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12580 -

400 8. Fourth Street, Third Floor

"Las Vegas, NV 89101

Attorneys for Plalpiiﬁ'Far West Indusiries

Approved ag to Form and Content by:

MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING .
/\4/15 : o
TERRY A. COFFING, ESQ )
Nevada Bar No. 4949
MICAH S, ECHOLS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8437
TYE S. HANSEEN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No, 10365
10001 Park Run Drive
Las Vegas, Novada 89145

Attorneys for Mr. and Myrs, Mona

: ~11.
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LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS
DANIEL MARKS, ESQ.

Nevada State Bar No. 002003
CHRISTOPHER L. MARCHAND, ESQ.

Nevada State Bar No. 11197

610 South 9" Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

(702) 386-0536; Fax (702) 386-6812
Attorney for Defendant

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
RHONDA HELENE MONA, Case No, 15-517425-D
Dept. No. B

Plaintiff,
VS,
MICHAEL JOSEPH MONA,

Defendant,
V8.
FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, A
CALIFORNIA CORPORATION

Intervenor.

/
COMPLAINT

COMES NOW the Intervenor FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, and as and for its complaint against

Plaintiff RHONDA HELENE MONA, and Defendant MICHAEL JOSEPH MONA, and each of them,

alleges as follows:

L.

The Intervenor, FAR WEST INDUSTRIES (hereinafter “Far West”) is and was at ali
relevant times herein, a California Corporation licensed and doing business in the State of
California,

The Plaintiff RHONDA HELENE MONA (hereinafter “Rhonda™) is and at all times
relevant hereto was, a resident of the State of Nevada, County of Clark,

The Defendant MICHAEL JOSEPH MONA (hereinafter “Michael”) is and at all times

1




o 0 I AN T R W e

RN O N N N N N M — e e e
© I S G AW R RS D ® OO & uveE e -3

10.
11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

relevant hereto was, a resident of the State of Nevada, County of Claik,

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
Far West sued Michael and the Mona Family Trust in the State of California case number
RIC495966.
That matter went to trial on September 23, 2011,
The California Court found that Michael mislead Far West into purchasing lots in an at the
time yet developed master planned community,
The California Court found that Michael intentionally defrauded Far West, made a
negligent misrepresentation to Far West, breached the Common Law Duty to Disclose, and
committed Conspiracy to Commit Fraud,
On March 5, 2012, the California Cowrt entered judgment against the defendants in that
case, including Michael in his individual capacity and as Trustee of the Mona Family Trust.
The judgment through the date of March 5, 2012 was for $17,841,651.92.
Far West domesticated thejudgment in the State of Nevada,
Far West conducted Judgment Debtor examinations against both Michael as well as
Rhonda.
Due to numerous misrepresentations during those judgment debtor examinations Far West
was eventually required to file an Order to Show Cause as to why both of the Monas should
not be held in contempt in the Eighth Judicial District Court case number A-12-670352-F.
Judge Hardy in that case found that on April 27, 2012 Far West propetly obtained a
Judgment against Michael and the Mona Family Trust and that the parties executed a Post-
Marital Property Settlement Agreement on or about September 13, 2013 which Michael
failed to produce during his judgment debtor examination,
The Cowrt also found that Michael “lied” and failed to disclose the transfer of nearly $3.5
million to Rhonda during the judgment debtor examination.
The Court went on to find that the money purportedly transferred from Michael to Rhonda
was community property as it was acquired during their marriage and that the judgment

against Michael was a community debt.

2
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16.

17.

18,

19.

20.

21,

22.

The Court concluded that the Post-Marital Property Settlement Agreement was a fraudulent
transfer intended to hinder, delay and defraud Far West in its efforts to execute upon the
judgment and the $6,813,202,20 that remains of community property.,

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

(Declaratory Relief)

The Intervenor incorporates herein by this reference as though fully set forth herein,
Paragraphs 1-16 above,
Intervenor is entitled to declaratory relief that the Post-Marital Property Settlement
Agreement is void and fraudulent based upon the principles of Res Judicata and/or issue
preclusion among other reasons.
Intervenor is entitled to declaratory relief that Rhonda is prohibited from claiming that the
money purportedly transferred pursuant to the Post-Marital Property Settlement Agreement
is her separate property.
Intervenor is entitled to declaratory relief that the funds money purportedly transferred
pursuant to the Post-Marital Property Settlement Agreement are community property based
upon the principles of Res Judicata and/or issue preclusion among other reasons.
Intervenor is entitled to declaratory relief that the judgment obtained by Far West is a
community property debt based upon the principles of Res Judicata and/or issue preclusion
among other reasons. |
It has been necessary for Far West to retain the services of an attorney in order to prosecute

this action, and it is entitled to its reasonable attorney’s fees in connection therewith,
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Intervenor, Far West, prays for judgment as follows:

1.
2,
3,
4.

For Declaratory Relief}
For a reasonable sum as and for attorneys’ fees;
For costs of suit incusred herein;

For such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper,

DATED this % ‘day of September, 2015.

LAW OFFICE-OF DANIEL MARKS

DAMIEL MARKS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 002003
CHRISTOPHER L, MARCHAND, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 11197

610 South 9™ Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Attorney for Defendant
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2 cannavest_s8-ex0402.htm FORM OF STOCK OPTION GRANT NOTICE FOR USE WITH AMENDED /.
Y1 TED 2013 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

CANNAVEST Core.
Stock OrprioN GRanT NOTICE
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2013 EQuUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, CannaVEST Corp. (the “Company”), hereby grants to the Optionee
named below, a stock option (the “Option”) to purchase any part or all of the specified number of shares of its Common
Stock (“Option Shares™), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Stock Option Grant Notice (the
“Grant Notice™), at the specified purchase price per share without commission or other charge. The Option is granted
pursuant to the Company’s Amended and Restated 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and the Stock Option
Agreement (the “Option Agreement”), promulgated under the Plan and in effect as of the date of this Grant Notice.

Optionee:

Date of Grant:

Vesting Commencement Date:
Number of Option Shares :
Exercise Price (Per Share):
Total Exercise Price:

Expiration Date: Ten years after Date of Grant
Type of Grant: O Incentive Stock Option! O Nonstatutory Stock Option
Exercise Schedule: [ Same as Vesting Schedule [ Early Exercise Permitted

Vesting Schedule: Except as otherwise provided in the Option Agreement, the number of Option Shares that are vested
(disregarding any resulting fractional share) as of any date shall be determined as follows: (i) no Option Shares will be vested
prior to the Vesting Comumencement Date; (ii) twenty-five percent (25%) of the Option Shares will be vested upon the one
(1) year anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date, provided, however, that there has not been a Termination of
Service as of such date; and (iii) the balance of the Option Shares will be vested in a series of thirty-six (36) successive equal
monthly installments measured from the first anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date, provided, however, that there
has not been a Termination of Service as of each such date. In no event will the Option become exercisable for any additional
Option Shares after a Termination of Service.

Payment: By one or a combination of the following items (described in the Plan):
& By cash orcheck
O By net exercise, if the Company has established procedures for net exercise

Additional Terms/Acknowledgements: The undersigned Optionee acknowledges receipt of, and understands and agrees to,
this Stock Option Grant Notice, the Option Agreement, and the Plan.

Further, by their signatures below, the Company and the Optionee agree that the Option is govemned by this Grant Notice
and by the provisions of the Plan and Option Agreement, both of which are attached to and made a part of this Grant Notice.
Optionee acknowledges receipt of copies of the Plan and the Option Agreement, represents that the Optionee has read and is
familiar with their provisions, and hereby accepts the Option subject to all of their terms and conditions. Optionee further
acknowledges that, as of the Date of Grant, this Grant Notice, the Option Agreement and the Plan set forth the entire
understanding between Optionee and the Company regarding the acquisition of stock in the Company and supersede all
prior oral and written agreements on that subject, with the exception of options previously granted under the Plan.
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CANNAVEST Corr. OPTIONEE: [NAME]
By:

[Name, Title] Signature
Date: Date:

Attachments: (I) Option Agreement; (II) Amended and Restated 2013 Equity Incentive Plan; and (IIT) Notice of Exercise
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www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1510964/000101968714003799/cannavest_s8-ex0402.htm

ATTACHMENT 1

OPTION A GREEMENT
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STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
(INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION OR NONSTATUTORY STOCK OPTION)
CANNAVEST CORP. AMENDED AND RESTATED 2013 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

Effective as of ,2014

Pursuant to the Stock Option Grant Notice (“Grant Notice”) and this Option Agreement (“Option Agreement”),
CannaVEST Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) has granted to Optionee an option under its Amended and
Restated 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan™), to purchase the number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock
indicated in Optionee’s Grant Notice, at the exercise price indicated in such Grant Notice. This Option Agreement is
incorporated by reference into and made a part of the Grant Notice. Whenever capitalized terms are used in this Option
Agreement, they shall have the meaning specified (i) in the Plan, (ii) in the relevant Grant Notice, or (iii) below, unless the
context clearly indicates to the contrary.

The details of the Option granted to Optionee are as follows:

1. Term of Option. Subject to the maximum time limitations in Sections 5(b) and 6(a) of the Plan, the term of the
Option shall be the period commencing on the Date of Grant and ending on the Expiration Date (as defined in the Grant
Notice), unless terminated earlier as provided herein or in the Plan.

2. Exercise Price. The Exercise Price of the Option granted hereby shall be as provided in the Grant Notice.

3. Exercise of Option.

(@) The Grant Notice sets forth the rate at which the Option Shares shall become subject to purchase
{(“vest”) by Optionee.

(b) In the event of a Change in Control ofthe Company, except as otherwise may be provided in the Plan or
Grant Notice, the vesting of the Option shall not accelerate, and the Option shall terminate if not exercised (to the extent
then vested and exercisable) at or prior to such Change in Control.

(c) Optionee shall exercise the Option, to the extent exercisable, in whole or in part, by sending written
notice to the Company on a Notice of Exercise in the form attached to the Grant Notice of his or her intention to purchase
Option Shares hereunder, together with a check in the amount of the full purchase price of the Option Shares to be
purchased, or such other form of payment as permitted by the Grant Notice. Except as otherwise consented to by the
Company, Optionee shall not exercise the Option at any one time with respect to less than five percent (5%) of the total
Option Shares set forth in the Grant Notice unless Optionee exercises all of the Option then vested and exercisable.

http:/Awvww.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1510964/000101968714003799/cannavest_s8-ex0402.htm 5M2
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(d) If the Option is an Incentive Stock Option, by Optionee’s exercise of the Option, Optionee agrees that
he or she will notify the Company in writing within fifteen (15) days after the date of any disposition of any of the shares of
the Common Stock issued upon exercise of the Option that occurs within two (2) years after the date of the Date of Grant or
within one (1) year after such shares of Common Stock are transferred upon exercise of the Option.

(e) Optionee agrees to complete and execute any additional documents which the Company reasonably
requests that Optionee complete in order to comply with applicable federal, state and local securities laws, rules and
regulations.

(f) Subject to the Company’s compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations relating to the
issuance of such Option Shares and Optionee’s compliance with all the terms and conditions of the Grant Notice, this
Option Agreement, and the Plan, the Company shall promptly deliver the Option Shares to Optionee.

(g) Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Plan, the Option may be exercised during the lifetime of
Optionee only by Optionee.

(h) In the event that Optionee is an Employee eligible for overtime compensation under the Fair Labor
Standards Act of 1938, as amended (i.e., a “Non-Exempt Employee™), Optionee may not exercise his or her Option until
the later of (i) the date that he or she shall have completed at least six (6) months of service to the Company measured from
the Date of Grant specified in Optionee’s Grant Notice, or (ii) the date set forth in the Grant Notice for when the Option is
first exercisable.

4. Exercise Prior to Vesting (“Early Exercise”). If expressly permitted by the Grant Notice and subject to the

provisions of this Option Agreement, Optionee may, at any time that is both (i) prior to a Termination of Service; and (ii)
prior to the Expiration Date, elect to exercise all or part of the Option, including the nonvested portion of the Option;
provided, however, that:

(a) a partial exercise of the Option shall be deemed to cover first any vested Option Shares and then the
earliest vesting installment(s) of unvested Option Shares;

(b) any Option Shares so purchased from installments which have not vested as of the date of exercise shall
be subject to a purchase option in favor of the Company, pursuant to an Early Exercise Stock Purchase Agreement in form
satisfactory to the Company;

(c) Optionee shall enter into the Early Exercise Stock Purchase Agreement with a vesting schedule that will
result in the same vesting as ifno early exercise had occurred; and

(d) as provided in the Plan, if the Option is an Incentive Stock Option, to the extent that the aggregate Fair
Market Value (determined at the time of grant) of Common Stock with respect to which the Option plus all other Incentive
Stock Options held by Optionee are exercisable for the first time during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company
and its Affiliates) exceeds One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000), the Options or portions thereof that exceed such
limit (according to the order in which they were granted) shall be treated as Nonstatutory Stock Options.

http:/Awww.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1510964/000101968714003799/cannavest_s8-ex0402.htm 6/12




www .sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1510964/000101968714003799%/cannavest_s8-ex0402.htm

5. Option Not Transferable. The Option granted hereunder shall not be transferable in any manner other than as
provided in Section 6(d) of the Plan. More particularly (but without limiting the foregoing), the Option may not be assigned,
transferred (except as expressly provided in the Plan), pledged or hypothecated in any way, shall not be assignable by
operation of law and shall not be subject to execution, attachment or similar process. Any attempted assignment, transfer,
pledge, hypothecation or other disposition of the Option contrary to the provisions hereof, or the levy of any execution,
attachment or similar process upon the Option, shall be null and void and without effect.

6. Termination of Option.

(a) To the extent not previously exercised, the Option shall terminate on the Expiration Date; provided,
however, that except as otherwise provided in this Section 6, the Option may not be exercised more than sixty (60) days
after the Termination of Service of Optionee for any reason (other than for Cause, as defined below. or upon Optionee’s

death or Disability). Within such sixty (60)day period, except as may otherwise be specifically provided in this Option
Agreement or any other agreement between Optionee and the Company which has been approved by the Board, Optionee
may exercise the Option only to the extent the same was exercisable on the date of such termination and said right to
exercise shall terminate at the end of such period.

(b) In the event of the Termination of Service of Optionee as a result of Optionee’s Disability, the Option
shall be exercisable for a period of six (6) months from the date of such termination, but in no event later than the
Expiration Date and only to the extent that the Option was exercisable on the date of such termination.

(¢) In the event of the Termination of Service of Optionee as a result of Optionee’s death, the Option shall
be exercisable by Optionee’s estate (or by the person who acquires the right to exercise the Option by will or by the laws of
descent and distribution) for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of such termination, but in no event later than the
Expiration Date and only to the extent that Optionee was entitled to exercise the Option on the date of death.

(d) In the event of the Termination of Service of Optionee for Cause (as defined below), unless otherwise
determined by the Board, (A) the Option shall expire as of the date of the first occurrence giving rise to such termination or
upon the Expiration Date, whichever is earlier; (B) Optionee shall have no rights with respect to any unexercised portion of
the Option; and (C) any Option Shares issued in respect of the exercise of the Option on or after the date of the first act
and/or event constituting Cause shall have occurred shall be deemed to have been issued in respect of an expired option,
and shall thereupon be deemed null and void ab initio, and Optionee shall have no claims to, or rights in, any such Option
Shares. “Cause” means with respect to Optionee, the occurrence of any of the following events, as reasonably determined
by the Board in each case: (i) Optionee’s commission of any felony or any crime involving fraud, dishonesty or moral
turpitude under the laws of the United States or any state thereof; (ii) Optionee’s commission, or attempted commission, of,
or participation in, a fraud or act of dishonesty against the Company or any Affiliate, or any of their respective employees,
officers or directors; (iii) Optionee’s intentional, material violation of any contract or agreement between the Optionee and
the Company or any Affiliate or of any statutory duty owed to the Company or any Affiliate; (iv) Optionee’s unauthorized
use or disclosure of the Company’s or an Affiliate’s material confidential information or trade secrets; (v) Optionee’s gross
misconduct in connection with Optionee’s service to the Company or an Affiliate; or (vi) Optionee’s failure to promptly
return all documents and other tangible items belonging to the Company or its Affiliates in the Participant’s possession or
control, including all complete or partial copies, recordings, abstracts, notes or reproductions of any kind made from or
about such documents or information contained therein, upon a Termination of Service for any reason. “Cause” shall not
require that a civil judgment or criminal conviction have been entered against, or guilty plea shall have been made by,
Optionee regarding any of the matters referred to in clauses (i) through (vi). Accordingly, the Board shall be entitled to
determine “Cause” based on the its good faith belief. If the Optionee is criminally charged with a felony or similar offense,
that shall be a sufficient, but not a necessaty, basis for such a belief. Unless otherwise specifically provided in the Grant
Notice, the foregoing definition of “Cause” shall apply for all purposes relating to the Option, notwithstanding any
employment or other agreement by and between Optionee and the Company or any Affiliate thereof that defines a
termination on account of “Cause” (or a term having similar meaning).
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(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Option is subject to earlier termination upon a Change in Control,
as provided in Section 3(b) above and in Section 11 of the Plan, or upon the dissolution of the Company. If the Option will
terminate in connection with a Change in Control, the Company shall provide written notice to Optionee of a proposed
transaction constituting a Change in Control, not less than ten (10) days prior to the anticipated effective date of the
proposed transaction.

(f) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no portion of any Option which is not exercisable by
Optionee upon the Termination of Service of such Optionee shall thercafier become exercisable, regardless of the reason for
such termination, except as may otherwise be specifically provided in this Option Agreement or any other agreement
between Optionee and the Company which has been approved by the Board.

7. No_Right to Continued Service. The Option does not confer upon Optionee any right to continue as an
Employee or Director of, or Consultant to, the Company or an Affiliate, nor does it limit in any way the right of the Company
or an Affiliate to terminate Optionee’s employment or other relationship with the Company or an Affiliate, at any time, with
or without Cause.

8. Notice of Tax Election. If Optionee makes any tax election relating to the treatment of the Option Shares under
the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, Optionee shall promptly notify the Company of such election.

9. Acknowledgments of Optionee. Optionee acknowledges and agrees that:

(a) Although the Company has made a good faith attempt to qualify the Option as an incentive stock
option within the meaning of Sections 421, 422 and 424 of the Code (if the Grant Notice provides that the Option is an
Incentive Stock Option), the Company does not warrant that the Option granted herein constitutes an “incentive stock
option” within the meaning of such sections, or that the transfer of Option Shares will be treated for federal income tax
purposes as specified in Section 421 of the Code.
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(b) Optionee shall notify the Company in writing within fifteen (15) days of each disposition (including a
sale, exchange, gift or a transfer of legal title) of the Option Shares made within two years after the issuance of such Option
Shares.

(c) If the Grant Notice provides that the Option is an Incentive Stock Option, Optionee understands that if,
among other things, he or she disposes of any Option Shares granted within two years of the granting of the Option to him
or her or within one year of the issuance of such shares to him or her, then such Option Shares will not qualify for the
beneficial treatment which Optionee might otherwise receive under Sections 421 and 422 of the Code.

(d) Optionee and his or her transferees shall have no rights as a shareholder with respect to any Option
Shares until the date of the issuance of a stock certificate evidencing such Option Shares. No adjustment shall be made for
dividends (ordinary or extraordinary, whether in cash, securities or other property) or distributions or other rights for which
the record date is prior to the date such stock certificate is issued, except as provided in Section 10 of the Plan.

(¢) Certificates representing Option Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of Incentive Stock Options
shall be imprinted with the following legend:

THE SHARES EVIDENCED BY THIS CERTIFICATE WERE ISSUED BY THE
CORPORATION TO THE REGISTERED HOLDER UPON EXERCISE OF AN
INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION AS DEFINED IN SECTION 422 OF THE INTERNAL
REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (“ISO”). IN ORDER TO OBTAIN THE
PREFERENTIAL TAX TREATMENT AFFORDED TO ISOs, THE SHARES SHOULD
NOT BE TRANSFERRED PRIOR TO THE LATER OF (A) TWO YEARS AFTER THE
DATE OF GRANT OF SUCH ISO, OR (B) ONE YEAR AFTER THE DATE OF
EXERCISE OF SUCH ISO. SHOULD THE REGISTERED HOLDER ELECT TO
TRANSFER ANY OF THE SHARES PRIOR TO SUCH DATE AND FOREGO ISO
TAX TREATMENT, THE TRANSFER AGENT FOR THE SHARES SHALL NOTIFY
THE CORPORATION IMMEDIATELY. THE REGISTERED HOLDER SHALL HOLD
ALL SHARES PURCHASED UNDER THE INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION IN THE
REGISTERED HOLDER'S NAME (AND NOT IN THE NAME OF ANY NOMINEE)
PRIOR TO THIS DATE OR UNTIL TRANSFERRED AS DESCRIBED ABOVE.

http:/Awww.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1510964/000101968714003799/cannavest_s8-ex0402.htm 9/12




www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1510964/00010196871400379%cannavest_s8-ex0402.htm

10. Withholding Obligations. Whenever Option Shares are to be issued under the Option Agreement, the Compauy
shall have the right to require Optionee to remit to the Company an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state and local
withholding tax requirements prior to issuance and/or delivery of any certificate or certificates for such Option Shares.

11. No Obligation to Notify. The Company shall have no duty or obligation to Optionee to advise Optionee as to
the time or manner of exercising the Option. Furthermore, except as specifically set forth herein or in the Plan, the Company
shall have no duty or obligation to warn or otherwise advise Optionee of a pending termination or expiration of the Option
or a possible period in which the Option may not be exercised. The Company has no duty or obligation to minimize the tax
consequences of the Option granted to Optionee.

12. Miscellaneous.

(a) This Option Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the parties’ heirs, legal representatives,
successors and permitted assigns.

(b) This Option Agreement, the Grant Notice and the Plan, constitute the entire agreement between the
parties pertaining to the subject matter contained herein and they supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements,
representations and understandings of the parties. No supplement, modification or amendment of this Option Agreement
shall be binding unless executed in writing by all of the partics. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Option
Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provisions, whether or not similar, nor shall any waiver
constitute a continuing waiver. No waiver shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party making the waiver. In
the event there exists any conflict or discrepancy between any of the terms in the Plan and this Option Agreement, the terms
of the Plan shall be controlling. A copy of the Plan has been delivered to Optionee and also may be inspected by Optionee
at the principal office of the Company.

(c) Should any portion of the Plan, the Grant Notice or this Option Agreement be declared invalid and
unenforceable, then such portion shall be deemed to be severable from this Option Agreement and shall not affect the
remainder hereof.

(d) All notices required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed effectively given: (i)
upon personal delivery to the party to be notified; (ii) three (3) days after having been sent by registered or certified mail,
return receipt requested, postage prepaid; or (iii) one (1) day after deposit with a nationally recognized ovemight courier,
specifying next day delivery, with written verification of receipt. All communications shall be sent to the Company at its
principal executive office, and to Optionee at the address set forth in the Company’s records, or at such other address as the
Company or Optionee may designate by ten (10) days advance written notice to the other party hereto.

(e) This Option Agreement shall be construed according to the laws of the State of Delaware.
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ATrtacuMeNT IT

AMENDED AND RESTATED 2013 EQuiTY INCENTIVE PLAN
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ArracaMent II1
Norice Or EXERCISE

CAnNAVEST Core.

2688 South Rainbow Blvd.
Suite B

Las Vegas, Nevada 89146

Date of Exercise:

Ladies and Gentlemen:

This constitutes notice under my stock option that I elect to purchase the number of shares for the price set forth
below.

Type of option (check one): Incentive O Nounstatutory 0

Stock option dated:

Number of shares as to which option is
exercised:

Certificates to be issued in name of:

Total exercise price: h) S

Cash or check payment delivered
herewith: $ S

By this exercise, I agree (i) to provide such additional documents as you may require pursuant to the terms of the
Amended and Restated 2013 Equity Incentive Plan, (ii) to provide for the payment by me to you (in the manner designated
by you) of your withholding obligation, if any, relating to the exercise of this option, and (iii) if this exercise relates to an
incentive stock option, to notify you in writing within fifteen (15) days after the date of any disposition of any of the shares
of Common Stock (the “Shares”) issued upon exercise of this option that occurs within two (2) years after the date of grant of
this option or within one (1) year after such shares of Common Stock are issued upon exercise of this option.

I acknowledge that all certificates representing any of the Shares subject to the provisions of the Option shall have
endorsed thereon appropriate legends reflecting restrictions pursuant to the Option Agreement, the Company’s Certificate of

Incorporation, Bylaws and/or applicable securities laws.

Very truly yours,

11
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CANYV stock quote - CANNAVEST CORP stock price - NASDAQ.com
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http:/Awww.nasdag.com/symbol/canv 11




EXHIBIT L

EXHIBIT L




SEC FORM 4

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP

OMB APPROV @

OMB Number:
Estimated average burden

Check this box if no bonger subject to .
Section 16. Form 4 or Form 5 hours per response: 0.5
obligations may continue. See
Instruction 1(b). Fited pursuant to Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
or Section 30(h) of the Investment Company Act of 1940
1. Name and Address of Reporting Person” 2. Issuer Name and Ticker or Trading Symbol 5. Relationship of Reporting Person(s} to Issuer
] - Check all applicable)
CannaVEST Corp. [ CANV ] ¢
Mona Michael Joseph Jr X Director 16% Ouner
X Officer (give title Other (specify
(Last) (First) (Middle) 3. Date of Earliest Transaction (Month/Day/Year) below) below)
2/ i
12/08/2014 President and CEO

2688 SOUTH RAINBOW BOULEVARD, SUITE B

4. If Amendment, Date of Origlnal Filed (Month/Day/Year)

6. Individual or Joint/Group Filing (Check Applicable

(Street) Line)
LAS VEGAS NV 89146 X Form filed by One Reporting Person
Form filed by More than One Reporting
P
(City) (State) Zip) erson
Table | - Non-Derivative Securities Acquired, Disposed of, or Beneficially Owned
1. Title of Security (Instr. 3) 2. Transaction 2A. Deemed 3. 4. Securities Acquired (A) or 5. Amount of 6. Ownership | 7. Nature of
Date Execution Date, Transaction | Disposed Of (D) (Instr. 3, 4 and 5) | Securities Form; Direct Indirect
(Month/Day/Year) | If any Code (Instr. Beneflcially (D) or Indirect | Beneflclal
{Month/Day/Year) | 8) QOwned Following (1) (Instr. 4) Ownership
Reported (Instr. 4}
(A} or . Transaction(s)
Code |V Amount ©) Price (Instr. 3 and 4)
Table [l - Derivative Securities Acquired, Disposed of, or Beneficially Owned
(e.g., puts, calls, warrants, options, convertible securities)
1. Title of 2 3. Transaction JA. Deemed 4. 5. Number of 6. Date Exercisable and | 7. Title and Amount of 8. Price 9. Number of | 10. 11. Nature
Derivative | Conversion | Date Execution Date, | Transaction | Derivative Expiration Date Securities Underlying of derivative QOwnership | of Indirect
Security or (Month/Day/Year) | if any Code (Instr. | Securities {Month/Day/Year) Derivative Security Derivative | Securities Form: Beneficial
{Instr, 3) Exerclse (Month/Day/Year) | 8) Acquired (A) {Instr. 3 and 4) Security Beneficially Direct (D) | Ownership
Price of or Disposed of {Instr. 5) [ Owned or Indirect | (Instr. 4)
Derivative (D) (Instr, 3, 4 Following (1) {Instr,
Security and 5) Reported 4)
Transaction(s)
Amount or (Instr. 4}
Date Explration Number of
Code | V {A) {D) | Exercisable | Date Title Shares
Employce
Slock $2.64 12/08/2014 4,000,000 0] 12/07/2024 | €Ommon | 4 000,000 $0 4,000,000 D
Option(right Stock ? ’
to buy)

Explanation of Responses:

1. The option is durarional-based, and vests and becomes exercisable as follows: 67% of the shares subject to the option are vested as of the vesting commencement date with rhe remainder vesting in twelve (12) equal
monthly installments measured trom Sanuary 31, 2015. The vesting commencement date for the option is December 8, 2014.

/s/ Michael Mona, Jr,
** Signature of Reporting Person

Reminder: Reperl on a separate line for each class of securities beneficially owned directly or indirectly.

* If the form is filed by more than one reporting person, see Instruction 4 (b)(v).

** Intentional misstatements or omissions of facts constitute Federal Criminal Violations See 18 U.S.C. 1001 and 15 U.S.C. 78ff(a).
Note: File three copies of this Form, one of which must be manually signed. If space is insufficient, see Instruction 6 for procedure.
Persons who respond to the collection of information contained in this form are not required to respond unless the form displays a currenfly valid OMB Number.

https:/mwww.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1510964/0001144204 14074534/xs| F 345X03/v396942_4.xm|

12/17/2014
Date
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CLERK OF THE COURT

DECD

Edward Kainen, Esq,

Nevada Bar No, 5029

Andrew L. Kynaston, Esq,
Nevadn Bar No. 8147

KAINEN LAW GROUP, PLLC
3303 Novat Street, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89129

PH: (702) 823-4900

FX: (702) 823-4488
Service@KaincnLawGroup.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA.

RHONDA HELENE MONA,

Plaintjff, CASE NO. D-15-517425-D

DEPT NO, B
8.

MICHAEL JOSEPH MONA,

Defendant.

Date of Hearing: July 23, 2015
Time of Hearing! 8:45 a.m,

s e N et N st ‘st e "t Sas?

DECREE OF DIVORCE.

The above-entitled cavse having come on for hearing this 23rd day of July, 2013, before
the above-entitled Contt, Plaintiff, REHONDA HELENE MONA ("Wife"), present and represented by
and through hex attorneys, EDWARD KAINEN, ESQ,, and ANDREW L. KYNASTON, ESQ,, of the
Jaw fitro of KAINEN LAW GROUP, PLLC; and Defendant, MICHAEL JOSEPHMONA (*Hissband"),
present and represented by and through his attomey, TERRY A. COFFING, ESQ., and TYE S.
HANSEEN, ESQ., of the law firm of MARQUIS, AURBACH, COFFING; the Coust having heard the
evidence of witnesses swom «nd examined in open Court, the cause having been submitted for decisjon
and judgment, and the Court bejnp fully advised, finds;

That the Court bas jutisdiction in the premises, both as to the subject matter thexeof as
well as the patties thereto; that Wife has been domieiled in this State for more than six weeks preceding

the commencement of this action, and that Wife is now domiciled in and is an actual, bona fide resident

1 e

2 State o Wutbrmithe hirties are entitled to an absolute Decree of Divorce on the grounds of
P o i ® WS T CEL T
fetutory) Dismi E‘By ey

mant
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4555989 FAMILYCOURT

incompatibility as set forth In Wife's Complaint for Divorce,

The Court finds that there are no xinor children of the parties, none adopted, and that
Wife is not pregnant.

"The Court firther finds that the partics entered into a Post-Marital Property Seitlement
Agreement (hereinafter “Agreement”) on ot about the 13" day of September, 2013, which this Court
determines bas met the requirements of NRS 123,070, 123.080, and 123.130(1), which statutory
provisions permit marsfed parties to enter into written contracts with regard to their property during the
martiage, including 2 right to transmute by such agreements community property to separate propetty,
and sepatate propesty to community property. See, Verheyden v, Verheyden, 104 Nev. 342, 757 P.2d
1328 (1988), Further, that in entering into the Agteement the parties provided full and fair disclosure,
each had the opportunity to consult with counse} (and indeed engaped counsel to assist them), and the
Agreement jncludes no provisions which would otherwise repder the Agreement void or
unconscionable, See, Coxd y. Neuhoff, 94 Nev. 21, 573 P.2d 1170 (1978), and Dimick.v. Dimick, 112
Nev. 402, 915 P.2d 254 (1996). That upon equal division of community propesty Wife preserved the
majority of her separate property designated to her under the Agreement, while Husband’s portion has
been dissipated by his spending and/or by his separate creditors or separate debts, This Court finds that
such post marital agrcements are permissible by law.

The Court further finds that Husband 1s presently subject to a significant outstanding
judgment that was rendered againgt him personslly, based upon a finding of fiaud resulting from his
personal conduct in another legal action (Case No. A«12-670352-F) to which Wife was not a patty nor
a named Defendant.

The Court further finds that said judgment and the liability associated therewith is the
sole and separate debt of Husband; Wife and her separate property assets as established under the
Agreement should not be subject to Husband’s outstanding judgment. Husband shall indemnify,
defend, and hold Wife harmless from his separate debts.

Page 2 of 6
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The Court further finds that Flusband has engaged in various personal acts, inchuding but
not limited to those actions which resulted jn the judgment against bim in Case No, A-12-670352-F, and
actions substantiafly encumbeting the marital residence without Wife’s knowledge or consent, which
acts constitute marital waste and therefor entitle Wife to be able to recejve her community propexty
share from assets that might otherwise be awarded to Husband in this divorce action, based upon the
holdings in Lofgron v. Lofgren, 112 Nev. 1282, 926 P.2d 296 (1996), 2nd Rutterman v. Putterman, 113
Nev. 606, 939 P.2d 1047 (1997).

THEREFORE, IT 1S HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the
bonds of matrimony heretofore and now existing between Husband and ‘Wife be, and the same are
hexeby wholly dissolved, and an absolute Decres of Divorce is hereby granted to Wife, and each of the
parties hercto is hereby restored to the status of a single, unmarried person.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that commencing August
1, 2013, and continuing on tite 1* day of each month thereafier, Husband shall be obligated to pay
perlodic alimony to Wife in the amount of $10,000,00 pet month, Said obligation to pay alimony shall
continue until such time as Husbaud's death, Wife's death, or Wife's remarriage, which ever event
occurs first. This obligation shall be paid via a dixect wage assignment throngh Husband’s employer.

IT ISFURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED, to the extent Wife suffers
any loss to her sole and separate property resulting from or related to the outstanding fraud judgment
against Husband, any other separate debts of Husband, or Busband’s failure to fulfill his obligations
herein, Wife shall be entitled to additional alimony sufficient to reimburse her for any such losses
pursuant to the holding in Siragusa v, Siragusa, 108 Nev, 987, 843 P.2d 807 (1992).

IT IS, FURTHER, ORDERED, ADJUDGE AND DECREED, based upon the findings
set forth herein-above, that the parties’ Post-Marital Property Settlement Agreement is valid and
enforcenble, Said Agreement is adopted by the Court and incoxporated into this Decree and the assets
set forth therein arc confitmed to each party as his/her sole and separate property, subject only to the
regolution of digputed third paxty claims in Case No, A-12-670352.

Page3 of 6
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4555983 FAMILYCOURT

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADTUDGED AND DECRERED, concerning the parties’
marital residence loc;ltcd at 2793 Red Ammow Dr., Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 (heteinafter “Red Artow
property”) titled in The Mona Family Trust, which community asset has an estimated fair market valuc
of $2,200,000.00, and is encumbercd by a first mortgage in the amount $1,172,402.97 owed to Bank
of Ammerica. Unbeknownst to Wife, Husband has further encumbered said residence by taking at least
three additional notes/obligations totaling approximately $2,142,400.51, which resulted in the loss of
Wife's community property equity in said residence, Said actions by Husband constitute marital waste
and entitles Wife to rcceive het equal share from assets that might otherwise he awarded to Husband,
See, Loferen v. Lofgren, 112 Nev, 1282, 926 P.2d 296 (1996), aud Puttcrran v. Putteripan, 113 Nev,
606, 939 P.2d 1047 (1997). But for Husband’s improper actjons, said residence would have equity in
the approximate amount of $1,000,000,00, to which each party would have been entitled to one-half.
Said residence and the entirety of the liabilitics and encumbrances thereon is therefor the sole and
separate obligation of Husband, and Wife's interest therein shall be offset by the award of other assets
as set forth herein, Husband shall indemnify, defend and hold Wife harmless therefrom,

T IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED, that the parties presently
hold 4,000,000 stock. options in CannaVest, the value of which is unknown and cannot be determined
at this time, however, the parties acknowledge that the strike price for said options exceeds the curtent
market price, As a result of Husband's acts constituting marital waste, including those with respect to
the marital residence, Wife shall be awarded 3,000,000 shares of said stock options, and Husband shall
be awarded 1,000,000 stock options,

IT1S FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED ANDDECREED, that from Wife's separate:
property funds, she loaned approximately §787,760.88 to their son, Michsel Moxa, I, for the purchase
of ahome by their son. Accordingly, there is a $787,760.88 receivable due to Wife froin their son. Said
receivable is confixmed to Wife as her sole and separate property.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the parties are entitled
to any returns on their respective separate property investments in the entity called ROEN. To the extent
any funds ate recovercd from said jnvestments, they shall each be entitled to their separate property
investments.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Wife shall further

bave confirmed as her sole and separate propeity the following:

1)

2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

Any and all batk accounts in Wife’s nawe alone, including but not limited to her
separate property bank accounts at Bank of George and Bank of Nevads;

Wife’s vehicle, 2014 Jaguar, free and clear of any encumbrances;

One-half of any tax refund received for the 2014 tax year;

The two family dogs, Rex and Lucky;

Wife’s personal propetty, including bher jewelry, clothing, and personalties; and

The furniture, furnishings, and firearms in her possession presently located in the Red
Arrow property.

IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Husband shall further

have confirmed a3 his sole and separate property the following:

1y
2)
3
4)
3)

Any and all bank accounts in Husband's name alone;

Husband's vehicle, 2006 Mercedes SL, free and clear of any encumbrances;

One-half of any tax refund received for the 2014 tax year; and

Husbaud's personal property, including his clothing, jewelry and personaities;

Any and all assets aod libilities held through the entity known as MONACO,

ITIS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGE AND DECREED that Husband shall bo solely

responsible for his separate debts, including but not limited to the fraud judgment against him arising

out.of the case of Far West Industries v, Rio Vista Nevada, LL.C, et. al, (Case A-12-670352-F), and shall
indemnify, defend, and hold Wife hatmless therefrom,

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGE AND DECREED that Husband shall be solely

responsible for his separate deht to Mike Sifen, and shall indemnify, defend and hold Wife hammuless

therefrom.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DBCREED that each party shall

submit the information required in NRS 1258.055, NRS 125.130 and NRS 125,230 on a scparate form
to the Coutt and the Welfare Division of the Department of Human Resources within ten (10) days from

the date this Decrae is filed. Such information shall be maintained by the Clerk in a confidential manner

Page 5 0f 6
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1
2
3 information become inacecurate,
4
5)| his/her own attorney’s fees and costs incurred in this matter.
6
7
8
91 such documents as necessary to effectuate the provisions of this Decree of Divorce.
A
10 DATED and DONE this ®3__ day of July, 2015,
11
Q 12
» [
DIS
AP ERE
% §§ S & " Submitted by:
S8 qd E
= LS KAINEN LAW GROUP, PLLC
;%%’5% 13 i
573 88 16] By
§5§§17 - Novad . W .
= ANDREW L. KYNASTON, ESQ
18 Nevada Bar No. 8147
3303 Novat Sireet, Suite 200
19 Las Vegas, Nevada 89129
20 Attomeys for Plaintiff
- Approved as to Form and Content:
” MARQUIS A ACH COFFING
23| By:
TERRY A. COFFING/ESQ,
24 Nevada Bar No, 4949
TYE S. HANSEEN, ESQ,
25 Nevada Bar No. 10365
10001 Park Run Drive
26 J.as Vegas, Nevada 89145
Attorneys for Defendant
27
28

and pot past of the public record, Bach party shall update the information fjled with the Court and the
Welfare Division of the Depattment of Human Resources within ten (10) days should any of that

IT I8 FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that each party shall bear
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the parties herein sign

any and all documents necessary to effectuate the transfer of the property as set forth hercin. Should

cither party fail to execute any such documents, the Clerk of the Court shall be authorized to execute

Page 6 of 6
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DOC# 2015-0410793
T

\Q RECORDING REQUESTED BY Aug 04, 2015 08:29 AM
Terry A, Coffing, Esq. OFFICIAL RECORDS
v ! Ernest J. Dronenburg, Jr.,
Marquis Aurbach Coffing, P.C. SAN DIEGO COUNTY RECORDER
10001 Park' Run Drive FEES: $51
Las Vegas, NV 89145 ) : PCOR N/A PAGES: 7

AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL DOCUMENT TO:
Terry A. Coffing, Esq.

Marquis Aurbach Coffing, P.C.

10001 Park Run Drive . )
Las Vegas, NV 89145 Space Above This Line for Recorder’s Use Only

A.P.N.: 535-114-0411

DEED OF TRUST WITH ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS
(LONG FORM)

THIS DEED OF TRUST, made this July ﬁ, 2015, between

TRUSTOR: Lundene Enterprises LLC, a Nevada limited liability company
whose address is 877 Island Avenue, Unit 701, San Diego, CA 92101
TRUSTEE: First American Title Insurance Company

and BENEFICIARY: Rhonda Mona

whose address Is 59 Promontory Ridge Drive, Las Vegas, NV 89135

WITNESSETH: That Trustor grants to Trustee in trust, with power of sale, that property in the City of San Dlego,
County of San Diego, State of Callfornia, described as:

A CONDOMINIUM ("CONDOMINIUM”) LOCATED ON THE REAL PROPERTY DESCRIBED AS LOT 1 OF
SUBDIVISION MAP NO. 14325, FILED IN THE OFFICIAL RECORDS OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA ON
DECEMBER 28, 2001 (“PROPERTY"), COMPRISED OF:

PARCEL 1 |
A SEPARATE INTEREST IN UNIT NO. 701, AS DESIGNATED ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN FOR PARKLOFT
CONDOMINIUMS RECORDED ON MARCH 8, 2002 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 02-198684 AND AS AMENDED AUGUST
21, 2002 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 02-708932 BOTH IN THE OFFICIAL RECORDS OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY,
CALIFORNIA ("CONDOMINIUM PLAN™).

PARCEL 2:

AN UNDIVIDED 1/120TH INTEREST IN THE UNDIVIDED INTEREST COMMON AREA AS DESCRIBED IN THE
DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR PARKLOFT CONDOMINIUM OWNERS
ASSOCIATION RECORDED ON MARCH 8, 2002 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 02-198685, IN THE OFFICIAL RECORDS OF
SAN DIEGO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA (*DECLARATION") AND ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN, WHICH WILL NOT BE
OWNED BY THE PARKLOFT CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSOCIATION (“ASSOCIATION").

MIM

(Continued on Page 2)
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PARCEL 3:

A NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR INGRESS, EGRESS, USE, ENJOYMENT AND SUPPORT OVER THE COMMON
AREA, AS DESCRIBED IN THE DECLARATION AND ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN, WHICH WILL BE OWNED BY
THE ASSOCIATION.

EXCEPTING THEREFROM

ALL NUMBERED CONDOMINIUM UNITS DESCRIBED IN THE DECLARATION AND ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN
OTHER THAN THE UNIT CONVEYED AS PARCEL 1 ABOVE,

THOSE PORTIONS OF THE EXCLUSIVE USE COMMON AREA, AS DESCRIBED IN THE DECLARATION AND ON THE
CONDOMINIUM PLAN, WHICH ARE SET ASIDE AND ALLOCATED FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF OWNERS OF
CONDOMINIUMS (AS DEFINED IN THE DECLARATION) OTHER THAN THE CONDOMINIUM CONVEYED HEREIN.

PARCEL 4:

THE EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO USE THE FOLLOWING ELEMENTS OF THE COMMON AREA (DESIGNATED AS
EXCLUSIVE USE COMMON AREA), AS SHOWN ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN, WHICH WILL BE OWNED THE
ASSOCIATION.

together with rents, issues and profits thereof, subject, however, to the right, power and authority hereinafter
given to and conferred upon Beneficiary to collect and apply such rents, issues and profits for the purpose of
securing (1) payment of the sum of $787,760.88 U.S., with interest thereon according to the terms of a
promissory note or notes of even date herewith made by Trustor, payable to order of Beneficiary, and extensions
or renewals thereof, (2) the performance of each agreement of Trustor incorporated by reference or contained
herein and (3) payment of additional sums and Interest thereon which may hereafter be loaned to Trustor, or hls
successors or assigns, when evidenced by a promissory note or notes reciting that they are secured by this Deed
of Trust.

A, To protect the security of this Deed of Trust, Trustor agrees:;

Myt

(Continued on Page 3)
Page 2 of 8




1)

2)

3)

4

5)

1

2)

3)

To keep said property in good condition and repair, not to remove or demolish any bullding
thereon; to complete or restore promptly and In good and workmanlike manner any building
which may be constructed, damaged or destroyed thereon and to pay when due all claims for
labor performed and materials furnished therefore, to comply with all laws affecting said property
or requiring any alterations or improvements to be made thereon, not to commit or permit waste
thereof; not to commit, suffer or permit any act upon said property in violation of law; to
cultivate, irrigate, fertilize, fumigate, prune and do all other acts which from the character or use
of said property may be reasonably necessary, the specific enumerations herein not excluding the
general,

To provide, maintain and deliver to Beneficiary fire Insurance satisfactory to and with loss
payable to Beneficiary. The amount collected under any fire or other insurance policy may be
applied by Beneficiary upon Indebtedness secured hereby and in such order as Beneficiary may
determine, or at option of Beneficlary the entire amount so collected or any part thereof may be
released to Trustor. Such application or release shall not cure or waive any default or notice of
default hereunder or Invalidate any act done pursuant to such notice.

To appear In and defend any action or proceeding purporting to affect the security hereof or the
rights or powers of Beneficiary or Trustee; and to pay all costs and expenses, including cost of
evidence of title and attorney's fees in a reasonable sum, in any such action or proceeding in
which Beneficiary or Trustee may appear, and in any sult brought by Beneficiary to foreclose this
Deed.

To pay, at least ten days before delinquency all taxes and assessments affecting said property,
including assessments on appurtenant water stock; when due, all encumbrances, charges and
liens, with interest, on said property or any part thereof, which appear to be prior or superior
hereto; all cost, fees and expenses of this Trust

Should Trustor fail to make any payment or to do any act as herein provided, then Beneficiary or
Trustee, but without obligation so to do and without notice to or demand upon Trustor and
without releasing Trustor from any obligation hereof, may; make or do the same In such manner
and to such extent as either may deem necessary to protect the security hereof, Beneficlary or
Trustee being authorized to enter upon said property for such purposes; appear in and defend
any action purporting to affect the security hereof or the rights or powers of Beneficiary or
Trustee; pay, purchase, contest or compromise any encumbrance, charge or fien which In the
judgment of either appears to be prior or superior hereto; and, in exercising any such powers,
pay necessary expenses, employ counsel and pay his reasonable fees,

To pay immediately and without demand all sums so expended by Beneficiary or Trustee, with
interest from date of expenditure at the amount allowed by law in effect at the date hereof, and
to pay for any statement provided for by law in effect at the date hereof regarding the obligation
secured hereby any amount demanded by the Beneficlary not to exceed the maximum allowed
by law at the time when said statement is demanded.

B.  Itis mutually agreed:

That any award In connection with any condemnation for public use of or injury to said property
or any part thereof is hereby assigned and shall be paid to Beneficlary who may apply or release
such moneys recelved by him In the same manner and with the same effect as above provided
for disposition of proceeds of fire or other insurance.

That by accepting payment of any sum secured hereby after its due date, Beneficiary does not
walve his right elther to require payment when due of all other sums so secured or to declare
default for failure so to pay.

That at any time or from time to time, without ifabliity therefore and without notice, upon written
request of Beneficiary and presentation of this Deed and said note for endorsement, and without

(Continugd on Page 4) MTM
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5)

6)

7)

affecting the personal liabllity of any person for payment of the indebtedness secured hereby,
Trustee may: reconvey any part of sald property; consent to the making of any map or plat
thereof; join in granting any easements thereon, or join in any extension agreement or any
agreement subordinating the lien or charge hereof.

That upon written request of Beneficiary stating that all sums secured hereby have been pald,
and upon surrender of this Deed and said note to Trustee for cancellation and retention or other
disposition as Trustee in its sole discretion may choose and upen payment of its fees, Trustee
shall reconvey, without warranty, the property then held hereunder. The recitals in such
reconveyance of any matters or facts shall be conclusive proof of the truthfulness thereof. The
Grantee in such reconveyance may be described as "the person or persons legally entitled
thereto",

That as addltional security, Trustor hereby gives to and confers upon Beneficiary the right, power
and authority, during the continuance of these Trusts, to collect the rents, Issues and profits of
said property, reserving unto Trustor the right; prior to any defauit by Trustor in payment of any
indebtedness secured hereby or in performance of any agreement hereunder, to collect and
retain such rents, issues and profits as they become due and payable. Upon any such default,
Beneflclary may at any time without notice, either in person, by agent, or by a receiver to be
appointed by a court, and without regard to the adequacy of any security for the indebtedness
hereby secured, enter upon and take possession of said property or any part thereof, in his own
name sue for or otherwise collect such rents, issues, and profits, including those past due and
unpaid, and apply the same, less costs and expenses of operation and collection, inciuding
reasonable attorney's fees, upon any indebtedness secured hereby, and In such order as
Beneficiary may determine. The entering upon and taking possession of said property, the
collecting of such rents, issues and profits and the application thereof as aforesaid, shail not cure
or walve any default or notice of default hereunder or invalidate any act done pursuant to such
notice.

That upon default by Trustor in payment of any indebtedness secured hereby or in performance
of any agreement hereunder, Beneficlary may declare all sums secured hereby immediately due
and payable by delivery to Trustee of written declaration of default and demand for sale and of
written notice of default and of election to cause to be sold said property, which notice shall
cause to be filed for record. Beneficiary also shall deposit with Trustee this Deed, said note and
all documents evidencing expenditures secured hereby.

After the lapse of such time as may then be required by law following the recordation of said
notice of default, and notice of said having been given as then required by law, Trustee, without
demand on Trustor, shall sell said property at the time and place fixed by it in sald notice of sale,
either as a whole or in separate parcels, and In such order as it may determine, at public auction
to the highest bidder for case in lawful money of the United States, payable at time of sale.
Trustee may postpone sale of all or any portion of sald property by public announcement at such
time and place of sale, and from time to fime thereafter may postpone such sale by public
announcement at the time fixed by the preceding postponement. Trustee shall dellver to such
purchaser its deed conveying the property so sold, but without any covenant or warranty,
express or implied. The recitals in such deed of any matters or facts shall be conclusive proof of
the truthfulness thereof. Any person, incuding Trustor, Trustee, or Beneficiary as herelnafter
defined, may purchase at such safe.

After deducting all costs, fees and expenses of trustee and of this Trust, including costs of
evidence of title in connectlon with sale, Trustee shall apply to proceeds of sale to payment of: all
sums expended under the terms hereof, not then repaid, with accrued interest at the amount
allowed by law in effect at the date hereof; all other sums then secured hereby; and the
remainder, if any, to the person or persons legally entitled thereto.

Beneficiary, or any successor in ownership of any indebtedness secured hereby, may from time
to time, by Instrument In writing, substitute a successor or successors to any Trustee named

(Continued on Page 5)
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9)

10)
Dated:
SIGNED:

herein or acting hereunder, which Instrument, executed by the Beneficiary and duly
acknowledged and recorded in the office of the recorder of the county or counties where said
property is situated shall be conclusive proof of proper substitution of such successor Trustee or
Trustees, who shall, without conveyance from the Trustee predecessor, succeed to all its tltle,
estate, rights, powers and duties. Said instrument must contain the name of the original Trustor,
Trustee and Beneficiary hereunder, the book and page where this Deed Is recorded and the
name and address of the new Trustee.

That this Deed applies to, inures to the benefit of, and binds ail parties hereto, their helrs,
legatees, devisees, administrators, executors, successors and assigns. The term Beneficiary shall
mean the owner and holder, including pledgees, of the note secured hereby, whether or not
named as Beneficiary herein. In this Deed, whenever the context so requires the masculine
gender includes the feminine and/or neuter, and the singular number includes the plural.

That Trustee accepts this Trust when this Deed, duly executed and acknowledged, is made a
public record as provided by law. Trustee Is not obligated to notify any party hereto of pending
sale under any other Deed of Trust or of any action or proceeding in which Trustor, Beneficiary
or Trustee shall be a party unless brought by Trustee.

Trustor requests that copies of the notice of default and notice of sale be sent to Trustor's
address as shown above.

Beneficlary requests that copies of notices of foreclosure from the holder of any lien which has
priority over this Deed of Trust be sent to Beneficiary's address, as set forth on page one of this
Deed of Trust, as provided by Section 2924(b) of the California Civil Code.

Lundene Enterprises LLC,
a Nevada limited liability company

MICHAEL MONA III, Manager

A Mones

MI™M
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/A notary public or other officer compieting this certificate verifies only the Identity o the individual who signed
the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfuiness, accuracy, or validity of tha
document.

seor (& "' PO rnia )SS

COUNTY OF San 0| £90 )

On 7‘/5{5)/,5 \ ,be}oreme, OMQV ﬁ' KQV]GH
Public, personally appeared MicheaP! 57 Mpno F

» who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to

be the person(sj whose name¢s is/ape’ subscribed to the within Instrument and acknowledged to me that
he/sheftmey executed the same in his/hesftheir authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/herftheir signature(e) on
the instrument the persons?, or the entity upon behalf of which the persongs acted, executed the instrument.

, Notary

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph Is
true and correct,

OMAR R. KANAN 2

Cow, # 2098274 3
NQTARY PUBLIG-&A::?RN!A pi
My céu‘xﬂ.oslfgu Fis, 13, W8T

WITNESS my hand and official seal.

Signature

This area for officlal notarial seal

(Continued on Page 8) MIM
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Filed for Record at Request of:

Michael D, Sifen

c/o R. Edward Bourdon Jr., Attorney
281 Independence Blvd.

Pembroke One, Fifth Floor

Virginia Beach, Virginia 23462

DEED OF TRUST

THIS DEED OF TRUST, made this i+ day of July, 2015, between LUNDENE ENTERPRISES LLC, a Nevada
limited liability company, GRANTOR, and First American Title Company, a corporation, TRUSTEE, whose
address is 7676 Hazard Center Dr. Suite 1100, San Diego, CA 92108, and MICHAEL D. SIFEN, BENEFICIARY.

WITNESSETH: Grantor hereby bargains, sells and conveys to Trustee in Trust, with power of sale, the following
described real property situated in the County of San Diego, State of California, legally described as follows
(hereafter the “Real Property”):

See Legal Description Attached as Exhibit "A" hereto and incorporated herein as if fully set forth.

APN: 535-114-04-11

TOGETHER with all right, title and interest of Grantor in all buildings and improvements now located or hereafter
to be constructed thereon (collectively “Improvements”);

TOGETHER with all right, title and interest of Grantor in the appurtenances, hereditaments, privileges, reversions,
remainders, profits, easements, franchises and tenements thereof, including all timber, natural resources, minerals,
oil, gas and other hydrocarbon substances thereon or therein, air rights, and any land lying in the streets, roads or
avenues, open or proposed, in front of or adjoining the Real Property and Improvements;

TOGETHER with all of Grantor’s right, title and interest to all proceeds (including claims or demands thereto) from
the conversion, voluntary or involuntary, of any of the Real Property and Improvements into cash or liquidated
claims, including, without limitation proceeds of all present and fisture fire, hazard or casualty insurance policies and
all condemnation awards or payments in lieu thereof made by any public body or decree by any court of competent
Jurisdiction for taking or for degradation of the value in any condemnation or eminent domain proceeding, and all
causes of action and the proceeds thereof of all types for any damage or injury to the Real Property and
Improvements or any part thereof, including, without limitation, causes of action arising in tort or contract and
causes of action for fraud or concealment of a material fact, and all proceeds from the sale of the Real Property
and/or Improvements,

TOGETHER with all right, title and interest of Grantor in and to (i) all leases, rental agreements and other contracts
and agreements rolating to use and possession (collectively “Leases™) of any of the Real Property or Improvements,
and i) the rents, issues, profits and proceeds therefrom together with all guarantees thereof and all deposits (to the
full extent permitted by law) and other security therefore (collectively “Rents”). The Real Property, Improvements,
Leases, Rents and all other right, title and interest of Grantor described above are hereafter collectively referred to as
the “Property”.

1. Obligations Secured. Grantor makes this Deed of Trust for the purpose of securing;
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a. Payment of all indebtedness and other obligations evidenced by a promissory note in the principal
amount of §1,000,000 dated February 28, 2014, made by Michae! J. Mona III, manager and sole member of Grantor,
as principal and/or guarantor and Beneficiary as party thereto. .

b. Payment and performance of all obligations of Grantor under this Deed of Trust, including
payment of all sums expended or advanced by Beneficiary (or any one of them) hereunder and under the above-
mentioned promissory note, together with interest thereon, in the preservation, enforcement and realization of the
rights of Beneficiary hereunder or under any of the other obligations secured hereby including, but not limited to,
attorney’s fees, court costs, other litigation expenses, and foreclosure expenses,

c. Payment and performance of all future advances and other obligations that the then record owner
of all or part of tho Property may agree to pay or perform (whether as principal, surety or guarantor) for the benefit
of Beneficiary, when such obligation is evidenced by a writing which states that it is secured by this Deed of Trust.

d. All modifications, extensions and renewals (if any) of one or more of the obligations secured
hereby, including without limitation (i) modifications of the required principal payment dates or interest payment
dates, deferring or accelerating payment dates wholly or partly, and (i) modifications, extensions or renewals at a
different rate of interest, whether or not, in the case of a note or other contract, the modification, extension or
renewal is evidenced by a new or additional promissory note or other contract.

The obligations secured by this Deed of Trust are herein collectively called the “Secured Obligations”, All persons
who may have or acquire an interest in the Property shall be deemed to have notice of, and shall be bound by, the
terms of the Agreement, this Deed of Trust, and any other instruments or documents made or entered into in
connection herewith (collectively “Documents™) and each of the Secured Obligations,

2. Leases and Rents.

a Neither the assignment of the Leases and Rents set forth in this Deed of Trust nor any provision of
the Agreement shall impose upon Beneficiary any duty to produce Rents from the Property or cause Beneficiary to
be (2) a “mortgagee in possession” for any purpose, (b) responsible for performing any of the obligations of the
lessor under any Lease or (c) responsible or liable for any waste by any lessees or any other parties, for any
dangerous or defective condition of the Property, for any nogligence in the management, upkeep, repair or control of
the Property or for any other act or omission by any other person.

b. Grantor covenants and agrees that Grantor shall not (i) amend, modify or change any term,
covenant or condition of any Lease in existence on the date of this Deed of Trust without the prior written consent of
Beneficiary or (ii) enter into any Lease of the Property, or any interest therein, or any portion there of, from and after
the date of this Deed of Trust without the prior written consent of Beneficiary. Grantor agrees that commencing with
an Event of Default, as hereinafier defined, each tenant of the Property, or any portion thereof, shall make such
Rents payable to and pay such Rents to Beneficiary, or Beneficiary’s agent, upon Beneficiary’s written demand to
each tenant therefor, without any liability on the part of such tenant to inquire further as to the existence of a Default
by Grantor, provided, however, in the event of Grantor’s cure of any such Default as herein provided, Grantor shall
again be entitled to recover and collect such Rents as provided above prior to the event of Default,

c. Grantor shall (i) fulfill or perform each and ever condition and covenant of each Lease to be
fulfilled or performed by the lessor thereunder, (ii) give prompt notice to Beneficiary of any notice of default by the
lessor or the lessee thereunder received by Grantor together with a complete copy of any such notice, and (iii)
enforce, short of termination thereof, the performance or observance of each and every covenant and condition
thereof by the lessee thereunder to be performed or observed,
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d. Grantor shall furnish to Beneficiary, within thirty (30} days after a request by Beneficiary, a
written statement containing the names of all lessees of the Property, the terms of their respective Leases, the spaces
occupied and the rentals payable and received thereunder and a copy of each Lease.

3. Further Covenants of Grantor. To protect the security of this Deed of Trust, Grantor further covenants
and agrees:
a. To keep the property in good condition and repair; to permit no waste thereof, to complete any

building, structure or improvement being built or about to be built thereon; to restore promptly any building,
structure or improvement thereon which may be damaged or destroyed; and to comply with all laws, ordinances,
regulations, covenants, conditions and restrictions affecting the property.

b. To pay before delinquent all lawful taxes and assessments upon the property; to keep the property
free and clear of all other charges, liens or encumbrances impairing the security of this Deed of Trust except as
otherwise expressly authorized in writing by the Beneficiary.

C. To keep all buildings now or hereafier erected on the property described herein continuously
insured against loss by fire or other hazards in an amount not less than the total debt secured by this Deed of Trust.
All policies shall be held by the Beneficiary, and be in such companies as the Beneficiary may approve and have
loss payable first the Beneficiary and then to the Grantor. The amount collected under any insurance policy may be
applied upon any indebtedness hereby secured in such order as the Beneficiary shall determine. Such application by
the Beneficiary shall not cause discontinuance of any proceedings to foreclose this Deed of Trust. In the event of
foreclosure, all rights of the Grantor in insurance policies then in force shall pass to the purchaser &t the foreclosure
sale.

d To defend any action or proceeding purporting to affect the security hereof or the rights or powers
of the Beneficiary or Trustee, and to pay all costs and expenses, including cost of title search and attorney’s fees in a
reasonable amount, in any such action or proceeding, and in any suit brought by the Beneficiary to foreclose the
Deed of Trust.

e To pay all costs, fees and expenses in connection with this Deed of Trust, including the expenses
of the Trustee incurred in enforcing the obligation secured hereby and Trustee’s and attomney’s fees actually
incurred, as provided by statute,

f Should Grantor fail to pay when due any taxes, assessments, insurance premiums, liens,
encumbrances or other charges against the property hereinabove described, Beneficiary may pay the same, and the
amount so paid, with interest at the rate set forth in the note secured hereby, shall be added to and become a part of
the debt secured in this Deed of Trust.

4, Additional Agreements of Parties. It is mutually agreed that:

a. In the event any portion of the Property is taken or damaged in an eminent domain proceeding, the
entire amount of the award or such portion as may be necessary to fully satisfy the obligations secured hereby, shall
be paid to Beneficiary to be applied to said obligation.

b. By accepting payment of any sum secured hereby after its due date, Beneficiary does not waive
their rights to require prompt payment when due of all other sums so secured or to declare default for failure to so

pay.
c. The Trustee shall reconvey all or any part of the Property covered by this Deed of Trust to the

person entitled thereto, on written request of the Grantor and the Beneficiary, or upon satisfaction of the obligations
secured and written request for reconveyance made by the Beneficiary or the person entitled thereto.
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d. Upon default by Grantor in the payment of any indebtedness secured hereby or in the performance
of any agreement contained herein, all sums secured hereby shall immediately become due and payable at the option
of the Beneficiary. In such event and upon written request of the Beneficiary, Trustee shall sell the trust property, in
accordance with the laws of the State of California, at public auction to the highest bidder. Any person except the
Trustse may bid at the Trustee's sale. Trustee shall apply the proceeds of the sale as follows: (a) to the expense of
the sale, including a reasonable Trustee’s fee and attorney’s fee; (b) to the obligations secured by this Deed of Trust;
(c) the surplus, if any, shall be distributed to the persons entitled thereto.

e Trustee shall deliver to the purchaser at the sale its deed, without warranty, which shall convey to
the purchaser the interest in the property which Grantor has or had the power to convey at the time of his execution
of this Deed of Trust, and such as he may have acquired thereafter, Trustee’s deed shall recite the facts showing that
the sale was conducted n compliance with all the requirements of law and of this Deed of Trust, which recital shall
be prima facie evidence of such compliance and conclusive evidence thereof in favor of bona fide purchaser and
encumbrances for value.

f. The power of sale conferred by this Deed of Trust and by the law of the State of California is not
an exclusive remedy; Beneficiary may cause this Deed of Trust to be foreclosed as a mortgage.

g In the event of the death, incapacity, disability or resignation of Trustee, Beneficiary may appoint
in writing a successor trustee, and upon the recording of such appointment in the mortgage records of the county in
which this Deed of Trust is recorded, the successor trustee shall be vested with all powers of the original trustee.
The Trustee is not obligated to notify any party hereto of pending sale under any other Deed of Trust or of any
action or proceeding in which Grantor, Trustee or Beneficiary shall be a party unless such action or proceeding is
brought by the Trustee.

h. This Deed of Trust applies to, inures to the benefit of, and is binding not only on the parties
hereto, but on their heirs, devisees, legatees, administrators, executors and assigns. The term Beneficiary shall mean
the holders and owners of the note secured hereby, whether or not named as a Beneficiary herein.

“GRANTOR"
AW Move.

Michael J. Mona I, Manager and Sole Member
Lundent gnlevprises, LLC

STATE OF CALIFORNIA )

) ss.
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO )
On this | l”‘ day of July, 2015, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of California, duly
commissioned and swom, personally appeared Michael J. Mone III, to me known to be the Manager and duly
authorized agent of Grantor and who acknowledged that he executed the foregoing instrument on behalf of Grantor
for the uses and purposes therein mentioned.
Witness my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year first above written.

‘W hoda & e anin

Notary Public in and for the State of California

1 RHODA E. LELEVIER
Commission # 2108659
Page 4 of 4 Notary Public - California Initials: MIT™M
Son Diego County m—
5 25, 2019
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EXHIBIT A

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Real property in the City of San Diego, County of San Diego, State of California, described as
follows:

A CONDOMINIUM ("CONDOMINIUM") LOCATED ON THE REAL PROPERTY DESCRIBED AS LOT 1
QF SUBDIVISION MAP NO. 14325, FILED IN THE OFFICTAL RECORDS OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY,
CALIFORNIA ON DECEMBER 28, 2001 ("PROPERTY"), COMPRISED OF;

PARCEL 1;

A SEPARATE INTEREST IN UNIT NO. 701, AS DESIGNATED ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN FOR
PARKLOFT CONDOMINIUMS RECORDED ON MARCH B, 2002 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 02-198684
AND AS AMENDED AUGUST 21, 2002 AS INSTRUMENT NQ. 02-708932 BOTH IN THE OFFICTAL
RECORDS OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, CALTFORNIA ("CONDOMINIUM PLAN"),

PARCEL 2:

AN UNDIVIDED 1/120TH INTEREST IN THE UNDIVIDED INTEREST COMMON AREA AS
DESCRIBED IN THE DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR
PARKLOFT CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSOCIATION RECORDED ON MARCH 8, 2002 AS
INSTRUMENT NO. 02-198685, IN THE OFFICIAL RECORDS OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY,
CALIFORNIA ("DECLARATION") AND ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN, WHICH WILL NOT BE
OWNED BY THE PARKLOFT CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSOCIATION ("ASSOCIATION").

PARCEL 3:

A NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR INGRESS, EGRESS, USE, ENJOYMENT AND SUPPORT OVER
THE COMMON AREA, AS DESCRIBED IN THE DECLARATION AND ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN,
WHICH WILL BE OWNED BY THE ASSOCIATION.

EXCEPTING THEREFROM

A. ALL NUMBERED CONDOMINIUM UNITS DESCRIBED IN THE DECLARATION AND ON THE
CONDGMINIUM PLAN OTHER THAN THE UNIT CONVEYED AS P, I CEL 1 ABOVE,

B. THOSE PORTIONS OF THE EXCLUSIVE USE COMMON AREA, I DESCRIBED IN THE
DECLARATION AND ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN, WHICH ARE SET ASIDE AND ALLGCATED

.FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF OWNERS OF CONDOMINIUYS (AS DEFINED IN THE

DECLARATION) CTHER THAN THE CONDOMINIUM CONVEYED HEREIN,
PARCEL 4:
THE EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO USE THE FOLLOWING ELEMENTS OF THE COMMON AREA

(DESIGNATED AS EXCLUSIVE USE COMMON AREA), AS SHOWN ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN,
WHICH WILL BE QWNED THE ASSQCIATION.

APN: 535-114-04-11




CALIFORNIA ALL-PURPOSE ACKNOWLEDGMENT CIVIL CODE § 1189

A AN
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A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who signed the
document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document,

State of California )

County of _Sam §O1 emad )
On Av\\\.\\) 3RS before me, _M.. & y;g‘; e \okora S\ v

Date Here Insert Name 3nd Title of the Officer
personally appeared _Y\ychael V. Mana T™H —
Name(s) of Signer(s)
- —

who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(sf"whose name(sy is/ard
subscribed to the within instrument and acknowiedged to me that he/sté/they executed the same in
his/aef/thelr authorized capacity(ies], and that by his/ber7tbeir signaturetsion the instrument the personsy,
or the entity upon behalf of which the person}sﬁcted, executed the instrument.

| certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws

M. RUFFIER ' of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph
Commisslon # 1980743 L4 is true and correct.
Notary Publlc - Calitornla £ .
San Diego County Z WITNESS my hand an icial seal.

W My Comm. Expires Jun 3, 2016

-

Signature /\

lfqna\fure of Notary Public

Place Notary Seal Above

OPTIONAL
Though this section is optional, completing this information can deter afteration of the document or
fraudulent reattachment of this form to an unintended document.

Description of Attached Document

Title or Type of Document: Oeed o Trush 80 &3S 11L& 1L Document Date:  Owbu A el <

Number of Pages: _ (o Signer(s) Other Than Named Above:

Capacity(ies) Claimed by Signer(s)
Signet's Name: Signer's Name: /
(0 Corporate Officer — Title(s): O Corporate Officer — Titl

O General
Attorney in Fact
[0 Guardian or Conservator

eneral [0 Partner — O Limit
orney In Fact U Individual
Guardian or Conservator [J Trustee

[ Partner — (O Limited
O Individual 0
O Trustee
{1 Other:
Signer Js Representing:

R AN R S N AN SR AR N SR

©2014 National Notary Assaciation - www.NationalNotary.org » 1-800-US NOTARY (1-800-876-6827) Item #5807
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DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

* x k% k k *

FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, a
California corporation,

Plaintiff,
Case No. A-12-670352-F
vs. Dept. No. XV

RIO VISTA NEVADA, LLC, a
Nevada limited liability
company; WORLD DEVELOPMENT,
INC., a California
corporation; BRUCE MAIZE, an
individual; MICHAEL J. MONA,
JR., an individual; DOES 1
through 100, inclusive,

Defendants.
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1 THE WITNESS: I gave it to a ticket
2 broker to buy tickets to resell them, and he
3 embezzled the money and went to jail, so
4 BY MR. EDWARDS:
5 Q Okay. So you never actually received
6 any tickets, weren't able to resell anything?
7 A He did, kept the money, and he went to
8 jail.
9 Q Understood.
10 What's his name?
11 A Jonathon Robiste.
12 Q Can you spell that?
13 A R-0-B-I-S-T-E.
14 Q Was he here in Las Vegas or elsewhere?
15 A He was in New York.
16 Q New York. Okay.
17 So you think you received about
18 $2 million. So what happened with the other
19 $1.5 million?
20 A I lent some to my son to buy his home.
21 Q Okay. How much did you lend to your
22 son?
23 A Close to 900, I think.
24 Okay. What's your son's name?
25 A Michael.
Litigation Services | 1.800.330.1112
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1 Q Michael Mona, III; right?

2 A Uh-huh.

3 Q And where is the home?

4 A In San Diego.

5 Q How o0ld is your son?

6 A Twenty-nine.

7 Q Twenty-nine?

8 A Uh-huh.

9 Q Is there a loan agreement between you
10 and your son, or was this just a handshake deal?
11 A I don't know. I don't know if there's
12 paperwork on it or not. I really don't.

13 Q Okay. Has your son started paying you

14 on that $900,000 loan?

15 A Not yet, no.

16 Q Is it -- is it your expectation that he

17 will start paying you at some point?

18 A I would assume so at some point, when

19 he's in a better financial -- he's not yet.

20 Q Okay. Is it your intent that he will

21 simply pay you back when he eventually sells the

22 property?

23 A I -- I didn't get into it. I don't

24 know.

25 Q Okay. Do you know the address of the
Litigation Services | 1.800.330.1112
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CERTIFICATE OF COURT REPORTER
STATE OF NEVADA )
) ss:
COUNTY OF CLARK )

I, Heidi K. Konsten, Certified Court Reporter
licensed by the State of Nevada, do hereby certify
that I reported the deposition of RHONDA MONA,
commencing on June 26, 2015, at 10:31 a.m.

Prior to being deposed, the witness was duly
sworn by me to testify to the truth. I thereafter
transcribed my said stenographic notes via
computer-aided transcription into written form,
and that the transcript is a complete, true and
accurate transcription and that a request was made
for a review of the transcript.

I further certify that I am not a relative,
employee or independent contractor of counsel or
any party involved in the proceeding, nor a person
financially interested in the proceeding, nor do I
have any other relationship that may reasonably
cause my impartiality to be questioned.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand in my

office in the County of Clark, State of Nevada,

this July 7, 2015,
Wd_,% Vo LW

Heidi K. Konsten, RPR, CCR No. 845
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ORDR )
F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ. (m« % W
Nevada Bar No. 9549

E-mail: tedmrgs@nevadat,i%négm CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar No. 12580

-E-mail: agandara@nevadafirm.com

HOLLEY DRIGGS WALCH

FINE WRAY PUZEY & THOMPSON
400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Telephone:  702/791-0308
Facsimile: 702/791-1912

Attorneys for Plaintiff Far West Industries

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, a California Case No.: A-12-670352-F
corporation, Dept. No.: XV .
Plaintiff,
V.
Hearing Date: July 9, 2015

RIO VISTA NEVADA, LLC, a Nevada limited | Time of Hearing:  9:00 a,m,

liability com; any; WORLD DEVELOPMENT,
INC.,, a Califorma corporation; BRUCE MAIZE,
an individual, MICHAEL J. MONA, JR., an
individual; DOES 1 through 100, inclusive,

Defendants.

ORDER REGARDING ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE WHY

ACCOUNTS OF RHONDA MONA SHOULD NOT BE SUBJEC]]

EXECUTION

I TO

D WHY THE COURT SHOULD NOT FIND MONAS IN

CONTEMPT

The Court held a hearing regarding its Order To Show Cause Why Accounts Of Rhonda

Mona Should Not Be Subject To Execution And Why The Court Should Not Find Monas In

Contempt (“Qrder to Show Cause’) on July 9, 2015, at 9:00 a.m, (“July 9 Hearing”). F. Thomas
Edwards, Esq. and Andrea M. Gandara, Esq. of the law firm of Holley, Driggs, Walch, Fine,

Wray, Puzey & Thompson, appeared on behalf of Plaintiff Far West Industries (“Plaintiff” or |

“Far West™). Terry A. Coffing, Esq., of the law firm of Marquis Aurbach Coffing, appeared on
behalf of Defendant Michael J. Mona, Jr. (“Mt. Mona”) and Rhonda Helene Mona (“Mrs.

Mona™) (collectively referred to as the “Monas”). Edward L. Kainen, Esq., and Andrew L.

10594-01/1542544,doc
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Kynaston, Esq., of the law firm of Kainen Law Group, LLC, also appeared as divorce counsel

“for Mrs. Mona.

Prior to the July 9 Hearing, the Court reviewed all relevant pleadings and papers before
it, including, but not limited to: (1) Plaintiff’s Ex Parte Application For Order To Show Cause
Why Accounts Of Rhonda Mona Should Not Be Subject To Execution And Why The Court
Should Not Find The Monas In Contempt (“Application”) and the attached Exhibits 1-4; (2) the
Order to Show Cause and the notice of entry and receipt of copy associated therewith; (3) the
Response to Order To Show Cause Why Accounts Of Rhonda Mona Should Not Be Subject To
Execution And Why The Court Should Not Find The Monas In Contempt (“Response”) and the
attached Exhibits A-C; (4) the Plaintiff’s Reply in Support of Order To Show Cause Why
Acéounts Of Rhonda Mona Should Not Be Subject To Execution And Why The Court Should
Not Find The Monas In Contempt (“Reply”); (4) the Supplement to Reéponse to Order To Show
Cause Why Accounts Of Rhonda Mona Should Not Be Subject To Executién And Why The
Court Should Not Find The Monas In Contempt (“Supplement”). The Court was presented the
Declaration in Support of Request for Contempt of Plaintiff”s counsel, F. Thomas Edwards, Esq.,
at the July 9 Hearing, which it accepted without objection,

With no other appearances having been made, the Court having reviewed and examined
the papers, pleadings and records on file in the above-entitled matter and heard the argument of
counsel, and good cause appearing thetefore, the Court enters the following findings facts and
conclusions of law. To the extent any ﬁnding of fact should properly be designated a conclusion
of law, it shall be deemed a conclusion of law. To the extent any conclusion of law should
properly be designated a finding of fact, it shall be deemed a finding of fact.

The Court makes the following findings of facts and conclusions of law:

On April 27, 2012, Plaintiff obtained a Judgment entered against Mr. Mona and the Mona
F a.mlly Trust Dated February 21, 2002 (“Mona Family Trust™). See Judgment, attached as Ex. 4
to Application. Mr. Mona and Mrs. Mona were at all relevant times co-trustees of the Mona
Family Trust, although after this Court ordered Mrs. Mona to appear for a judgment debtor
examination, based upon her capacity as trustee of the Mona Family Trust, Mrs. Mona resigned

-2
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and/or was removed as a trustee.
On January 30, 2013, the Court entered its original order for the judgment debtor
examination of Mr. Mona, setting forth certain documents that Mr. Mona was required to

produce, including:

8. Documents reflectin all agsets (real, personal or mixed),
whether “owned by you mavﬂuaﬁy, in any partnership or
corporation form or in joint tenancy or in tenancy in common for
the past five (5) years.

" 11, A_copy of all statements, and 8 copy of each check
- register for each account, for each and every financial
institutlon (including but not limited to all banks, savings and
loans, credit unions, and brokerage houses) where’ you have an
account, where you have signature authority on an account, or in

which vou have held or now hold an interest from January 2005
through to the present.

12. A copy of all bank statements, deposit slips, and canceled
checks for , money market accounts which you own or in
which you owned any interest whatsoever, or on which you were

authorized to draw checks, whether said documents were in your
name alone, in the name of another personlenti%, or in the
name of another and yourself as joint tenants, for the period of

three (3) years prior to the date hereof.

13. All savings account passbooks, bank statements and
certificates of deposit for any and all accounts. in which you

owned anyv interest whatsoever, or from which you were
authorized to make withdrawals, whether said accouns were in
your name alone, in the name of any other person, or in your name
and another as joint tenants, for the period of five (5) years prior to
the date hereof. ,

39.  Copies of anv and all contracts to which you are a pa
entercd ot within the a5t Fve (o) yoars. o Ee
See Ex. A to Order entered 1/30/13 (“January 2013 Order”) (emphasis added).

The Court subsequently ordered Mr. Mona to make a complete production of documents
by September 25, 2013. See Order entered 10/7/13 (“October 2013 Order”), 2:9-13.

On or about September 13, 2013, the Monas executed a Post-Marital Property Settlement
Agreement, in which Mr. and Mrs, Mona explain that they have sold their community property
shares of Medical Marijuana, Inc., for $6,813,202.20. See Ex. 1 to the Application. The
Agreement then purports to diyide the proceeds equally between themsel{res as their separate
property, with each receiving $3,406,601.10. Id.

-3-
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Althoﬁgh Mr. Mona produced approximately 33,000 documents in response to the
January 2013 Order and the October 2013 Order, Mr. Mona did not produce the Post-Marital
Settlement Agreement, in violation of both the January 2013 Order and the October 2013 Order.

At his judginent debtor examination on November 25, 2013, when Mr. Mone was asked
what he did with the more than $6 mi}lion in stock sale proceeds, Mr. Mona lied and failed to
disclose the transfer of $3,406,601.10 to Mrs. Mona. Specifically, at the judgment debtor
examination on November 25, 2013, Mr. Mona testified as follows:

Q. When you got out of Alpine Securities, how much was the
stock worth?

A. About $0.12 a share.

Q. And translate that into an aggregate.
A. About $6 million.

Q. Did you cash out?

A. Yes.

Q. What did you do with that $6 million?
A. Paid bills.

Q. What bllls?

A. Paid off some debts that I had.

Q. What bills?

A. Just personal bills. Gave 2.6 — loaned $2.6 million to Roen
Ventures.

See Transcript of 11/25/13 Judgment Debtor Examination of Mr, Mona, 9:8-21, attached as Ex. 2
to the Application.

Mr. Mona’s deceit and omission cannot be excused by a lack of memory because the
purported transfer through the Post-Marital Settlement Agreement occurred only shorily before
his examination. Likewise, Mr. Mona’s deceit and omission cannot be blamed on his attorney,
as Mr. Mona was in control of his testimony at the judgment debtor examination in 2013. At his
more recent judgment debtor examination, Mr. Mona admitted that he should have produced the
Post-Marital Settlement Agreement in 2013 and that he should have disclosed it during the

-4-
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November 25, 2013 examination and, on this point, the Court agrees with Mr. Mona.

The Court finds that the money purportedly transferred through the Post-Marital
Settlement Agreement was community property as it was acquired during the Monas’ marriage.
The Monas have been matried for more than 30 years. All property acquired after the marriage
by either husband or wife is community property, subject only to limited exceptions identified in
NRS 123.220. All debts incurred during that time are community debts under Randono v. Turk,

86 Nev, 123, 466 P.2d 218 (1970). See also Cirac v. Lander Coty., 95 Nev. 723, 602 P.2d 1012;
In re Bernardelli, 12 B.R. 123 (Bankr. D. Nev. 1981); Nelson v. United States, 53 F.3d 339, 1995

WL 257884; F.T.C. v. Neiswbnger, 580 F.3d 769 (8th Cir. 2009).
Plaintiff obtained the Judgment against Mr. Mona during the Monas® marriage, and it

therefore is a community debt. That community debt can be collected against the entirety of the
Monas® community property under Randono v. Turk, 86 Nev. 123, 466 P.2d 218 (1970) and
Henry v. Rizzolo, 2012 WL 1376967 (Dist. Nev. April 19, 2012). See also Cirac v. Lander
Qx_ti, 95 Nev. 723, 602 P.2d 1012; In re Bernardelli, 12 B.R. 123 (Bankr. D. Nev. 1981); Nelson
v, United States, 53 F.3d 339, 1995 WL 257884; E.T.C. v. Neiswonger, 580 F.3d 769 (8th Cir.
2009). The Court finds Norwest Fin. v. Lawver, 849 P.2d 324 (Nev. 1993) and Hogevoll v.
Hogevoll, 59 Cal.App.2d 188, 138 P.2d 693 (1943), which are cited in the Response,

distinguishable as those cases involved determinations of lender intent and conimunity debt with |
respect to loans made during marriage, as opposed to collection on a judgment for fraud
committed by a spouse during marriage. Mrs. Mona’s alleged lack of involvement in the
underlying litiga_tion that gave rise to Far West’s Judgment is not relevant as to judgment
collection, There is no evidence that the assets and debts at issue here were aéquired by either of
the Monas before marriage.

On May 13, 2015, the Court entered orders scheduling the judgment debtor examinations
of Mr. and Mrs. Mona. The order set forth a list of documents that Mr. and Mrs. Mona were
required to produce, including:

1. For the period beginning April 2012 through the present

date, financial documents of Judgment Debtor, including, but
not limited to, but not limited to, statements for checking,

-5.
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savings or other Q%anlal accounts, securities brokerage
accounts, certificates of deposit, shares in banks, savings and loan,
thrift, building loan, credit umions, or brokerage houses or
cooperative, and records of income, profits from companies, cash
on hand, safe deposit boxes, deposits of money with any other
institution or person, cash value of insurance policies, federal and
state income tax refunds due or expected, any debt payable to or
held by or for Judgment Debtor, checks, drafts, notes, bonds,
interest bearing instruments, accounts receivable, liquidated and
unliquidated claims of any nature, or any and all other assets.

23, For the period beginning April 2012 through the present
date, Documents relating to monies, gifts, bequests, dispositions,

or transfers paid or given to Judgment Debtor.

26.  For the period beginning April 2012 through the present
date, Documents relating to all tangible or intangible property or

other assets sold, assigned, transferred, or conveyed by
Judgment Debtor to any person or entity.

29. Documents evidencing any and all other intangible
personal, tangible, and/or real property of Judgment Debtor not
already identified in the items set forth above.

See Orders entered 5/13/15 (“May 2015 Orders”).

In their response to the May 2015 Orders, the Monas did not produce certain bank
records purportedly because the bank accounts are in the name of Mrs. Mona only, despite the |
fact that the accounts hold community property, in violation of the May 2015 Orders. Mrs.
Mona made no efforts to produce any documents in response to the May 2015 Orders. Mr.
Mona's fail_ure to pfoduce these bank records in response to the January 2_013 Order and the
October 2013 Order was also a violation of said orders.

According to Mrs. Mona's testimony during examination, she has three (3) different bank
accounts in her name, The first account is a checking account at Bank of Geotge; which contains
approximate $190,000.00 in purported earnings from design projects performed by Mrs. Mona
during the marriage, such that the funds are community property. See Rough Transcript of
06/26/15 Judgment Debtor Examination of Mrs. Mona, 26:6-14 and 27:19-29:19 attached as Ex.
3 to the Application.

The second account is a money market account at the Bank of George, which contains |
approximately $300,000.00 that is purpbrtedly the only remaining money from the transfer to
Mrs, Mona through the Post-Marital Settlement Agreement. Mrs, Mona testified that she

-6-
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believes she only received approximately $2 million based upon the Post-Marital Settlement
Agreenient, instead of the full $3.4 million identified in the Post-Martial Settlement Agreement.
See Rough Transcript of 06/26/15 Judgment Debtor Examination of Mrs. Mona, 21:18-23
attached as Ex. 3 to the Application. These funds constitute commuhity property because they
were acquired during marriage. This remains true despite the Monas fraudulent transfer of the
community property to Mrs. Mona, as explained in more detail below.

The third account is a checking account from Bank of Nevada, which is purportedly
funded through the money market account at Bank of George, and thus also contains community
property. |

The Monas did not produce any records related to these three (3) accounts that contain
community property in Mrs. Mona’s name and so it is not possible to determine the account
numbers and identifying information associated with these accounts.

While the Response mentions the Monas’ divorce proceedings, the Response oﬁ:itbed key
facts about the divorce, including that the divorce proceeding was only filed on July 2, 2015, and
that the Monés testified at their respective judgment debtor examinations just a few days earlier
that they had no plans to get divorced. The omission of these material facts in the Response
reflects on the Monas' credibility. ,

The fact that Mrs. Mona filed for divorce after the Court issued its Order to Show Cause
does not deprive the Court of its jurisdiction to rule on the Order to Show Cause. The Monas
have cited to no authority that the filing of a divorce complaint imposes é stay of execution upon
a judgment.

The Response to the Order to Show Cause complains about the timing of the briefing
schedule and the hearing date. However, the Response failed to disclose that Plaintiff offered to
both extend the briefing schedule and continue the hearing. At the hearing, the Court offered
additional time to the Monas, but the Monas declined. Accordingly, the Court proceeded to issue
its ruling. |

The Monas have preempted the presiding judge as to any request for contempt in the
Application, as they are entitled to do. The Court expressly makes no finding of contempt as to

-7-
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Mr. and Mrs. Mona without prejudice to Plaintiff pursuing sucﬁ a request before another judge.
The Court only is considering whether sanctions should be issued pursuant. to NRCP 37 as
requested in the Application, '

The Court finds that Mr. Mona violated the January 2013 Order and October 2013 Order
by not producing the Post-Marital Settlement Agreement and the bank account records for Mrs.
Mona's three (3) bank accounts that contained community property. The Court further finds that
both Mr. and Mrs. Mona violated the May 2015 Orders by failing to produce bank records for
Mrs. Mona’s three (3) bank accounts that contained community property.

Tﬁe Court concludes that Mr. Mona’s failure to produce the Post-Marital Settlement
Agreement as ordered and Mr. Mona and Mrs, Mona’s failure to disclose Mrs. Mona’s bank
records for the three (3) accounts in Mrs. Mona’s name were not substantially justified and
consﬁtute setibus violations subject to sanctions under NRCP 37. Considering all available
sanctions under NRCP 37 for such violations, the Court finds grounds to designate the Post-
Marital Settlement Agreement a fraudulent transfer under NRS 112.180 on the merits based on
the following badges of fraud associated with that transfer,

First, the transfer in the Post-Marital Settlement Agreement was to an insider, Mrs.
Mona, as she is the wife of Mr. Mona, a judgment debtor, and was at all relevant times the

- Trustee of the Mona Family Trust, a judgment debtor,

* Second, Mr. Mona appears to have retained possession and control over some portion of
’thc funds that were purportedly transferred pursuant to the Post-Marital Settlement Agreement.
| Third, Mr. Mona concealed the transaction by not producing the Post-Marital Settlement
Agreement as required by the January 2013 Order and October 2013 Order and by not disclbsiﬁg
the transfer during his judgment debtor examination on November 25, 2013, Mr. Mona was not
truthful when he was asked during the November 25, 2013 examination about what he did with
the approximately $6.8 million dollars.

Fourth, prior to effectuating the transfer through the Post-Marital Settlement Agreement,

Far West sued and obtained the Judgment against Mr. Mona and the Mona Family Trust,

"
-8-
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Fifth, the Post-Marital Settlement Agreement, and the related transfers of the proceeds
from the sale of the stock, transferred substantially all of Mr. Mona's assets as he was insolvent
at the time or the transfers, or rendered Mr. Mona insolvent shortly after they was made.

Sixth, Mr. Mona concealed assets by failing to disclose the Post-Marital Settlement
Agreement in 2013, by not disclosing the transfer during his judgment debtor examination on
November 25, 2013, and by not producing the bank account records for the accounts in Mrs.
Mona's name, |

~ Seventh, at the time of the transfer through the Post-Marital Settlement Agresment, Mr.
Mona was insolvent, or the transfer rendered Mr. Mona insolvent shortly after it was made.

These considerations are several of many factors in NRS 112.180(2), which provides a
non-exhaustive list of considerations that support a determination that there was an actual intent
to hinder, delay, or defraud a creditor. To find a fraudulent transfer, not every factor must be
shown and the lack of one or more badges of fraud among many is not dispostive. The badges of
fraud described above provide overwhelming evidence that the Post-Marital Settlement
Agreement was a fraudulent transfer.

The Court therefore concludes that the Post-Marital Settlement Agreement is a fraudulent
transfer intended to hinder, delay and defraud Plaintiff in its efforts to -execute upon the
Judgment and the $6,813,202.20 remains community property that is subject to execution by Far
West in satisfaction of its Judgment. The funds in Mrs. Mona’s three (3) bank accounts shall be
applied towards satisfaction of the Judgment pursuant to NRS 21.320. The Court finds the
sanctions imposed herein to be appropriate in light of the very serious misconduct at issue,
specifically the failure to disclose documents as ordered, which resulted in the dissipation of
millions of dollars in assets, of which only a relatively small amount remains ($300,000 in Mrs,
Mona’s Bank of George money market account) and concealment of significant community
property ($190,000.00 in Mrs, Mona’s Bank of George checking account) which could have |
gone to satisfy Plaintiff’s Judgment. The Court has also previously found that Mr. Mona is not |
taking this proceeding seriously. See Order entered 06/17/2015. The sanctions are meant to deter
the Monas and future litigants from similar abuses.

-9-
10594-01/1542544.doc




—

© 0 a9 & w» s W N

NN NN N RN N
5 S B R BREBREEBE I SELGLEDE = =B

This Court has authority pursuant to NRS 21,280 and, to the extent Mrs. Mona is
considered a third party, pursuant to NRS 21.330, to order Mr. and Mrs. Mona to not dispose
and/or transfer their assets as the Court has done in the past and does again in this Order.

Based on the foregoing, and good cause appearing: '

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the relief requested in the Application is GRANTED
IN PART and DENIED IN PART;

~ IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that fhe Monas’ purported transfer pursuant to
the Post-Marital Property Settlement Agreement is a fraudulent transfer, and the facts p_rdving
the fraudulent transfer, including the badges of fraud outlined above, are deemed established;

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that the facts eﬁu‘tung Plaintiff to execute
upon the bank accounts in the name of Mrs. Mona are deemed established;

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that the Monas are prohibited from claiming
that any money purportedly transferred pursuant to the Post-Marital Property Settlement
Agreement and any money in the bank accounts in the name of Mrs. Mona are exempt from
execution;

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that the Monas produce any previously
undisclosed bank records (including signature cards, bank statements, front and back of all
checks, check books and registers, deposit slips or receipts, withdrawal slipé or receipts, wire |
transfer confirmations or reports, etc.) for the past five (5) years, regardless of whose name is on
the acco:u'nt, no later than July 20, 2015; | |

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiff is awarded feasdnable expenses,
including, without limitation, attorney’s fees and costs incurred as a result of the failure to
comply with the Court’s orders, with Plaintiff to submit a bill of fees and costs no later than July
20, 2015; and ‘

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that Mr. Mona, Mrs. Mona, and the Monas
collectively are prohibited from effectuating any transfers or otherwise disposing of or
encumbering any property not exempt from execution and until the money in the bank accounts
in the name of Mrs. Mona are applied to Plaintiff’s Judgment,

-10 -
10594-01/1542544.doc




—

T IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that, upon the oral motion of counsel for the
Monas, this Order is stayed until July 20, 2015, as to Mrs. Mona only, yet the Monas’ obligation

to produce bank records is not stayed in any respect.
IT IS SO ORDERE\). R \)\9
Dated this S ; ) day of \j\/ 5 2P15. :
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Submitted by:

HOLLEY, DRIGGS, WALCH,
FINE, WRAY, PUZEY & THOMPSON

=
1/

"F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 9549

ANDREA M, GANDARA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12580 -

400 S. Fourth Street, Third Floor

‘Las Vegas, NV 89101

Attorneys for PIainﬁﬁ’Far West Industries

Approved as to Form and Content by:

MARQUIS A.URBACH COFFING
e — e 7/1 q’ / 15

TERRY A. COFFING, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 4949
MICAH S. ECHOLS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8437

TYE S. HANSEEN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10365
10001 Park Run Drive

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Attorneys for Mr. and Mrs. Mona
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JOHN W. MUIIE, ESQ.,
Nevada Bar No, 2419
1320 8. Casino Center Blvd.
Las Vegas, Nevada 89104

PH: 702-386-7002
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Aitorneys for Judgment debtors Michael J. Mona Jr.,
and Michael J. Mona Jr., as trustee of the
Monod Family Trust Dated Februay 21, 2002

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, a California Case No. : A-12-670352-F
corporation,
Dept. No.: XXVI
Plaintiff,
V5,
RIO VISTA NEVADA, LLC, Nevada HEARING DATE: SEPTEMBER 18, 2013
limited liability company; WORLD HEARING TIME: 9:00 A.M.

DEVELOPMENT, INC., a California
corporation; BRUCE MAIZE, and
individual; MICHAEL J. MONA, JR., an
individual; DOES 1 through 111, and ROE
CORPORATIONS 1 through 111, inclusive,

Defendants.

ORDIR

This matter came on for hearing on a status check regarding the Court Ordered Examination

of Judgment Debtors MICHAEL 1. MONA, JR,, and MICHEL 1. MONA JR,, as Trustee of the
MONA FAMILY TRUST DATED FEBRUARY 21, 2002, Plaintitf represented by JOIIN R.

HAWLEY OF the law firm of LEE, HERNANDEZ, LANDRUM, GAROFALO & BLAKE, the
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JOHN W. MUNJE & ASSOCIATES

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 83104
Fax: (702) 366-9135
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appearing defendants represented by JOHN W. MUIJE, ESQ., of the law firm of JOHN W. MULE
& ASSOCIATES, the Court and Counsel having engaged in discussion regarding the status of said
defendants’ compliance with the Court’s Examination Order and good cause appearing,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED AND ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Plaintiff shatl
return to the offices of counsel for said Defendants the eighteen boxes of documents produced by
said Defendants in compliance with this Court's Order on or about September 5, 2013, no later than
5:00 p.m. (PDT) on Wednesday, September 25, 2013. |

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED AND ADJUDGED AND DECREED that said Defendants
shall complete their production, constituting approximately two additional boxes of documents as
represenied by said Defendant’s counsel, to counsel for Plaintiff, no later than 5:00 p.m.(PDT) on
Wednesday, September 25, 2013.

ITISHEREBY ORDERED AND ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Plaintiff shall have
one week from the delivery of those additional documents, i.e. thru and including 5:00 p.m.
Wednesday October 2, 2013, to complete its review and inspection of said two additional boxes of
documents, and return the same to the offices of said Defendants counsel.

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED AND ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the Court also
entertained discussion regarding the scope and reasonableness of a sworn debtor examination, and
has concluded that said examination shall be conducted over two 8-hour working days, (with suitable
and appropriate breaks during said days), on dates mutually agreeable to the parties and counsel, to

occur subsequent to Octaber 2, 2013, but no later than November 20, 2013,




LAW OFFICES '
JOHN W. MUNE & ASSOCIATES

13205, CASING GENTER BOULEVARD
LAS VERAS, NEVADA 63104
Fax (Y02} 3HH9155

Phone: (702) 386.7002

Regpectfully submitted,
| JOHN WeMULIE & ASSOCIATES

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the: conrt will
continue this matter for further status check to occur before the courl on December 4, 2013 at the
hour of 9:00 a.m,, which status check may be unilaterally vacated by the parties to the extent that the

document produstion and examination goes smoothly, and have been completed prior ta that date,

cemmm I

Duted this .62 day of Septembuer, 2013,
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BISTRICT COURT JUDGE @
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%, Nevada BarNor 245
"1326-87Casino Center Blvd.
Las Vegas, NV 891034
Telephone: 702-386-7002
Facsimile: 702-386-9135
Email: jmuije@muijelaweifice.com
Altorneys for Judgment debilors Michael 1. Mona Jr.,
and Michael J. Mona Jr., as Irustee of the
Monad Family Trust Daled February 21, 2002

\ Nnana

APPROVED A8 TO FORM AND CONTENT

LEE, HERNANDEZ, LANDRUM,
GAROFALU & BLAKE

By:

7575 Vegas Drive #150
Las Vegag, NV 89128
Telephone: 702-880-8910

Faestmile: 702-382-6673

Emaily thawley@Eibiee-lawfinm.com
Attarneys for FAR WEST INDUSTRIES
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POST-MARITAL PROPERTY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS POST-MARITAL PROPERTY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) 1s

made and eatered into onthe 2> day o&:g_gﬂm& by and between RHONDA HELENE

MONA (“RHONDA™; a resident of the County of Clack, State of Nevady, and MICHAEL JOSEPH.

MONA (‘MIKE"), a resident of the County. of Clark, State of Nevada. MIKE and RHONDA
sometimes will be collectively referred.to in thiy Agreement as the “parties”, and individually may
be referred to as a “party.”

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the partivs tothis Agreement were married on October 17,1982, in Las-Vegas,
Nevads, and ever since such di'xte'have been and now. are married to each other;

WHEREAS, duoring the entirety of theit 30 years of marriage, the parties have been, and
currently:are, residents of the'State of Nevada; : _

WHEREAS, Nevada belng a community peoperty stat, all the property acquited during the
parties marriage hag been acquired as community property;

WHEREAS, by way of this Agreement, and pursuant.to Nevada law, the parties intend to
equally divide between themselves that certain speeific community property referenced belowin this
Agreement, and thereby making such property the sole and separate-property of each party;

* WHEREAS, on or about December 3, 2012, the partics 'a:quired, as their community
property, 30,000,000 shazes of the corporate stock of Medical Marijuana, Inc, an Oregon corporation
(“MMI");

WHEREAS, on orabout January 15,2013, the partles acquired, as their community property,
and additional 7,337,500 shares of the MM corporate stock;

WHEREAS, hetween the months of March through August 2013, the parties sold all of their
37,337,500 shares of the MMI corporate stock for $6,813,202.20;

!

EXHIBIT NO.

Heidl Konstan, CCR 845
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WHEREAS, it is the parties’ intent to acknowledge, confirm, and document their squal
division between themselves of the said $6,813,202:20 they received from the sale of their MMI
corporate stock, with RHONDA receiving §3,406,60 Ll,O‘iiof such: monies as her sole and separate
property, and MIKE receiving the remaining $3,406,601.10 ashis sole and separate property;

' WHEREAS, the parties enter into this Agreement pursuant to the provisions of NRS
123.080, and the parties expressly acknowledge and understand that NRS 123.080 provides as
follows:

1. A hushand and wife.cannot by any contract with each other alter their

legal relations except as to property, and except that they may agrea to an immediate

separtion and may make provision for the support of either of them and of their

children during such separation.

2. Themutualcansentofthe parties is asufficient consideration forsuch
an apreement as is mentioned in subsection 1.

3. In the event that a suit for divorce is. pending or immediately
contemplated by one of the spouses against the other, the validity of such agreement
shall not be affected by a provision therein that the agresment is made for the purpose
of removing the subject matter thereof from the field of litigation, and that in the
event of adivorce being granted to either party, the agreement shall become effective
and not otherwise.
4, If & contract executed by a husband and wife, or a copy thereof, be
inttoduced in evidence as an exhjbit i1 any divorce action, and the court shall by
decree or judgment ratify or-adopt or-approve the contract by reference thereto, the
decree or judgment shiall have the same force and effect and legal consequences as
though the contract were copied jnto the'decree, or attached thereto.
WHEREAS, the-parties expressly acknowledge, underatand, and agree that they specifically
are entering into this Agreoment pursuant to the provisions of NRS 123.080(1), which allow a
husband and wife to enter into & contract, such as this Agreement, for the purpose of altering their
legal relations with-respect to their property, and with respect to each party’s property rights; and the
parties acknowledge and understand that their mutual consent to the terms of this Agreeme;it, as
evidenced. by each party’s signature endorsed at pege 11 of this Agreement, is sufficient
corisideration for this Agrecraent to be a valid, legal, and enforceable agreement, legally binding

upon each party;
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WHEREAS, it isthe mutual wishanddesire of the parties that a full and final adjustmentand
settlement of their property rights, and only their property rights, be had, settled, and determined at
the present time by this Agreement with respect tothe aforementioned $6,813,202.20they received
from the sale of their MMI corporate-stock;

WHEREAS, the parties further acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is not intended
to alter their legal relations-and obligations owed to-gach other as a married couple, other than as
expressly set forth above with respect to their equal division of the $6,813,202.20 they received from
the sale of their MM corporate stock, and this.A greement specifically and expressly s not intended
to affect either party’s legal obligation to support the other party as his or her spouse;

WHEREAS, MIKE and RHONDA wishto make clear their respective desires that.ach of
them shall retain to himself or herself, as his or her respective sole and separate property, the
$3,406,601.10 he or she has received from their equal division of the $6,813,202.20 they received
from the sale of their MMI corporate stock; )

WHBREAS, the $3,406,601.10 received by RHONDA from the parties’ sale of their MMI
corporate stock is and shall forever be and remain RHONDA's sole and separate property, free from
any.and all claims of MIKE, and RHONDA shall continue to have the sole ownership, care, and
contro] of fier said $3,406,601.10;

WHEREAS, the :$3,406,601.10 received by MIKE from the parties’ sale of their MMI
corporate stock is and shall forever be and remainMIKE's sole and separate property, fise from any’
and all claims of RHONDA, and MIKE shatl.continue to have the sole ownership, care, and confrol
of his said $3,406,601.10;

WiAS
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WHEREAS, by execution of this:Agreement, cach party expresses his or her intention not
to claim any interest ‘whatsoever in the said $3,406,601.10 of separate property owne_d,b_yﬂ')e,oﬂ:er
party, or in any of the incame, rents, isswes, profits, orappreclation derived therefrom,

WHEREAS, the parties do not intend to immediatefy separats, and, in fact, the:parties
acknowledge that they remain happily married to each other and have ne-intent
to separate or divorce at any time inthe immediate or foresecable future; notwithstanding, however,
the parties do intend for this Agreementta be a valid,.enforceable, and binding agreement to be
ratified, adopted, and approved by any and all conrts of competent jurisdiction should the parties ever
separate or divorce;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration ofthe foregoing facts and the mutual agresments and
covenants contained in this Agree'mebt,- it is covenanted, agreed and promised by each party hereto
as follows: '

L

ACKNOWLEDGMENT I%F RECITALS;
ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATION

A.  MIKEand RHONDA acknowledge, warrant, represent, and agree that therecitals set

forth above on pages one through four of this Agreetnent, are true and correct, and the same are
méorpomted in this Section I as though the same.are repeated in this Sectlon in full.

B.  Asnoted in the recitals set forth above in this Agreement, the parties acknowledge
and agree that their mutual consent to the terms of this Agreement is sufficient consideration, and
the only consideration necessary, for this Agreement to bea valid, legal, and enforceable agreement,
legally binding upon each party.
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II.
DIVISION.OF PROPERTY

A RHONDA shall have confirmed to her, as her sole and separate property, free of any
and all clafms,’ of MIKE, ail right, title and. interest, and the sole ownership in and to, the
$3,406,601.10.she received from the parties’ sale ofthe parties MM corporate stock, as wel] as all
additional property owned or-acquired by RHONDA at any time with her said separate property, and
all property described in this Agreement as being RHONDA’s sole and separate property, including
any of the income, rents, issues, profits, or appreciation derived therefrom.

B. MIKE shall have confirmed to him, aphis solc and separato property, free of any and
all claims by RHONDA, all right, title and interest, and the sole ownership. in and. to, the
$3,406,601.10 he received from the parties’ sale:of the parties’ MMI cogporate stock, as well asall
additional property owned or acquired by MIKE at any time with his said separate property; and all
property described in this Agrecment as being MIKE’s sole and separate property, including any of

“the income, rents, issues, profits, or appreciation derived therefrom.
HI
-INTENT OF THE PAl_l’ﬂES AND.STATUS OF PROPER‘_I'Y

A.  Property Rights. The parties intend, desire and agree that the aforementloned

$3,406,601.10 cach party respectively received from the sale-of the thelr MIMI corporate stock shali

e and forever remain each such party’s respective sole and separate property, and ali appreciation,
increments, addition, improvements, income, and fruits therefrom also shall be and forever remain
each such party’s respective sole and separate property. The-parties further intend that all such
properiy,forevcr remain each party’s respective sole:and separate property regardless of any interest
either party might have acquired in such separate proporty of the other by reason of their continued
marriage to each other, counsel, advice, energy, and eﬂorfs heretofore or hereafter, and regardtess
of the source of any monies invested in‘or contributed to any such property at any time during the

parties’ marriage or after the termination of the parties marriage, should the partieg\marriage ever
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be terminated by divoree or otherwise.

B.  No‘Transmutation of Separate Property. The parties agree that-at no time in the
future shall there be any transmutation of any of their respective separate property interests into
jointly owned or community property except by.an express written agreement signed by both parties
and executed with the same formality-as this Agreement. Unless otherwise expressly provided in
this Agreement, the-following events shall, under no- ;ircums;ance, ‘be evidence of any intention by
oither party, or.of an agreement between the parties, to transmute their separate property interests
info jointly owne& or coimmuaity property:

L. The taking-oftitle to property, whether real or personal, in joint tenancy or in
any other joint'or common form;

2 The designation of one party by the-other as a-beneficiary of his or her estate;

3. The commingling by .one party of his or her separate funds or praperty with
jointly owned funds or property, or with the separate funds ot property of the othet party;

4. The ftling ofa joint income tax retum by the partles, whether it be-for federal
incoms tax: purposes or for the purpose of any state income tax, and/or the payment of any such
income taxes from jointly held funds; or the use of one party's separate property to pey the income
taxes owed by the other party;

3. Any oral:statements by either party;

6. Anywritten statement by either party other than an express written agreement
of transmutation;

7. The payment from jointly held furids of nny separate obligation, including, but
not limited to, the payment of any mottgage/liome loan, interest, or real property takes on
separately owned residence-or other real property; and

8. The joint occupation of a separately owned residence. or-any other such

property.
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Iv.
RIGHT TO.DISPOSE OF PROPERTY BY WILL

Each of the parties shall have-an immediatg; right to.dispose of or bequeath by Will, living
trust, ot other estate planning vehicla,'ﬁis or her respestive interests in‘and
to any and a!l separate property bslonging:to him or her from and after the date of'this Agreement,
and such right shall extend to all future acquisitions.of sepﬁxate property as well as to all separate
property set over to ¢ither party under this Agreement.
V.
WAIVER OF INHERITANCE RIGHTS

Exceptas may be otherwise provided by Will, Codicil, or other such testamentary instrument
voluntarily-exscuted by cither party, whether before or after the date of this Agreement, the parties.
each hereby waive any and all right to the separate estate of the other [eft at his or her death and
forever quitolaim. any and all right to sharo in the separate estate of the other by the laws of
succession; and the parties hereby release one to the other all rights to inherit from the other any
portion of the other party’s separafe estate. '

VI
MUTUAL RELEASE OF PROPERTY RIGHTS

1t is. hereby mutually understood’ and agreed by and between the parties hereto that this
Agreement is deemed to be 2 final and conclusive agreement between the parties relative o their
respective property rights set forth in this Agreement;
. VIL
EXECUTION OF NECESSARY DOCUMENTS
A.  MIKE and RHONDA agreg'to execute quitclaim deeds, stock transfers, and amyand

all other instruments that may be required in order to offectyate the transfer of any and all interest
either may have in and to the Separate property hereby conveyed to the other-as specified ln this
Agreement, or as otherwise provided by the terms. of this Agreement, Should eiﬂ& ' party fail to

A
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execute any sich documnents, this Agreement- shall constitute a full and complete transfer of the
interest of one to the other as provided in this Agreement, or to otherwise effectuate atry provision
of this Agreement. Upon failure of either party to execute.and deliver any such deed, conveyancs,
title, certificate or other document or instrument to the otheé pacty, or as otherwise provided in this
Agreement, this Agreement shall constitute:and opetate as such properly executed document, and
the County Auditor and County Recorder and any and all otherpublic and private officials are hereby
authorized and-directed to- accept this Agreement or a properly certified copy thereof in liew of the
dooument regularly required for such conveyance or tragsfer,

B. MIKE and. RHONDA each agree that should either-party sell any of his or her
separate property in which the other has no right, title, or interest by virtue of this Agreement, that
such other party will and shall sign any deed, ¢ontract, or other instrument necessary to perfect title
1o any such property so-conveyed,

VIIL
DISCLOSURE

Each party hereto acknowledges thet he or.she has read ‘the foregoing Agreement, fully
understands the-contents. of this Agreement, and accepts the same as fair, just and equitable. Each
party fucther acknowledges that there has been no promise, agreement or understanding of either of
the parties made to the other, except as expressly set forth-in this Agreement, which has been relied
upon by either as 2 matter of inducement to ‘enter info this Agreemeni. Furthetmore, each party
hereto haghad the o ppor,fuuity to be independently edvised by his or her attomey as to the logal effect
of the terms and the execution-of this Agreement.

X,
EFFECT OF PARTIAL INVALIDITY

If any term, provision, promise,-or condition of this Agreement Is determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction: to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, in whole or in part, the r?mainder ofthis

Agreement shall remaln in full force and effect, and shall in-no way be affecte

L)

impaired or
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invalidated.
X
ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT

A.  Ifeither party institites any action orproceediog to enforce, or for the breach of any

of theterms of this Agreement, or if efther pacty ¢ontests the validity of this Agreemment or challenges
orclaims that this Agreement isnot enforceable, then the prevailing party shall be entitled to recaver
his or her attorneys’ fees and costs from the other party. In any such action or proceeding, the
prevaifing party shall be entitled to recover all attorneys' fees and costs incurred by that party;
rogardless of whether the action or proceeding is prosecuted to judgment. This shall include attor-
neys' fees and costs incurred by a party defending a claim or suit necessitated by the other, party's
failure to indemnify as required in this Agreement. y

B. Inaddition to the provisions of subparagraph A Immediately above, each
party to this Agreement shall be indemnified for and against all loss, damages, costs, and expenses
incurred as a result of or anising from any demand, claim, or suit by or on behalf of the other party
contesting or attempting to modify, change, set aside, nullify, o cancel this Agreement of any part
or provision of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever. “The indemnity provisions of this
Agreement shall specifically apply to vosts, expenses, and attoraeys' fees incurred by & party
successfully seeking enforcement.of this Agreement or any provision-of this Agreement.

XL
NO PARTY DEEMED DRAFTER

The parties agree that neither party shall be deemsd fo be the drafter of this Apreement and,
in the event this Agresment is ever construed by a court of law or equity,. such court shall not
construe this Agreement or any provision hereof against cither party as-the drafter of the Agresment.
MIK.E and RHONDA hereby-acknowledge that both parties have. contributed substantially and
materially to the preparation of this Agreement.
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X
GOVERNINGLAW
The laws of the State.of Nevada shall govern the validity, construction, pecformeance, and
effect of this Agreement. This Agreement and the rights of the parties hereto shall be governed snd
interpréted in all respects by the law applied to‘contracts made wholly to-be performed within the
State of Nevada. )
XII.
CUMULATIVE EFFECT

The parties’ rights and remedles hereunder shall be cumulative, and the exercise of one or
more shall not preclude the exercise of any other(s).
XIV:
COUNTERPARTS
This 'Agreement ‘may be executed in any number. of counterparts, each of which shall be

deemed an exscuted original, but all.of which together shall be deemed one and the sams document.
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XV,
VERIFICATION

A MIKE and RHONDA each agroes that he or she hag read this Agreement in its
entirety prior to his-or her execution of this.Agrecment, and fufly understends the same.

D. MIKE and RHONDA each further acknowledges and agrees that he or she fully
understands that this Agreement is a full and final settlement of rights and obligations perfaining to
the matters addressed in and resotved by this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREQPF, the patties hereto have hersunto settheir handsto thlsAgreemem
the year and date above weitten.

11
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ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF

On this ‘l E 'day‘oiw 2013, persotially appeared before me, a Notary Public in

end for sald County and State, RHONDA HELENE MONA, personally known (or proved) to me

)
)5
)
%}

to be the person whose name is subscribed to the above instrument, and who acknowledged that she

executed the instrument.

LIoA M. MOBOWAR . E
‘Commiusion. & 1913866 '}
Notary Public - California  Z

$ant Dlego County 4
My Gomm, Expiees Nov 26, 2014 E

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF )

On this /_{an q@i@bjﬁdﬂll personally appeared before me, a Notery Public in
and for said County and State, MICHAEL JOSEPH MONA, personally known (or proved) to me
to be the person whose naime is subscribed to the above instrument, and who acknowledged that he

)
Y ss,
)

executed the instrument.

LISA K. MCTOWAN
Gommigslon # 1513866
Notary Pubtic - Gailfordla
Ban Disgo Gpunty
#7118y Comen. Explies Hov 26; 201

12
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. Electronically Filed
01/30/2013 11:51:57 AM
1 ||0AID (é&;‘ iy =
DAVID 8. LEE, ESQ. t
2 || Nevada Bar No. 6033 CLERK OF THE COURT
John R. Hawley
3 {|Nevada Bar No. 001545
LEE, HERNANDEZ, LANDRUM,
4 || GAROFALO & BLAKE
7575 Vegas Drive, Suite 150
5 || Las Vegas, Nevada 89128
(702) 880-9750
6 || Fax; (702) 314-1210
dlee@lee-lawfirm.com
7 jhawley@lee-lawfirm.com
8 Attorneys for Plaintiff
9 DISTRICT COURT
10 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
i1
£ g 12| FAR WESTINDUSTRIES, a California CASENO.: A-12-670352-F
g “33 "%-‘ g 13 corporation, DEPT: == 2
SBarf 4 Plaintiff, ORDER FOR APPEARANCE OF
NoBuE JUDGMENT DEBTORS
22088 15| V-
CERERS
@382 || RIO VISTANEVADA, LLC, a Nevada
S limited liability company; WORLD
17 || DEVELOPMENT, INC., a California
corporation; BRUCE MAIZE, and individual;
18 [| MICHAEL J. MONA, IR., an individual,
19 DOES I through 100, inclusive,
20 Defendants.
21
22 ORDER FOR APPEARANCE OF JUDGMENT DEBTORS
23 . . .
This matter, having come on regularly for hearing in Chambers before the Honorable
2
4 Judge Kerry Earley, upon FAR WEST INDUSTRIES® (“FWI”) Ex Parte Motion for Order
23 Allowing Examination of Judgment Debtors (“Motion™). The Court having carefully examined
26 the pleadings and papers on file in this matter, and with good cause appearing, hereby enters its
27 Orders as follows:
28
1 01-18-13P04:36 RCVD




(Page 2 of B)

LAS VEGAS, NV 83128
(702} §20-9750

GAROFALO & BLAKE
7575 VEGAS DRIVE, SUITE 150

LEE, HERNANDEZ, LANDRUM,
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21

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that the Motion filed on
behalf of FWI is hereby GRANTED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that MICHAEL J.
MONA, JR, individually, and MICHAEL J. MONA, JR., as Trustee of the Mona Family Trust
dated February 21, 2002, appear at Litigation Services, 3770 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada, on the 18" day of February, 2013, at the hour of 10:00 a.m., with regard to
the Judgment entered against MICHAEL J. MONA, JR, individually, and MICHAEL J. MONA,
JR., as Trustee of the Mona Family Trust dated February 21, 2002, in favor of FWI on January
12, 2010, then and there to answer questions under oath concerning the assets of MICHAEL J.
MONA, JR, individually, and MICHAEL J. MONA, JR., as Trustee of the Mona Family Trust
dated February 21, 2002,

MICHAEL J. MONA, JR, individually, and MICHAEL J. MONA, JR,, as Trustee of
the Mona Family Trust dated February 21, 2002, ARE COMMANDED TO BRING copies
of any and all documents outlined in Exhibit “A™ attached hereto.

MICHAEL J, MONA, JR, individually, and MICHAEL J. MONA, JR., as Trustee of
the Mona Family Trust FAILURE TO APPEAR AT THE TIME SET FORTH ABOVE
COULD RESULT IN AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE TO BE ISSUED TO EXPLAIN ITS
FAILURE TO APPEAR AND TO DISCLOSE ITS ASSETS.

i

AIFIRICT COUKT JUDGE

DATED this /| day of January, 2013.

Respectfully submitted by:

LEE, HERNANDEZ, LANDRUM,
GAROFALO & BLAKE, APC

By: /

JOHN WLEY, ESQ.

Neyada Bar No. 001545
575 Vegas Drive, Suite 150

Las Vegas, Nevada 89128

na
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EXHIBIT “A”
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1 EXHIBIT “A”
2
3 || Judgment Debtor Exam of MICHAEL J. MONA, JR, individually, and MICHAEL J. MONA,
4 JR., as Trustee of the Mona Family Trust dated February 21, 2002
5
6 LIST OF DOCUMENTS AND THINGS TO BE PRODUCED BY
MICHAEL J. MONA, JR, individually, and MICHAEL J. MONA, IR., as Trustee of the
Mona Family Trust dated February 21, 2002, AT DEBTOR’S EXAMINATION. (*You™ and
9
“Your” refers herein to MICHAEL J. MONA, IR, individually, and MICHAEL J. MONA, IR., as
10
1 Trustee of the Mona Family Trust dated February 21, 2002).
. o 12 1. Any and al] Federal Employer Identification Numbers, Sales Tax Numbers, State
g = Tax Numbers and City Tax Numbers,
BUET 13
§ é qu;g 2. Copies of any and all documents establishing and/or governing the Mona Family
E;g > 2 14 Trust dated February 21, 2002, and any amendments thereto.
23588
29 égt 15 3. A copy of each document showing your monthly income for the last 6 months.
g2gb <
o] < £ - 16 4. A copy of each of your federal income tax returns with all schedules and any
= T 17 quarterly estimates of income taxes from 2005 through to the present.
18 5. A copy of each of your state income tax returns with all schedules and any
quarterly income taxes from 2005 through to the present.
19
20 6. All “1099" forms reflecting income received by you for the last five (5) years.
5 7. Records of any and all monies received by you whether in the nature of bonuses,
21 reimbursement of expenses, wages or reimbursement of loans for the past five (5)
22 yeéars.
23 8. Documents reflecting all assets (real, personal or mixed), whether owned by you
individually, in any partnership or corporation form or in joint tenancy or in
24 tenancy in common for the past five (5) years.
23 0. A copy of all documents related to any real assets (land, buildings, and any other
26 commercial or residential real estate) in which you have any interest, as well as
' any appraisals prepared on such assets. The requested documents specifically
27 include but not limited to all Deeds, Deeds of Trust, Mortgage Applications,
-8 Closing Statements, coupon books, statements of account, credit reports, title
4
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1 insurance policies, and all other information in any way reflecting your
involvement with, your ownership of, or your transactions as regards real estate or
2 other property owned by you.
3 10. A copy of any and all lease(s) which you have signed, including, but not limited to,
4 residential, commercial, and automotive. These leases do not need to be owned by
you but can be regarding real estatc or other property not owned by you but for
5 which regular monthly lease payments are made.
6 11. A copy of all statements, and a copy of each check register for each account, for
each and every financial institution (including but nat limited to all banks, savings
7 and loans, credit unicns, and brokerage houses) where you have an account, where
R you have signature authority on an account, or in which you have held or now hold
an interest from January 2005 through to the present.
9
12. A copy of all bank statements, deposit slips, and canceled checks for all bank,
10 money market accounts which you own or in which you owned any interest
1 whatsoever, or on which you were authorized to draw checks, whether said
documents were in your name alone, in the name of another person/entity, or in the
- 12 name of another and yourself as joint tenants, for the period of three (3) years prior
2 2 ta the date hereof.
S¥ER g3
28 . . .
3 uj: g3 B 13.  All savings account passbooks, bank statements and certificates of deposit for any
g 3252 14 and all accounts, in which you owned any interest whatsoever, or from which you
z2o § 5 15 were authorized to make withdrawals, whether said accounts were in your name
£95>¢ alone, in the name of any other person, or in your name and another as joint
Wiy . .
To2 S 16 tenants, for the period of five (5) years prior to the date hereof,
4 &
17
14.  All records regarding safe deposit boxes and any certificates of stocks and bonds
i8 belonging to you or in which you have had any interest direct, indirect, contingent,
beneficial, or otherwise, whatsoever either alone or jointly with any other person
19 for five (5) years preceding the date of this Order.
20 15.  All stocks, bonds, debentures or other securities, which you personally own or
P
2] claim any interest to or had any interest in whether such interest was direct,
indirect, contingem, beneficial, or otherwise, either alone or jointly with any other
22 person for five (5) years preceding the date of this Order.
23 16.  All life insurance policies naming you as beneficiary whether direct, indirect,
24 contingent, beneficial, or otherwise, therein.
25 17. A copy of all certificates of title or any other documents evidencing your
ownership with respect to any automobiles, motorcycles, trucks, RVs, ATVs, jet
26 skis, boats, trailers, airplanes, or any other type of vehicle, which you now own,
97 claim any interest in, or regularly derive.
28
5
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1 18. All evidence of any and all notes, contracts, negotiable instruments, receivable or
accounts receivable whether due or not due belonging to you or in which you have
2 or have had any interest whosoever either alone or jointly with any other person or
] persons for five (5) years preceding the date of this Order.
4 19. A list of real property owned by you and, if cccupied by Tenants, please state the
following:
5
a. Tenants® names;
6 b. Tenants® address;
7 c. amount of monthly rent.
8 20.  Documents relating to evidence of each and every credit card in your name or
9 jointly with another person/entity, together with copies of all statements submitted
by said credit companies for the last five (5) years.
10
21.  All fire, burglary, and extended coverage insurance policies now in force upon any
11 real estate or personal property (including copies of insurance inventories) owned
by you or in which you have or have had any interest whatsoever either alone or
g 2 12 jointly with any other person(s)/entity(ies) for five (5) years preceding the date of
é g ug’? 13 this Order.
<Jwm>g
5’2 EI;E 14 22.  Alltitles, bills of sale, or contracts of sale upon personal property, including but
%% - nol limited to, stocks, bonds, memberships, or partnership interests, automobiles,
gé‘g% ré 15 boats, airplanes, household goods, miscellaneous furniture and fixtures belonging
B5>< 16 to you or in which you have or have had any interest (direct or indirect, beneficial
& § or otherwise), whatsoever either alone or jointly with any other person or persons
17 for five (5) years preceding the date of this Crder.
18 23. A complete inventory of all items of personal property awned by you, of any
nature whatsoever, including automobiles, boats, airplanes, household fixtures,
19 furnishings, and appliances, whether paid for or not. If the personal property is not
20 in your possession and in the possession of another person, designate the name and
address of the person having possession of the property.
21

24.  Copies of all financial statements given by you, either individually or jointly with
22 another person or as a corporation, to any third party at any point during the past
five (5) years preceding the date of this Order.

23
24 25. A statement listing all of your debts and obligations.
25 26.  All automobile or personal property casualty or collision-or all risk insurance
policies presently owned by you.
26
27. A copy of all records pertaining to the acquisition, transfer and sale of all
27 securities, in which you have had an interest from at least five (§) years prior to the
78 date hereof 1o the present.
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1
28. A copy of all evidence of mining claims, patents or development work owned by
2 you or in which you have or have had any interest whatsoever either along or
jointly with any other person or persons for at least five (5) years immediately
3 preceding the date of this Order.
4 A
29. A copy of al! documents which evidence any trademark, trade name, copyright, or
5 atent in which you have or have had an interest.
p
6 30. A copy of all general ledgers, accounting journals, financial statements or other
financial records prepared or maintained as regards your finances during the last
7 five (5) years.
8
31. A copy of any/all lawsuits, judgments, etc., which you may be a party to.
9
32. A copy of all loan applications used far any purpose whatsoever in the last five (5)
P
10 : years.
1 33. A copy of your current plan and your most recent plan statement or summary plan
P
. description for any deferred compensation in which you are a participant.
g 12
=2 - .
é %’ ";§ 13 34. A copy of any and all agreements, of whatever kind, for the use of a safe deposit
S220% box, safe or vault or other place of safekeeping.
N45ED 14
223 gt . .. .
%E‘S §§ 15 35. A copy of each and every life insurance or annuity policy in which you hold a
z05>¢% beneficial interest.
2523 16
B 5 36.  Copies of all your corporate records, including Minutes (for the past 5 years),
3 P
17 Stock Transfer Ledgers and other “corporation” records.
18 37.  Copies of any partnership or joint venture agreements and all correspondence
19 related thereto.
20 38.  Copies of all of your business licenses.
21 39.  Copies of any and all contracts to which you are a party entered into within the last
22 five (5) years.
23 40.  All records, which evidence charitable donations of $100 or more up to personal
“gifts” with a value of more than $100 made by you or on your behalf within the
24 last five (5) years.
25 4]1.  Copies of any and all documents whereby you acquired or disposed of an interest
2 in any business(es) within the last five (5) years.
27 42.  Copies of any employment or consulting contracts to which you are a party.
28 43,  Any notes owed to you.
7
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1
44, Copy of all accounts receivable documents, both current and for five (5) years
2 prior to the date of this Order.
3 45.  All of your general ledgers, accounting journals, financial statements or other
4 financial records prepared or maintained during the last five (5) years.
5 46. A copy of each and every document evidencing each and every business in which
you have, or had, an interest from 2005 through to the present.
6
7 47. A copy of each and every profit and loss statement for each business in which you
have, or had, an interest from 2005 through to the present.
8
48. A copy of each financial statement or credit application prepared by you or on
9 behalf of you and/or any business in which you have, or had, any interest, whether
0 legal or equitable, in the past five (3) years.
1
11
g 12
ioe,
4@ > §
y¥zag 1
£20<2
SE288 15
28288
2573 16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
8
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE

APR 27 2012

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE, RIVERSIDE COURT

FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, a California Case No. RIC495966

corporation, :

Plaintiff,

JUDGE: Hon. Jacqueline Jackson

[PROPOSEDTJUDGMENT NUNCPRO-| .

vs. UNT

liability company; WORLD DEVELOPMENT, Trial Date: September 23, 2011
INC., a California corporation, BRUCE MAIZE, R :
an individual; MICHAEL J. MONA, JR., an
individual; and DOES 1 through 100, inclusive,

)
)
)
)
)
)
RIO VISTA NEVADA, LLC, a Nevada limited ~ ) Action Filed:’ March 24, 2008
)
)
)
)
)
Defendants. )
)

' corpoi'ation in the ar_no_uht {c')f$17,777,5762.1_8'.v Recoverable court costs of $25,562.56 and

| attorney’s fees of $3v27,548.‘84' are also awarded to Far West Industries, jointly and severally-

On February 23, 2012, the Honorable Jacqueline Jackson entered Finding of Fact and
Cohcl_usion of Law in the above-referenced matter. Based upon those Findings and Conclusion,
Judgment is hereby entered in favor of Plaintiff Far West Industries, a California corporation and
against the following Defendants, jointly and severally: (1) Michael J. Mona, Jr.; (2) Michael I.
Mona, Jr., as Trustee of the Mona Family Trust dated February 21, 2002; (3) Rio Vista Nevada,
LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; and (4) World Development, Inc., a California

against all Defendants. The Clerk is hereby directed to enter those amounts on this Judgment

following Far West Industries’ post-Judgment petition for them. F inally, the Clerk is hereby

—
[PROPOSED] JUDGMENT NUNCPRO TUNC™

S:\Far West\Trial\ludgment.MtnFecs.doc
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directed to release the $32,846 that was interplead by Defendant Fidelity National Title Company

to Fai West Industries upon entry of this Judgment.

Dated: 17;/ ~ 7//7-

_[PROPOSED] JUDGMENT NENEPRO-FENC—

S\Far West\Trial\Judgment.MtnFees.doc
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PROOF OF SERVICE

I am employed in the County of Orange, State of California. Iam over the age of 18 and
not a party to the within action. My business address is 1851 East First Street, 10th Floor, Santa

Ana, California 92705-4052,
On May 3, 2012, I served the within document(s) described as:

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF JUDGMENT

on the interested parties in this action as stated on the attached mailing list.

(BY MAIL) By placing a true copy of the foregoing document(s) in a sealed envelope
addressed as set forth on the attached mailing list. I placed each such envelope for
collection and mailing following ordinary business practices. Iam readily familiar with this
Firm's practice for collection and processing of correspondence for mailing. Under that
practice, the correspondence would be deposited with the United States Postal Service on
that same day, with postage thereon fully prepaid at Santa Ana, California, in the ordinary
course of business. I am aware that on motion of the party served, service is presumed
invalid if postal cancellation date or postage meter date is more than one day after date of

deposit for mailing in affidavit.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the
foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on May 3, 2012, at Santa Ana, California.

Erin Duran M W —

(Type or print name) (Signature)

S:\POS\Far West.RioVista.doc
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SERVICE LIST

Howard Golds, Esq.

Jerry R. Dagrella, Esq.

Best, Best & Krieger, LLP

3750 University Avenue
Riverside, California 92502-1028

Empire West Development, Inc.
42575 Melanie Place, Suite S

Palm Desert, CA 92211

(760) 568-2850; Fax: (760) 568-2855

maize@empirewestdev.com

SAPOS\Far West.RioVista.doc

howard.golds@bbklaw.com In Pro Per
jerry.dagrella@bbklaw.com
(951) 686-1450 (951) 686-3083
Attorney for Michael J. Mona, Jr.
2
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EILED
T F Rt A
MAR 06 2012
l.

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE

FAR WEST INSTUSTRIES, A CALIFORNIA ) Case No. RIC495966
CORPORATION, PLANTIFF V RIO VISTA NEVEDA, ;

) JUDGE: Hon. Jacqueline Jackson
LLC., A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY; WORLD )

} DEPT:J1
DEVELOPMENT, INC., A CAILFORNIA CORPORATION; )

) FINDINGS OF FACT AND
BRUCE MAIZE, AN INDIVIDUAL; MICHAEL 1. MONA, ) CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
JR., AN INDIVIDUAL, AND DOES 1 THROUGH 100, Action Filed. March 24’ 2008

Trial Date: September 23, 2011
INCLUSIVE, DEFENDANTS

On September 23, 2011, the above-referenced action came on for trial before the
Honorable Jacqueline C. Jackson, Judge presiding. Plaintiff Far West Industries, a California
corporation (“Far West”) was represented by Robert L. Green & Hall, APC. Defaults were taken
against Defendants Rio Vista Nevada, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company (“RVN”) and
World Development, Inc., a California corporation (“World Development”) on October 7, 2010.
Defendant Michael J. Mona, Jr. (“Mona™), both individually and as a Trustee of the Mona
Family Trust dated February 21, 2002, was represented by Howard Golds and Jerry R. Dagrella
of Best, Best and Krieger, LLP. After considering the trial testimony and evidence, the Court

issued its Statement of Tentative Decision on November 30, 2011. Pursuant to Rule 3.1590(c)(3)

o0
P

200 LV ¥W
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- 10.

11.

12.

13.

of the California Rules of Court, Far West was directed to prepare these Findings of Fact and

Conclusions of Law. The court has edited them and this is the final version.

I. Summary of Facts and Evidence

A. Mona Acquires the Project

Michael Shustek (“Shustek™) was for all times relevant herein the President of Vestin
Mortgage, Inc. (“Vestin™).

Vestin is a mortgage broker who lends money from Vestin-controlled Real Estate
Investments Trusts (“REITs”).

Vestin had loaned money to Lynn Burnett (“Burnest”), who in 2003 was developing a
project which consisted of 1,362 lots in Cathedral City, California (the “Project”).

549 of those lots were being financed by Vestin (the balance by another lender), and
Burnett had defaulted on his loan.

Shustek asked Mona to purchase from Bumett that portion of the Project financed by
Vestin, and in doing so, agreed to loan Mona $35 million of the REIT"s money.

Shustek asked Mona to get involved even though Mona had no experience building a
master planned residential community.

Of the Vestin $35 million loan, $19,268,568.32 was paid to purchase the Project; this |
was the amount needed to fully pay off Burnett’s loan to Vestin.

$9 million was to pay for the construction (the “Construction Loan”) and $3.6 million
was reserved to pay interest on the loan (the “Interest Reserve”).

Mona formed RVN, a Nevada, single-purpose LLC to take title to the Project.

The Mona Family Trust dated February 21, 2002 (“Mona Family Trust”) owned
100% of RVN.

Mona contributed no capital to RVN upon its formation. He formed that entity and
took title in its name “to avoid liability”. He had no intention of making any personal
investment in the Project because it was “too risky”.

Mona provided Vestin with a 12-month guaranty of the RVN loan (the “Guaranty”)
by another single-purpose, Nevada entity that was owned solely by Mona and also
had no capital or assets, Emerald Suites Bonanza, LLC (“Emerald Suites”).

For its part, Vestin (and not the REITs) was paid an initial fee of $1.4 million from
the RVN loan proceeds.
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B. Mona Distributes Construction Loan Proceeds for Purposes Other than

Construction
14. Mona began issuing checks from the Construction Loan.

15. More particularly, on February 9, 2004, the first draw was made on the Construction
Loan for $2,448,481.82.

16. When that money was deposited into the RVN checking account three days later,
there was only $2,118,776.38 left.

17. Mona “couldn’t remember” what happened to the remaining $329,705.55.

18. Mona and his wife are the sole Trustees and Beneficiaries of the Mona Family Trust
(a revocable trust). The Mona Family Trust was 100% owner of RVN at that time
and Mona was the only signatory on the RVN account.

19. There was $900,00 paid to RVN on February 5, 2004.

20. This check was deposited into the RVN account, but does not show up on the RVN
Account Register. :

21. Mona also paid $702,000 from the Construction Loan to certain individuals and
entities at the express direction of Shustek, even though those individuals and entities
had never been affiliated with the Project, preformed no work on the Project, and
Mona did not even know who they were. o

22. Mona then paid $1,283,700 to the Mona Family Trust, himself, and MonaCo
Development Company (his Nevada construction company) from the Construction
Loan at the direction of Shustek who had told Mona that Mona could take a $1
million fee for himself up front.

23. There was no provision in the RVN Operating Agreement for any of these payments.

24. The Court finds that Mona took the money for himself, the Mona Family Trust, and
MonaCo Development from RVN shortly after he acquired the Project.

25. At the time that Mona took that money, and also immediately paid the $1.4 million
fee to Vestin and the $702,000 to the Shustek-related individuals, RVN was insolvent.

C. RVVA is Also Created at the Same Time

26. Mona had only purchased 549 of the Project’s 1,362 total lots.
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27. Because it was all being developed at the same time, and Burnett was retaining the
balance of the Project, he and Mona created Rio Vista Village Associates, LLC
(“RVVA”) to perform all of master plan community work which benefitted both parcels
jointly (infrastructure improvements such as streets, utilities, a clubhouse, a park,
landscaped detention basins, a water reservoir, a school, etc.).

28. Mona was the sole Manager of the RVN and one of the two Managers of the RVVA.

29. Mona retained his title and function as a Manager of RVN throughout the life of that
entity, and for all times relevant, he was in charge of all finances for the RVN and the
Project.

D._Mona Solicits World Development’s Participation
30. Mona solicited World Development’s involvement in the Project.
31. The Mona Family Trust sold 45% of RVN to World Development for $45.
32. At that time, the Mona Family Trust also contributed $55 in capital to RVN.

33. This $100 from World Development and the Mona Family Trust was the only capital
ever contributed to RVN at any time.

34. For all times relevant hereafter, World Development’s CEO and the designated
Manager of RVN was Bruce Maize (“Maize”).

35. Mona remained Co-Manager of RVN with Maize.

E. The Project

36. Burnett defaulted on his other loan for the balance of the Project and filed
bankruptcy.

37. His interest in RVVA was thereafter acquired by WHP Rio Vista, LLC, which was
owned by Capstone Housing Partners, LLC (“Capstone”).

38. By October of 2005, RVN had exhausted Interest Reserve.

39. Maize and Mona knew that the Project still required $15 million in construction costs,
with 40% ($6,000,000) owned by RVN under the RVVA Operating Agrecment.

40. That $6,000,000 sum did not include interest payments on the $35 million loan
(which were as high as $411,230.96 per month and which were no longer able to be paid
from the Interest Reserve since it had already been exhausted).
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41. In an Amended Operating Agreement for RVVA, RVN allowed Capstone to become
a member of RVV A under certain conditions.

42. One such condition required Capstone to contribute just under $1,5000,000 to
reimburse RVN for construction costs.

43. World Development learned about Mona’s above-referenced million-dollar-plus
payments from the Construction Loan to himself, his Family Trust and MonaCo
Development and demanded that it also receive a distribution of “profits” to World
Development in the amount of $856,598.60, even though RVN had a negative net worth
of $3.8 million at the time and no revenue from inception.

H. January of 2006

44. In January of 2006, the Construction Loan was coming due with no funds to pay it
off.

45. Mona and Vestin agreed to extend the Construction Loan for a short period of time
(three months), at the cost of $700,000 in loan extension fees.

46. That $70b,000 came from the Construction Loan proceeds and it was paid to Vestin,
not the REITs.

47. Therefore as of January of 2006, Vestin had now collected an aggregate of
$2.1million on loan fees from the Project ($1.4 million initial fee plus the $700,000

extension).

48. The parties documented that extension in a January 3, 2006, Loan Extension
Agreement (the “Amendment”). :

49, Mona was concerned the Project was in financial trouble in January of 2006.

50. At that time, conversations took place between Maize and Mona about a plan to “sell
the asset, get the loan paid off, and move down the road.”

51. That’s also why at this time, RVN hired Park Place Partners to sell either the entire
Project, or any parts of it they could.

I. Far West Expresses Interest in the Project

52. In approximately January of 2006, Far West was considering purchasing a portion of
the Project.

53. One of the things requested by Far West was information about who was behind the
RVN and guarantying its obligations.




10

11

12

13

la

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

54. Scott Lissoy (“Lissoy”) of Far West knew of Maize and held Maize in high regard.

55. While that relationship gave Far West some measure of comfort regarding this
Project, it still wanted to be sure that somebody had something financially at risk to make
sure that they would deliver to Far West critical infrastructure and critical water meters
after escrow closed. '

56. Far West was purchasing 76 lots from RVN that were effectively an “island” in the
middle of a large undeveloped residential community.

57. If the infrastructure surrounding that island was not completed, Far West would have
no streets, water, electrical, cable, telephone, and the like to which it would connect.

58. It would also be in the midst of a master-planned community (clubhouse, swimming
pools, community parks, common areas everywhere, etc.) that would not be completed.

59. Any hope of successfully building and selling homes would be gone, and therefore
Far West wanted to insure that the infrastructure was going to be completed in a timely
manner (by the agreed date of November 1, 2006).

60. Maize represented to Lissoy that RVN and RVVA could complete all infrastructures
by November 1, 2006.

61. Far West therefore asked Maize to include specific Representation and Warranty in
the Purchase Agreements, thereby obligating RVN to complete that entire infrastructure
by November 1, 2006. :

62. Far West also secured Representations and Warranties that confirmed what Maize
was telling it on behalf of RVN; all necessary water meters would be available to Far
West at the close of escrow and there was no claims either pending or threatened by any
entity that might otherwise negatively impact the development of Far West’s lots and/or
the construction of the Project’s infrastructure. '

63. Finally, Far West asked Maize to confirm what he had told Lissoy; that the “Due
Diligence Documents” given by Maize to Far West included everything that was material
to the transaction.

64. Lissoy also asked Maize about who was financially behind RVN, and when Maize
and Robert Pippen (World Development’s and RVN attorney) represented to Lissoy and
Ira Glasky of Far West that Mona was a man of substantial financial means who had
personally guaranteed the Vestin loan, Lissoy asked for written proof.

65. The next day, Richard Van Buskirk (on behalf of Maize) asked for written proof of
Mona’s personal Guaranty.
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66. Mona had in his possession an amendment to the Loan (the “Amendment”), a
document that he had signed in January, 2006 as an individual.

67. Therefore in response to the initial request from Lissoy, Mona’s Office Manager (on
behalf of Mona and acting as his agent) provided Maize with the Amendment (and not
the actual Guaranty), since it represented him to be the Guarantor personally by separate
signature and it neither revealed that the Guaranty was from Emerald Suites nor that it

had expired. -

68. The Amendment was forwarded to Far West the next day in response to its inquiries
regarding confirmation of Mona’s personal Guaranty.

69. That proof of Guaranty was sent by Maize to Far West with a copy to Mona and
containing a note stating that a “copy of the loan extension with the Guarantee is
attached- Condition met” (referring to proof of Mona's personal Guaranty as a condition
precedent to escrow closing).

J. The Capstone Notice of Default

70. RVN was in default on its capital contributions to RVVA, and on March 31, 2006,
Capstone (through Bert) sent Mona a formal Default Notice, demanding that RVN cure
its deficit in the RVVA account.

71. Capstone demanded that RVN contribute $762,943 by April 14, 2006 and an
additional $968,953 in the coming months.

72. Mona told Bert that RVN was out of money and would not be paying anything further
to RVVA.

73. Bert told Mona and Maize that Capstone would continue moving forward with only
its portion of the Project so that its investment was not placed in jeopardy.

74. Bert refused to contribute towards any of the infrastructure that benefited the RVN
property (including what was to be Far West’s lots) unless and until RVN cured its
breach.

75. Bert also told them that he was keeping all of the water meters allocated to the Project]
until RVN brought its account current.

76. Without a water meter, no developer could build and sell a home.

77. Therefore as of the Spring of 2006, RVN’s portion of the Project had no realistic
chance of completion.
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" rate increases (rising from 8% to as high as 14.5%).

K. May of 2006

78. By May of 2006, Cathedral City (the “City™) had become very concerned with the
Project’s innumerable problems and lack of progress.

79. By that time, the Project’s infrastructure was far from complete (including a $5
million off-site water reservoir, a recreation center and common area amenities).

80. The City was threatening to shut down Phase II of the Project (which included the Far|
West lots) altogether.

81. Also at this time, the Vestin loan was again coming due and Mona negotiated another
short (three month) extension.

82. These short extensions were costly in terms of large extension fees demanded and
subsequently paid to Vestin (and not the REITs) totaling $1,700,000 along with interest

83. At this point, Vestin had now taken over $3 million in total fees from the loan
proceeds provided to Mona by the REITs (which at this point in time had funded all of
Mona’s financial requirements in this Project).

84. The Project was already $1,913,636 over budget as of May 16, 2006, and RVN was
both out of cash and in default of its obligations to RVVA.

85. Mona knew that this cost overrun was important and needed to be disclosed to Far
West.

86. The same is true with respect to the Capstone Default Notice: Mona assumed that
Maize was telling Far West all of this during their negotiations.

87. Maize told Far West nothing about the RVVA default or the cost overruns, nor did he
provide Far West with the default letters/notices.

88. As of that point in time, Mona, World Development, and Vestin (and Vestin's related
parties) had taken $7,521,254.65 (all but $900,000 coming from the $9 mﬂhon
Construction Loan) that was not used by them for construction.

89. Also as of that date, there was still $6,936,454.82 that needed to be contributed to
RVVA by RVN.

90. RVN therefore had a shortfall as of June 1, 2006, with no potential available source
of additional capital.

91. Neither Maize nor Mona disclosed this shortfall to Far West at any time prior to Far
West executing the Purchase Agreements.

8
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92. Furthermore, neither Maize nor Mona ever told Far West that Mona, World
Development, and Vestin had taken $7,521,254.65 from the Project.

L. Mona and Maize Mislead Far West into Purchasing Lots by Concealing the

Project’s True State

93. Maize’s negotiations with Far West were proceeding and he kept Mona informed.

94, Mona was responsible for all finances on behalf of RVN, and Maize told Lissoy that
all decisions must therefore be made jointly with Mona.

95. Furthermore, the draft Purchase Agreements (as the transaction was negotiated
between January and May of 2006) were sent to Mona for review and comment.

96, E-mail correspondence between Maize and Mona and addressing the Far West deal
started with the first draft agreement in January of 2006 and ended with the “final deal
points™ on May 26, 2006 (five days before the Purchase Agreements with Far West were

signed).
97. On June 1, 2006, Far West signed two Purchase Agreements for 76 lots in the Project.

98. The combined purchase price under the agreements was $6,430,961.45. Escrow for
72 of the lots closed on June 9, 2006, and escrow for the remaining 4 lots closed on
August 31, 2006.

99, The Purchase Agreements contain, among others, the following Representations and
Warranties which were deemed to be true as of the date of the Purchase Agreements were
signed and restated as of the date escrow closed:

100.”To the actual knowledge of the Seller, there are no...[a]ctions or claims pending or
threatened by any governmental or other party which could affect the Property”

101.”Seller warrants that none of RVVA’s improvements outside or inside the Property
boundary shall preclude, limit or delay Buyer from developing the Property (including
obtaining building permits and/or certificates of occupancy...)”

102.”[AJll improvements except the final lift of asphalt (surface or otherwise) on the
streets surrounding the Property (Rio Largo Road, Rio Guadalupe Road and Rio Madera
Road) will be complete by November 1, 2006

103.”Seller shall use diligent reasonable efforts to ensure that water meters are available
to Buyer, pending payment by Buyer of required meter and facilities fees...”
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104.”To Seller’s actual knowledge, the Due Diligence Documents constitute all of the
material documents relating to the Property in the Seller’s possession as of the date of
this Agreement...”

105.”Each of the representations and warranties set forth in this Section 3 and in Section
6.2 is material to and is being relied upon by Buyer and the continuing truth thereof shall
constitute a condition precedent to Buyer’s obligations hereunder”.

106.All of these Representations and Warranties were false on June 1, 2006, and both
Maize and Mona knew they were false.

107. Maize and Mona knew that RVN was in default under RVV A Operations
Agreement, and that the Project was facing imminent failure.

108. Moreover, RVN’s default had resulted in a pending claim by Capstone (sent directly
to Mona as RVN’s Manager) which would preclude completion of the infrastructure,
delivery of water meters, and Far West’s ability to develop and sell homes upon its lots.

109. Neither Maize nor Mona informed Far West that Capstone had informed them that it
would not contribute toward infrastructure construction benefiting the Far West lots or
that Capstone was retaining all water meters for the entire Project.

110. The failure to disclose those facts constituted a material breach of the Representation
and Warranty pertaining to RVVA’s improvements not precluding, limiting, or delaying
Far West in its development efforts.

111. Furthermore, RVN was not using diligent commercially reasonable efforts to insure
that Far West obtained the required water meters, thereby materially breaching that
Representation and Warranty.

112. RVN did not complete all improvements except the final lift of asphalt by
November 1, 2006, which again constituted a material breach of the Purchase
Agreements.

113. Finally, Maize and Mona did not provide Far West with all “material documents
relating to the Property in Seller’s possession as of the date of this Agreement” (June 1,
2006).

114. At no time did Maize or Mona provide Far West with the following material
documents: (1) the Capstone Default Notice; (2) correspondence from the City
threatening to shut down the Project; (3) documentation showing that the Project was $2
million over budget; or (4) any documentation informing Far West that RVN was out of
money and unable to meet its financial commitments to RVVA.

115. The Purchase Agreements contain a provision awarding Far West liquidated
damages of $1,200 per day for every day that RVN delays delivery of water meters.

10
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116. To this day, those meters have not been delivered by RVN, and the per diem

damages calculated to the first day of trial are $2,100,000.

117. Immediately after the first close of escrow, Bert wrote a second Default Notice to
Mona.

118. Here again, Bert threatened RVN that it would “cease to have any powers, rights, or
authorities” in connection with the management of RVVA and he confirmed that he told

Maize and Mona all along: Capstone “retain(s) the exclusive right to the use if all the
water meters acquired with such amounts funded solely by us”.

119. This was two months before Far West closed the second escrow (August 31).

120. Neither Maize nor Mona provided Far West with the second Capstone Default
Notice or informed Far West about its existence.

121. Far West continued with the transaction and the second escrow closed.

122. In good faith, Far West proceeded with its short-lived plans for development.

123. The company spent another several million dollars in: (1) completing all of the in-
tract infrastructure in preparation for connecting to the Project infrastructure, which RVN

never completed; and (2) building three model homes and one production unit for sale.

124. The Far West project was an island of completed construction in the middle of
uncompleted streets, curbs, gutters, utilities, and the like.

M. Mona Unilaterally Conveys RVN’s Only Asset and Takes the Remaining

Funds for his and Maize’s Personal Use

125. Sometime in September of 2006 and less than 30 days after the second Far West
close of escrow but before the Vestin loan was due, Mona unilaterally decided to walk
away from the Project and give what remained of it back to Vestin.

126. Mona never informed Far West that RVN was transferring the remaining Property to
the lender right after Far West closed escrow.

127. RVN also has $125,000 in its account at E] Paseo Bank, which was RVN’s only
bank account.

128. On or about November 13, 2006, Mona and Maize decided to take that money for
themselves via checks to the Mona Family Trust and World Development, despite having

‘received multiple letters from Far West alleging breach of the Purchase Agreements.

11
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129. Far West had deposited $32,846 into Escrow at the time of the original transaction,
and that money was being held to pay for certain infrastructure improvements that RVN
was going to perform.

130. Those improvements were never constructed.

N. Far West Suffers Damage

131. RVVA never completed the infrastructure and all of RVN's property interests were
conveyed to Vestin by Mona.

132. Because the infrastructure was incomplete, no developers could move forward with
the Project’s remaining lots.

133.Far West was left with four fully-constructed and merchandized homes (3 models
and one production home), with no way to complete the rest of the development and/or to

sell anything.

134. Far West remained obligated to complete certain in-tract infrastructure, or risk a
claim on Far West’s performance bond with the City.

135. All totaled, Far West invested $11,138,411.45 into this Project (which includes the
per-diem delay damages under the Purchase Agreements).

136. With 10% pre-judgment interest through the first day of trial, the grand total is
$16,886,132.16.

137. Daily damages of $5,259.75 from September 23, 2011 until entry of Judgment are

comprised of the per diem penalty plus further pre-judgment interest on Far West’s out-
of-pocket expenses at 10%.

Q. Alter Ego
138. Mona and the Mona Family Trust failed to adequately capitalize RVN.

139. Mona commingled funds belonging to RVN, the Mona Family Trust, MonaCo
Development, and himself personally.

140. Mona diverted RVN’s funds to other than RVN’s uses.
141. Mona treated the assets of RVN as his own.

142. Mona used RVN as a mere shell, instrumentality, or conduit for his own personal
gain.

12
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143. Mona diverted assets from RVN to Vestin, himself, MonaCo Development, and
World Development to the detriment of RVN’s creditors

144, Maintaining legal separation between RVN, Mona, and the Mona Family Trust
would sanction fraud and promote injustice.

145. All actions taken by Mona in this regard were both in his individual capacity and in
his capacity as Trustee of the Mona Family Trust.

Conclusions of Law

A. RVN Breached the Purchase Agreements

1. RVN breached both Purchase Agreements with Far West and Far West suffered
damages proximately caused thereby.

2. Those fixed and readily-ascertainable damages total $11,138,41 1.45, exclusively of
pre-judgment interest.

3. Pre-judgment interest calculated from the day each expense was incurred by Far West
through the first day of trial total $5,727,720.71, and Far West is entitled to that

interest.

4. All Totaled, Far West suffered damages of $16,886,132.16 as of September 23, 2011,
that were proximately caused by RVN’s breaches of the Purchase Agreements.

B. Mona, RVN, and World Development Intentionally Defrauded Far West

5 Both Maize and Mona intentionally misrepresented material facts and concealed other
material facts from Far West as discussed above.

6. When Maize and Mona misrepresented and concealed those materials facts, they were
doing so on behalf of RVN as Members and Managers.

7. Furthermore, Maize made those same material misrepresentations and omitted those
material facts as the CEO and Shareholder of World Development.

8. Maize and Mona were under a duty to disclose those material facts that were
concealed from Far West, and Far West was unaware of those facts or Maize’s and

Mona’s concealment.

9. Maize and Mona acted with an intent to defraud Far West, Far West justifiably relied
upon Maize’s and Mona’s affirmative misrepresentations and omissions, and Far West
sustained damage
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10. As a result of Mona’s, RVN’s, and World Development’s intentional fraud, Far West
sustained damages totaling $16,886.132.16 as of September 23, 2011 (with pre-
judgment interest included).

C. Mona, RVN, and World Development are Liable for Negligent Misrepresentation

11. Maize and Mona (on behalf of World Development and RVN) misrepresented material
facts without a reasonable ground for believing them to be true and omitted certain
material facts, with the intent to induce Far West’s reliance on those facts
misrepresented or omitted.

12. Far West was ignorant of the truth, and justifiably relied upon Maize and Mona’s
representations and omissions, thereby sustaining damage.

D. Mona, RVN and World Development are liable for Breach of the Common Law
Duty to Disclose

13. As a seller of real property, Mona, RVN, and World Development had a duty to
disclose to Far West all facts that materially affected the value of the property being
sold.

14. Maize and Mona failed to disclose the numerous facts referenced above which
materially affected the value of the property, and they knew that such facts were not
known to, or within the reach of diligent attention and observation of Far West.

15. As a result, Far West sustained the damage referenced above.

E. Mona, RVN and World Development are all Liable for Conspiracy to Commit

Fraud

16. Mona and Shustek agreed and conspired to defraud any potential purchasers of the
Project (which ultimately included Far West) by structuring this entire transaction to
appear to be a legitimate loan being made to a legitimate company (RVN) and
guaranteed by another legitimate company (Emerald Suites).

17. The conspiratorial agreement between Mona and Shustek was for them to take
millions of dollars for Vestin in the form of fees, to pay certain individuals and entities
unrelated to the Project a total of $702,000, and for Mona and the Mona Family Trust
to personally reap an initial $1 million profit.

18. Mona and Shustek also agreed that Mona would use what was left of the Construction
Loan to move the Project along far enough to find some unsuspecting developer to
purchase all or part of it from RVN.

19. At some point after the formation of that conspiracy, but no later than the Fall of 2005,
Maize joined them as a co-conspirator.
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20. In exchange for agreeing; (1) to continue moving the Project along and seeking
unsuspecting developers to purchase it; and (2) to stay silent about the monies already
paid from the Construction Loan to Mona and Vestin, World Development was paid
$858,598.60, which money was separate from any project management costs to which
it was to be paid.

21. The many wrongful acts done furtherance of that conspiracy are more fully set forth in
the Findings of Fact.

22. The Liability of Mona, RVN, and World Development is therefore joint and several as
a result of their conspiratorial agreement.

F. Maize Acted as Mona’s Agent

23. Maize was Mona’s actual and ostensible agent when Mona directed him to submit to
Far West the fraudulent Guaranty.

I. MONA IS THE ALTER EGO OF RVN, AND TO THE EXTENT NECESSARY,
OF THE MONA FAMILY TRUST

27. California law governs any alter ego analysis.
28. The alter ego doctrine applies to Limited Liability Companies.

29. Under California law, the alter ego doctrine is a viable theory of recovery against a
Trustee for actions taken in his or her representative capacity to benefit the Trust.

30. Accordingly, this finding of alter ego liability applies to Mona both in his individual
capacity and in his capacity as the Trustee of the Mona Family Trust.

31. There is such a unity of interest and ownership that the separate personalities of
RVN, the Mona Family Trust, and Mona no longer individually exist.

39 The acts of RVN are treated as those of the entity alone, an inequitable result will
follow.

33. Mona, individually and in his capacity as Trustee of the Mona Family Trust, are the
alter egos of RVN and therefore liable for any and all damages awarded against RVN.

34. To the extent necessary, Mona is the alter ego of the Mona Family Trust, and as a

result, both he and the Mona Family Trust are both liable for any and all damages
awarded herein against RVN.
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L. FAR WEST IS ENTITLED TO THE INTERPLEAD FUNDS

Y O W A N AN L A — s Eee—

35. Defendant Fidelity National Title Company filed a Cross-Complaint in Interpleader,
thereby depositing $32,846 with the Court pursuant to Section 386.1 of the California
Code of Civil Procedure.

36. Far West is entitled to those funds, and the Clerk is hereby directed to pay those funds1
to Far West forthwith.

IV. _ JUDGMENT TO BE ISSUED

Judgment shall issue forthwith against Mona in his individual capacity and as Trustee of
the Mona Family Trust, RVN, and World Development in the amount of $16,886,132.16 plus
daily additional damages of $5,259.75 from September 23, 2011 until entry of Judgment, jointly
and severally; this amount totals $17,841,651.92 as of March 5, 2012, Furthermore, that
judgment shall leave a blank for any award of any court costs and attorney’s fees that will be the
subject of Far West’s post-Judgment motions. Finally, the Clerk is directed to release the

$32,846 interplead funds to Far West immediately.

Dated:_ March 5, 2012
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CLERK OF THE COURT

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

FAR WEST INDUSTRIES,
CASE NUMBER: A-12-670352

Plaintiff,

DEPT. NUMBER: XV
vS.

RIO VISTA NEVADA, LLC, MONA Transcript of Proceedings

FAMILY TRUST, MICHAEL J. MONA,
JR., WORLD DEVELOPMENT, INC.,
BRUCE MAIZE, et al.,

Defendants.

BEFORE THE HONORABLE JOE HARDY, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

PLAINTIFF’S MOTION ON ORDER SHORTENING TIME FOR BOND
PENDING APPEAL

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 17, 2015

APPEARANCES:
For the Plaintiff: F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ.
ANDREA GANDARA, ESQ.
For the Defendants: TERRY A. COFFING, ESQ.
RECORDED BY: MATTHEW YARBROUGH, DISTRICT COURT
TRANSCRIBED BY: KRISTEN LUNKWITZ

Proceedings reccrded by audio-visual recording, transcript
produced by transcription service.
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they’re coming.

Second of all, I think the issue -- well, let me
be clear on one thing. The Monas don’t have $24,000,000.
They don’t have $2,000,000. There’s no bond that they
could post that would in any way satisfy what they’re
asking for here. So, --

THE CQOURT: So that statement begs a question:
Are statements or arguments of counsel evidence?

MR. COFFING: Well I'm meking the representation -
- if they’ve got some evidence that there’s $24,000,000
sitting out there, I’d like to see it, but it’s not
evidence, Your Honor, but I’'m here, again, on --

THE COURT: Okay.

MR, COFFING: -- an Order Shortening Time having
spent, you know, the day prior to this being filed in the
settlement conference that counsel just referenced.

THE COURT: Do you want me to continue this
hearing?

MR. COFFING: You’'re putting me in the same boat
I'm in last time, Your Honor. You’re going to make orders
based upon arguments, but 1f the Court would like an
affidavit from Mike Mona and Rhonda Mona that -- to the
extent that they don’t have $24,000,000 to post a bond,
I’11 provide that.

THE COURT: So let’s -- I’11 ask the question
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agaln because I kind of ran into this last time and I
noticed that it was used in the writ process. Do you want
me to continue this hearing?

MR. COFFING: No, Your Honor. I don't.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. COFFING: But I think you need -- I think I’d
ask the Court to acknowledge the difficult situation it
puts me in. It puts me in procedurally and posturally for
my client and to recognize it for what it is, a tactic.

But, second of all, I want to talk first -- a
little bit about this Divorce Decree. I would urge you to
read 1t because it doesn’t transfer all debt to Mr. Mona
and all assets. It deoesn’t. And it’'s specifically subject
to your orders in this case. If you locok at page 3 of 6,
line 25.

THE CQOURT: Hold on. Bear with me.

MR. COFFING: Lines 24 actually.

THE COURT: Okay. Page 3, the paragraph starting
on line 227

MR. COFFING: Yes. Starting on line 22.

[Pause in proceedings]

THE COURT: Doesn’t the first sentence contradict
my ocrder?

MR. COFFING: I don’t Dbelieve it dces, Your

Honor, in the sense that subject to:
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against Apple, it’s clear they’re able to pay that and why
waste the cost of a bond. That’s not the case here by any
means.

Five, whether defendant is in such a precarious
financial situation that the requirement to post a bond
would place other creditors or the defendant in an insecure
position. The defendants have not offered really any
evidence cr cogent arguments as to what other credifors
they may be facing.

Additionally, I certainly appreciate the
statements of counsel in terms of separating, if you will,
the judgment debtor defendants versus Mrs. Mona. So, as to
the judgment debtor defendants, that’s why I'm ordering if
they want my Order stayed, the full amount as requested is
the $24,172,076.16.

In terms of Mrs. Mona, applying the Nelson factors
to her, I think -- you know, first, as to all of them,
actually, please include this in the Order, you know, as
stated in the Nelson case. The purpose of security for a
stay pending appeal 1s to protect the judgment creditor’s
ability to collect the judgment if it is affirmed by
preserving the status quo and preventing prejudice to the
creditor arising from the stay. However, supersedeas bond
should not be the judgment debtor’s sole remedy,

particularly where other appropriate reliable alternatives
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above-entitled matter.

I affirm that this transcript does not contain the social
security or tax identification number of any person or

entity.

AFFIRMATION

KRISTEN LUNKWITZ
INDEPENDENT TRANSCRIBER
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MBAP

F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 9549

E-mail: tedwards@nevadafirm.com
ANDREA M. GANDARA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12580

E-mail: agandara@nevadafirm.com
HOLLEY DRIGGS WALCH

FINE WRAY PUZEY & THOMPSON
400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Telephone: ~ 702/791-0308
Facsimile: ~ 702/791-1912

Attorneys for Plaintiff Far West Industries

i Electronically Filed
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CLERK OF THE COURT

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, a California
corporation,

Plaintiff,
V.

RIO VISTA NEVADA, LLC, a Nevada limited
liability company; WORLD DEVELOPMENT,
INC., a California corporation; BRUCE MAIZE,
an individual, MICHAEL J. MONA, JR., an
individual; DOES 1 through 100, inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No.: A-12-670352-F
Dept. No.: XV

MOTION ON AN ORDER SHORTENING TIME FOR BOND PENDING APPEAL

Plaintiff FAR WEST INDUSTRIES (“Plaintiff” or alternatively, the “Judgment

Creditor”), by and through its attorneys, F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ. and ANDREA M.

GANDARA, ESQ. of the law firm of HOLLEY DRIGGS WALCH FINE WRAY PUZEY &

THOMPSON, hereby respectfully requests that this Court set a bond pending appeal on an order

shortening time.

The Nevada Supreme Court stayed this action and deferred to this Court to set a bond

pending appeal. See Nevada Supreme Court Order entered August 31, 2015, attached hereto as

Exhibit 1. In fact, the Nevada Supreme Court has stated “that a bond would be an appropriate

method to protect [Plaintiff’s] ability to eventually execute on their judgment and, as explained
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above, the district court is the proper forum to seek a bond.” Id. Accordingly, the only
remaining question is the amount of the bond. In Nevada, the bond “should usually be set in an
amount that will permit full satisfaction of the judgment.” Nelson v. Heer, 121 Nev. 832, 834,
122 P.3d 1252, 1253 (2005), as modified (Jan. 25, 2006). For these reasons, Plaintiff requests
that the Court require the Monas to post a bond for the full amount of the judgment,
$24,172,076.16.

Dated this 1st day of September, 2015.

HOLLEY DRIGGS WALCH
FINE WRAY PUZEY & THOMPSON

F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 9549

ANDREA M. GANDARA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12580

400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Attorneys for Plaintiff Far West Industries

DECLARATION OF F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ.

I, F. Thomas Edwards, being first duly sworn under all penalties of perjury, do hereby
depose and state:

1. I make this Declaration in support of the MOTION ON AN ORDER
SHORTENING TIME FOR BOND PENDING APPEAL.

2. I am a sharecholder with the law firm of Holley Driggs Walch Fine Wray Puzey &
Thompson, counsel for Plaintiff/Judgment Creditor Far West Industries.

3. On August 31, 2015, the Nevada Supreme Court entered an order staying this
case, but deferring to this Court to determine the appropriate amount of a bond.

4. Without a bond in place, Plaintiff is at significant risk of prejudice in that the
more time that passes, the less likely Plaintiff will be able to satisfy its judgment.

-2
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5. Therefore, Plaintiff requests that this Court set this motion for hearing on
shortened time to minimize the prejudice to Plaintiff.
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

CJY
Dated this _| day of September, 2015.

F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ.

ORDER SHORTENING TIME

Upon good cause shown, please take notice that the hearing before the above-entitled

Court on MOTION ON AN ORDER SHORTENING TIME FOR BOND PENDING APPEAL
will be heard on shortened time on&p\{wl\ke[ \,‘)’, 10‘6 A‘l q O O L LAAN
Dated this ptemb '\:‘f‘w /{/ 0&'1

muxku\/wa;&ojj |wer 4 o on
of \d%)m %&(‘m\o@" 0, ’LO|

DISTRICT VURT JUDGE U

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

BACKGROUND

In April 2012, Plaintiff obtained a Judgment of more than $18,000,000.00 against
Defendant Michael J. Mona, Jr. (“Mr. Mona™), and the Mona Family Trust Dated February 21,

2002 (“Mona Family Trust™), for fraud, among other claims. See Judgment and Findings of Fact

and Conclusions of Law (“Judgment”), attached hereto as Exhibit 2. Mr. Mona did not limit his
fraud and deceit to the underlying action, but has persisted with this conduct during Far West’s
attempts to execute upon the Judgment, and Mr. Mona’s wife, Rhonda Helene Mona (“Mrs.
Mona”) has become involved in Mr. Mona’s fraudulent and deceitful conduct. The Monas
waged a campaign spanning two years in an effort to avoid satisfying the Judgment. The Monas’
efforts to avoid the Judgment include transfers between spouses, transfers to their children,

transfers to related entities, and now a sham divorce.
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On July 15, 2015, based upon this information, the Court properly sanctioned the Monas,
finding that they violated court orders, lied under oath and made gross omissions in their
briefing. See Order Regarding Order to Show Cause Why Accounts of Rhonda Mona Should
Not Be Subject to Execution and Why the Court Should Not Find Monas in Contempt (“Sanction
Order”), entered July 15, 2015. The Monas have appealed the Sanction Order and requested an
emergency stay of this entire proceeding, as opposed to just a stay of the Sanction Order. The
Nevada Supreme Court granted the Monas requested stay, but deferred to this Court to address
the amount of the bond. See Ex. 1.

It is important to note that the Mona family’s attempt to fraudulently shield their assets
from Plaintiff continues to this day. For example, at the June 26, 2015 judgment debtor
examination of Mrs. Mona, she testified that from the money she received as part of Post-Marital
Property Settlement Agreement (that this Court properly found was a fraudulent transfer), she
purportedly lent approximately $900,000.00 to her son to purchase a condo in San Diego. See
Judgment Debtor Examination Transcript of Rhonda Mona, dated June 26, 2015, 26:16-23.
However, Mrs. Mona has not received any payments on the loan and the supposed repayment
terms have never apparently been negotiated because she “didn’t get into it.” Id. at 27:9-24.
Thus, the $900,000.00 “loan” to her son has all the earmarks of yet another fraudulent transfer.

At the time of the judgment debtor examination, there were no encumbrances recorded
against the San Diego condo. However, just days after the judgment debtor examination on July
17, 2015, a Deed of Trust from Michael Sifen (a family friend) in the amount of $1,000,000.00
was recorded against the San Diego condo. See $1,000,000.00 Deed of Trust, attached hereto as
Exhibit 3.! Then, on August 4, 2015, a Deed of Trust from Mrs. Mona in the amount of
$787,760.88 was recoded against the San Diego condo. See $787,760.88 Deed of Trust, attached
hereto as Exhibit 4. Thus, although the San Diego condo was owned free and clear during the
judgment debtor examination, approximately a month later it had encumbrances recorded against

it totaling over $1.7MM.

! After purchasing the San Diego condo, the Monas’ son transferred it into the name of Lundene
Enterprises, LLC, of which the son is the sole member and manager.
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Notably, Plaintiff only knows about this transaction because it involves publicly recorded
documents. This transaction is merely emblematic of the lengths the Monas will go to
fraudulently shield their assets from Plaintiff and why a bond is required to protect Plaintiff
pending the appeal. There is no way to know what other steps the Monas have taken, or will
take, to fraudulently hide and dispose of other assets while the appeal remains pending. Despite
being found liable for fraud by the California court, and despite being found to have lied and
engaged in fraudulent transfers by this Court, the Monas will not stop their fraudulent conduct.
Therefore, the Monas must be required to post a bond that will fully satisfy Plaintiff’s judgment.

L
THE MONAS MUST POST A BOND IN THE FULL. AMOUNT OF THE JUDGMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court granted Monas’ emergency request to stay this entire
proceeding, as opposed to just a stay of the Sanction Order, and deferred to this Court to address
the amount of the bond. See Ex. 1. In fact, the Nevada Supreme Court has stated “that a bond
would be an appropriate method to protect [Plaintiff’s] ability to eventually execute on their
Judgment and, as explained above, the district court is the proper forum to seek a bond.” Id.
Accordingly, the only remaining question is the amount of the bond. In Nevada, the bond
“should usually be set in an amount that will permit full satisfaction of the judgment.” Nelson v.
Heer, 121 Nev. 832, 834, 122 P.3d 1252, 1253 (2005), as modified (Jan. 25, 2006) (quoting
McCulloch v. Jeakins, 99 Nev. 122, 123, 659 P.2d 302, 303 (1983)).

On April 27, 2012, the California court entered a judgment against Mr. Mona and the
Mona Family Trust in the amount of $18,130,673.58 (judgment of $17,777.562.18, plus costs of
$25,562.56 and fees of $327,548.84). See Ex. 2. Interest on the judgment accrues at 10% per
annum from the entry of the judgment, which equals $4,967.31 in daily interest. See Cal. Code
of Civ. Proc. 685.010; 685.020. Through September 1, 2015, 1,222 days have passed since entry
of the judgment, such that interest of $6,070,050.17 has accrued on the Judgment. The Judgment
has been partially satisfied through wage garnishments totaling $28,647.59. Therefore, the
balance of the Judgment is currently $24,172,076.16 (judgment of $18,130,673.58, plus interest
of $6,070,050.17, less $28,647.59 collected) and interest continues to accrue at $4,967.31 per
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day. Therefore, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Monas be required to post a bond of no '
less than $24,172,076.16, which is the “amount that will permit full satisfaction of the

judgment.” Nelson, 121 Nev. at 834, 122 P.3d at 1253.2

1L
THE MONAS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO AN ALTERNATIVE BOND

In Nelson, the Nevada Supreme Court identified the following five factors to consider in

determining when an alternative bond is appropriate:

(1) the complexity of the collection process; (2) the amount of time
required to obtain a judgment after it is affirmed on appeal; (3) the
degree of confidence that the district court has in the availability of
funds to pay the judgment; (4) whether the defendant's ability to
pay the judgment is so plain that the cost of a bond would be a
waste of money; and (5) whether the defendant is in such a
precarious financial situation that the requirement to post a bond
would place other creditors of the defendant in an insecure
position.

Nelson, 121 Nev. at 836, 122 P.3d at 1254 (citing Dillon v. City of Chicago, 866 F.2d 902 (7th

Cir. 1988). The purpose of these factors is to analyze whether an alternative amount or form of
security is adequate to protect the judgment creditor’s ability to collect upon the judgment. Id. at
835-36. To the extent they arc applicable, these factors do not weigh in favor allowing a reduced
or alternative bond.

(1)  The collection process is very complex.

This Court has had a front row seat to see how complex the Monas have made the
collection efforts. The Monas’ efforts to avoid the Judgment include transfers between spouses,
transfers to their children, transfers to related entities, and now a sham divorce. The Monas have
even concealed bank records and lied under oath to further complicate the collection process.
Despite substantial efforts to collect upon the Judgment dating back to October of 2012, Plaintiff
has only been able to collect $28,647.59, about one tenth (1/10) of a percent of the total
Judgment. The Monas have done, and continue to do, everything in their power to complicate

the collection process in this matter. Therefore, this factor weighs strongly against an alternative

% A larger bond amount is Justified to include the daily interest that will accrue ($4,967.31 per
day) while the appeal is pending.
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bond.
2) As the Judgment has already been entered, the amount of time required to

obtain a judgment after it is affirmed on appeal is not applicable.

As the Judgment has been pending since April of 2012, there is no time required to obtain
a judgment after the appeal. Therefore, this factor is not applicable.

3) The Court should have no confidence in the availability of funds to pay the

Judgment.
The mere fact that Plaintiff has only been able to collect $28,647.59, about one tenth

(1/10) of a percent of the total Judgment, evidences that the Court should have no confidence in
the availability of funds to pay the judgment. In fact, the judgment debtor examinations have
revealed that to the extent the Monas come into possession of any significant funds (e.g., the
$6.8MM for the sale of Medical Marijuana, Inc. divided in the Post-Martial Property Settlement
Agreement), the Monas act quickly to transfer the funds away. Therefore, this factor weighs
strongly against an alternative bond.

“) The Monas’ ability to pay the judgment is highly questionable, such that a

bond is required to protect Plaintiff.
Much like the preceding factor, the mere fact that Plaintiff has only been able to collect

$28,647.59, about one tenth (1/10) of a percent of the total Judgment, evidences that the Monas®
ability to pay the Judgment is highly questionable. It is exactly these types of situations in which
a bond is required to protect a plaintiff’s ability to collect upon the judgment. Therefore, this

factor weighs strongly against an alterntive bond.

(5)  While the Monas are in a precarious financial situation, due in large part to

the Judgment, they put themselves in this position and should not be relieved of their

obligation to post a full bond based upon their own misconduct.

The Monas are very likely in a precarious financial situation. However, they are in that
precarious financial situation because Mr. Mona’s fraud and the resulting Judgment. Likewise,
Mrs. Mona is likely in a precarious financial situation because of her concealment of bank
records in violation of this Court’s Order. The Monas’ misconduct should not be a basis to

-7-
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relieve the Monas of their obligation to post a full bond.
The Nevada Supreme Court borrowed these factors from the Seventh Circuit decision of

Dillon v. City of Chicago, 866 F.2d 902 (7th Cir. 1988). In articulating this final factor, the

Dillion court cited to Olympia Equip. Leasing Co. v. W. Union Tel. Co., 786 F.2d 794 (7th Cir.

1986). In Olympia, the district judge considered the appropriate bond to support the stay
pending appeal of a $36MM judgment against Western Union. The district judge allowed an
alternative bond to be posted, consisting of a pledge of $10MM in cash, $10MM in accounts
receivables, and a security interest in physical assets, which Western Union represented to be
worth about $70MM. Id. at 795-96. Thus, the alternative bond actually secured the judgment
creditor for significantly more than the judgment amount. On appeal, and considering these
factors, the Seventh Circuit approved the alternative bond with the additional requirement that
prevented any cash transfers to Western Union’s parent company. Id. at 799. The Olympia case
illustrates that even if an alternative bond is justified, the sccurity should still be sufficient to
protect plaintiff’s ability to collect upon the judgment.

Plaintiff is unaware of any alternative bond that can adequately protect its ability to
collect upon the judgment. Even if this single factor favors an alternative bond, it is substantially
outweighed by the preceding factors. Therefore, no alternative bond is appropriate in this case.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Monas be required to post a
bond within three (3) days of no less than $24,172,076.16, which is the “amount that will permit
full satisfaction of the judgment.” Nelson, 121 Nev. at 834, 122 P.3d at 1253.

Dated this 1* day of September, 2015.

HOLLEY DRIGGS WALCH

FINE WRAY PUZEY & THOMPSON

F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 9549

ANDREA M. GANDARA, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 12580

400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Attorneys for Plaintiff Far West Industries
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I am an employee of Holley, Driggs, Walch, Fine, Wray, Puzey & Thompson. On the
i\‘day of September, 2015, I filed with this Court and electronically served in accordance with
Administrative Order 14.2, to all interested parties, through this Court’s Wiznet/Odyssey E-File
& Serve, a true copy of the foregoing MOTION ON AN ORDER SHORTENING TIME FOR
BOND PENDING APPEAL, in the above matter, addressed as follows:
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Terry Coffing, Esq.

Tye Hanseen, Esq.

MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING
1001 Park Run Drive

Las Vegas, NV 89145

E-mail: thanseen@maclaw.com
teoffing@maclaw.com

mechols@maclaw.com
chatfield@maclaw.com
Idell@maclaw.com
smong@maclaw.com

rwesp@maclaw.com

F. Thomas Edwards, Esq.

Andrea M. Gandara, Esq.

HOLLEY, DRIGGS, WALCH, PUZEY &
THOMPSON

400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor

Las Vegas, NV 89101

E-mail: tedwards@nevadafirm.com
agandara@nevadafirm.com
nmoseley@nevadafirm.com
tnealon@nevadafirm.com

In addition, copies of the MOTION ON AN ORDER SHORTENING TIME FOR BOND

PENDING APPEAL were served by RECEIPT OF COPY (executed receipts attached hereto) on

the following:

Terry Coffing, Esq.

Tye Hanseen, Esq.

MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING
1001 Park Run Drive

Las Vegas, NV 89145

10594-01/1567507

Robert L. Eisenberg, Esq.
Lemons Grundy & Eisenberg
6005 Plumas Street, #300
Reno, NV 89519

//{,@ DANpal,

Tilla D. Nealon, an employee of
Holley Driggs Walch Fine Wray Puzey &
Thompson
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F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 9549

E-mail: tedwards@nevadafirm.com
ANDREA M. GANDARA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12580

E-mail: agandara@nevadafirm.com

.HOLLEY DRIGGS WALCH

FINE WRAY PUZEY & THOMPSON
400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Telephone:  702/791-0308
Facsimile: 702/791-1912

Attorneys for Plaintiff Far West Industries

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, a California
corporation,
Case No: A-12-670352-F
Plaintiff, Dept. No.: XV
v.
RECEIPT OF COPY

RIO VISTA NEVADA, LLC, a Nevada limited
liability company; WORLD DEVELOPMENT,
INC., a California corporation; BRUCE MAIZE,
an individual, MICHAEL J. MONA, JR., an
individual; DOES 1 through 100, inclusive,

Defendants.

RECEIPT OF COPY of the attached: MOTION ON AN ORDER SHORTENING TIME

FOR BOND PENDING APPEAL is hereby acknowledged this 9th day of September, 2015.
MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING

Touy st [VQ

Terry Caffing, Esq. {/
Nevada Bar No. 4949

1001 Park Run Drive

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

On Behalf of Michael J. Mona
and Rhonda Mona

10594-01/1570027
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F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ.

‘Nevada Bar No. 9549

E-mail: tedwards@nevadafirm.com
ANDREA M. GANDARA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No, 12580 - :
E-mail: agandara@nevadafirm.com
HOLLEY DRIGGS WALCH - -
FINE WRAY PUZEY & THOMPSON
400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Telephone:  702/791-0308
Facsimile:  702/791-1912

Attorneys for Plaintiff Far West Industries
DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, a California '

corporation, -
Case No: A-12-670352-F
Plaintiff, Dept. No.: XV
V. :
RECEIPT OF COPY

RIO VISTA NEVADA, LLC, a Nevada limited
liability-company; WORLD DEVELOPMENTY
INC,, a California corporation; BRUCE MAIZE,
an individual, MICHAEL J. MONA, JR., an
individual; DOES 1 through 100, inclusive,

Defendants.

RECEIPT OF COPY of the attached: MOTION ON AN ORDER SHORTENING TIME |
FOR BOND PENDING APPEAL is hereby ackndwledged this 9th day of September, 2015,

LEMONS, GRUNDY & EISENBERG

jé/kobert L. Eisenberg, Esq.
6005 Plumas street, #300
Reno, Nevada 89519
On Behalf of Rhonda Mona

10594-01/1570027
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An unpublisqed order shall not bi. .garded as precedent and shall not be! :das legal authority. SCR 123

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RHONDA HELENE MONA; AND No. 68434
MICHAEL J. MONA, JR,
Petitioners,
vs,
THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT F I L E D
COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF AUG 3 1 20]5
CLARK; AND THE HONORABLE .
JOSEPH HARDY, JR., DISTRICT CLERE SF SUPRENE COURT
Respondents, .

and
FAR WEST INDUSTRIES,
Real Party in Interest.

ORDER

This original petition for a writ of mandamus or prohibition
challenges a district court order that, in part, directs funds in certain bank
accounts to be applied to a domesticated foreign judgment. We préviously
entered a temporary stay, pending receipt and consideration of additional
documents regarding the stay. Having reviewed the motion for stay, the
opposition thereto, and the reply,} we conclude that a stay is warranted,
pending our further consideration of this writ proceeding. NRAP 8(c);
Fritz Hansen A/ S v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 116 Nev. 650, 6 P.3d 982
(2000). Accordingly, we stay all proceedings in Eighth Judicial District.
Court Case No. A-12-670352-F, pending further order of this court.

1We grant petitioners’ motion to exceed the page limit for the reply
in support of the stay motion and direct the clerk to file the reply received
on August 24, 2015. : -

Supreme COURT
oF
Nevana
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In its opposition to petitioners’ stay motion, real party in
interest requests that petitioners be required to post a “significant” bond
as a condition of any stay. It does not appear that the district court has
yet considered the proper amount of any supersedeas bond, NRAP
8(2)(1)(B), and we have routinely recognized that the district court is
better suited for making supersedeas bond determinations. See Nelson v.
Heer, 121 Nev. 832, 836, 122 P.2d 1252, 1254 (2005). Accordingly, we
deny without prejudice real party in interest’s request to require a bond
and determine the amount of such a bond.

Additionally, real party in interest has filed a motion to
prevent petitioners from “transferring, disposing of or encumbering any
non-exempt property while this [matter] remains pending.”? Having
considered the motion and petitioners’ opposition,? we deny the motion.
We note that a bond would be an appropriate method to protect real party
in interest's ability to eventually execute on their judgment and, as
explained above, the district court is the proper forum to seek a bond..

Finally, having considered the petition and reviewed the
documents submitted with it, it appears that an answer to the petition

will assist this court in resolving the matter. Therefore, real party in

2Real party in interest titled.its motion as an “emergency”’ and
requested relief within four days of its filing. However, real party in
interest failed to identify a specific event or action that required relief in
less than 14 days, other than its apparent desire to have the motion
resolved as soon as possible. This does not constitute an emergency under
our rules.

3We - grant petitioners’ motion to exceed the page limit for an
opposition to a motion and direct the clerk to file the opposition received
on August 25, 2015.

SUPREME COURT
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interest, on behalf of respondents, shall have 30 days from the date of this
order within which to file an answer, including authorities, against
issuance of the requested writ. Petitioner shall have 15 days from service

of the answer to file and serve any reply.

It is so ORDERED. :
'——_‘—&l
Saitta . _
cé é o p .
d. - iRy g
Gibbons Pickering J

cc:  Hon. Joseph Hardy, Jr., District Judge
Marquis Aurbach Coffing
Lemons, Grundy & Eisenberg
Holley, Driggs, Walch, Fine Wray Puzey & Thompson/Las Vegas
Eighth District Court Clerk

SupremE CoURT
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FAR WEST INDUSTRIES, a California

corporation,

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE, RIVERSIDE COURT

 Plaintiff,

V5.

liability company; WORLD DEVELOPMENT
INC,, a California corparation; BRUCE MAIZE
an mdlvxdual MICHAEL J. MONA, JR., an
individual; and DOES 1 through 100, incluswe,

Defendants,

)
)
) Ju
)
)
;
RIO VISTA NEVADA, LLC, a Nevada limited ) Action Filed: March 24, 2008
) T
)
)
)
)
)
)

Mav
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Case No, RIC493966

JUDGE: Hon. Jacqueline Jackson
{EROPOSED] JUDGMENT NUNCFRO-
AUNG

Trial Date: September 23 2011

On February 23, 2012, the Honorable Jacqueline Jackson entered Finding of Fact and
Conclusion of Law in the above-referenced matter. Based upon those Findings and Conclusian,

Judgment is hereby entered in favor of Plaintiff Far West Industries, a California corporation and

Mous, Jr,, as Trustee of the Mona Family Trust dated February 21, 2002; (3) Rio Vista Nevada,
LLC, 2 Nevada limited iability company; and (4) World Development, Inc., a Califomia
corporation in the amount of $17,777,562.18. Recoverable court costs of $25,562.56 and
attorney’s fees of $327,548.84 are also av_vardcd to Far West.[ndushics, Jjointly end severally
against all Defendants. The Clerk is heteby directed to enter those amounts on this Judgment

following Far West Industries’ post-Tudgment petition for them. Finally, the Clerk is hereby

| against the following Defendants, jointly and severally: (1) Michael J, Mona, Ir.; (2) Michael T

PROPESEDHUDGMENT -NUNE PROTUNC—
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directed to release the $32,846 that was interplead by Defendant Fidelity National Title Company

to Far West Industries upon entry of this Judgment.

Dated; '7/‘/ 215

2
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FILED
P T
MAR 06 2012
L
SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE
FAR WEST INSTUSTRIES, A CALIFORNIA ) Case No. RIC495966
CORPORATION, PLANTIFF V RIO VISTA NEVEDA, ;
} JUDGE: Hon. Jacqueline Jackson
LLC., ANEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY; WORLD )
_ ) DEPT:J1
DEVELOPMENT, INC., A CAILFORNIA CORPORATION; ) ,
) FINDINGS OF FACT AND
BRUCE MAIZE, AN INDIVIDUAL; MICHAEL 1. MONA, )} CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
JR., AN INDIVIDUAL, AND DOES 1| THROUGH 100, Action Filed: March 24, 2008

Trial Date; September 23, 2011
INCLUSIVE, DEFENDANTS

On September 23, 201 1, the above-referenced action came on for trial before the
Honorable Jacqueline C. Jackson, Judge presiding. Plaintiff Far West Industrics, a California
corporation (“Far West") was represented by Robert L. Green & Hall, APC, Defaults were taken
against Defendants Rio Vista Nevada, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company (“RVN") and
World Development, Inc., a California corporation (“World Development™) on October 7, 2010,
Defendant Michael J. Mona, Jr. (“Mona™), both individually and as a Trustee of the Mona
Family Trust dated February 21, 2002, was represented by Howard Golds and Jerry R. Dagrella
of Best, Best and Krieger, LLP. After considering the trial testimony and evidence, the Court

issued its Statement of Tentative Decision on November 30, 201 1. Pursuant to Rule 3.1590(c)(3)
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of the California Rules of Court, Far West was directed to prepare these Findings of Fact and

Conclusions of Law. The court has edited them and this is the final version.

I. Summary of Facts and Evidence

10

11.

12,

13,

A. Mona Acquires the Project

Michael Shustek (“Shustek™) was for all times relevant herein the President of Vestin
Mortgage, [nc. (*'Vestin”).

Vestin is a mortgage broker who lends money from Vestin-controlled Real Estate
Investments Trusts (“REITs").

Vestin had loaned money to Lynn Burnett (“Burnett”), who in 2003 was developing a
project which consisted of 1,362 lots in Cathedral City, California (the “Project™).

549 of those lots were being financed by Vestin (the balance by another lender), and
Burnett had defaulted on his loan.

Shustek asked Mona to purchase from Bumnett that portion of the Project financed by
Vestin, and in doing so, agreed to loan Mona $35 million of the REIT"s money.

Shustek asked Mona to get involved even though Mona had no experience building a
master planned residential community.

Of the Vestin $35 million loan, $19,268,568.32 was paid to purchase the Project; this
was the amount needed to fully pay off Burnett's loan to Vestin.

$9 million was to pay for the construction (the “Construction Loan") and $3.6 million
was reserved o pay interest on the loan (the “Interest Reserve"”).

Mona formed RVN, a Nevada, single-purpose LLC to take title to the Project.

The Mona Family Trust dated February 21, 2002 (“Mona Family Trust”) owned
100% of RVN.

Mona contributed no capital to RVN upon its formation. He formed that entity and
100k title in its name “to avoid liability”. He had no intention of making any personal
investment in the Project because it was “too risky”.

Mona provided Vestin with a 12-month guaranty of the RVN lcan (the “Guaranty™)
by another single-purpose, Nevada entity that was owned solely by Mona and also
had no capital or assets, Emerald Suites Bonanza, LLC (“Emerald Suites”).

For its part, Vestin (and not the REITSs) was paid an initial fee of $1.4 million from
the RVN loan proceeds.
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B. Mona Distributes Construction Loan Proceeds for Purposes Other than
Construction

14, Mona began issuing checks from the Construction Loan.

15. More particularly, on February 9, 2004, the first draw was made on the Construction
Loan for $2,448,481.82.

16. When that money was deposited into the RVN checking account three days later,
there was only $2,118,776.38 left.

17. Mona “couldn’t remember” what happened to the remaining $329,705.55.

18. Mona and his wife are the sole Trustees and Beneficiaries of the Mona Family Trust
(a revocable trust). The Mona Family Trust was 100% owner of RVN at that time
and Mona was the only signatory on the RVN account.

19. There was $900,00 paid to RVN on February 5, 2004.

20. This check was deposited into the RVN account, but does not show up on the RVN
Account Register. .

21. Mona also paid $702,000 from the Construction Loan to certain individuals and
entities at the express direction of Shustek, even though those individuals and entities
had never been affiliated with the Project, preformed no work on the Project, and
Mone did not even know who they were. S

22. Mona then paid $1,283,700 to the Mona Family Trust, himself, and MonaCo
Development Company (his Nevada construction company) from the Construction
Loan at the direction of Shustek who had told Mona that Mona could take a $1

million fee for himself up front.
23. There was no provision in the RVN Operating Agreement for any of these payments.

24, The Court finds that Mona took the money for himself, the Mona Family Trust, and
MonaCo Development from RVN shortly after he acquired the Project.

25. At the time that Mona took that money, and also immediately paid the $1.4 million
fee to Vestin and the $702,000 to the Shustek-related individuals, RVN was insolvent.

C. RVVA is Also Created at the Same Time
26. Mona had only purchased 549 of the Project’s 1,362 total lots.
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27. Because it was all being developed at the same time, and Burnett was retaining the
balance of the Project, he and Mona created Rio Vista Village Associates, LLC
{*RVVA™) to perform all of master plan community work which benefitted both parcels
jointly (infrastructure improvements such as streets, utilities, a clubhouse, a park,
landscaped detention basins, a water reservair, a school, etc.).

28. Mona was the sole Manager of the RVN and one of the two Managers of the RVVA.,

29. Mona retained his title and function as a Manager of RVN throughout the life of that
entity, and for all times relevant, he was in charge of all finances for the RVN and the

Project.
D._Mona Soljcits World Development’s Participation
30. Mona solicited World Development’s involvement in the Project.
31. The Mona Family Trust sold 45% of RVN to World Development for $45.
32. At that time, the Mona Family Trust also contributed $55 in capital to RVN.

33. This $100 from World Development and the Mona Family Trust was the only capital
ever contributed to RVN at any time.

34, For all times relevant hereafter, World Development’s CEO and the designated
Manager of RVN was Bruce Maize (“Maize").

35. Mona remained Co-Manager of RVN with Maize,

E. The Project

36. Burnett defaulted on his other loan for the balance of the Project and filed
bankruptcy. -

37. His interest in RVVA was thereafter acquired by WHP Rio Vista, LLC, which was
owned by Capstone Housing Partners, LLC (“Capstone”).

38. By Ociober of 2005, RVN had exhausted Interest Reserve.

39. Maize and Mona knew that the Project still required $15 million in construction costs,
with 40% ($6,000,000) owned by RVN under the RVVA Operating Agreement.

40. That $6,000,000 sum did not include interest payments on the $35 million loan
(which were as high as $411,230.96 per month and which were no longer able to be paid
from the Interest Reserve since it had already been exhausted).
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41, In an Amended Operating Apreement for RVVA, RVN allowed Capstone to become
a member of RVVA under certain conditions.

42. One such condition required Capstone to contribute just under $1,5000,000 to
reimburse RVN for construction costs.

43. World Development learned about Mona’s above-referenced million-dollar-plus
payments from the Construction Loan to himself, his Family Trust and MonaCo
Development and demanded that it also receive a distribution of “profits” to World
Development in the amount of $856,598.60, even though RVN had a negative net worth
of $3.8 million at the time and no revenue from inception.

H. Janusry of 2006

44, In January of 2006, the Construction Loan was coming due with no funds to pay it
off.

45. Mona and Vestin agreed to extend the Construction Loan for a short period of time
(three months), at the cost of $700,000 in loan extension fees.

46. That 5706,000 came from the Construction Loan proceeds and it was paid to Vestin,
ot the REITs. .

47. Therefore as of January of 2006, Vestin had now collected an aggregate of
$2.1million on loan fees from the Project ($1.4 million initial fee plus the $700,000

extension).

48, The parties documented that extension in a January 3, 2006, Loan Extension
Agreement (the “Amendment™). :

49, Mona was concerned the Project was in financial trouble in January of 2006.

50, At that time, conversations took place between Maize and Mona about a plan to “sell
the asset, get the loan paid off, and move down the road.”

51. That's also why at this time, RVN hired Park Place Partners to sell either the entire
Project, or any parts of it they could.

1.  Far West Expresses Interest in the Project

52. In approximately January of 2006, Far West was considering purchasing a portion of
the Project.

53. One of the things requested by Far West was information about who was behind the
RVN and guarantying its obligations.
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54. Scott Lissoy (“Lissoy”) of Far West knew of Maize and held Maize in high regard.

55. While that relationship gave Far West some measure of comfort regarding this
Project, it stil! wanted to be sure that somebody had something financially at risk to make
sure that they would deliver to Far West critical infrastructure and critical water meters
after escrow closed.

56. Far West was purchasing 76 lots from RVN that were effectively an “island” in the
middle of a large undeveloped residential community.

57. If the infrastructure surrounding that island was not completed, Far West would have
no streets, water, electrical, cable, telephone, and the like to which it would connect.

58. It would also be in the midst of a master-planned community (clubhouse, swimming
pools, community parks, common areas everywhere, eic.) that would not be completed.

59. Any hope of successfully building and selling homes would be gone, and therefore
Far West wanted to insure that the infrastructure was going to be completed in a timely
manner (by the agreed date of November 1, 2006).

60, Maize represented to Lissoy that RVN and RVVA could complete all infrastructures
by November 1, 2006.

61. Far West therefore asked Maize to include specific Representation and Warranty in
the Purchase Agreements, thereby obligating RVN to complete that entire infrastructure
by November 1, 2006. :

62. Far West also secured Representations and Warranties that confirmed what Maize
was telling it on behalf of RVN; all necessary water meters would be available to Far
West at the close of esctow and there was no claims either pending or threatened by any
entity that might otherwise negatively impact the development of Far West’s lots and/or
the construction of the Project’s infrastructure, '

63. Finally, Far West asked Maize to confinn what he had told Lissoy; that the “Due
Diligence Documents” given by Maize to Far West included everything that was material
to the transaction.

64. Lissoy also asked Maize about who was financially behind RVN, and when Maize
and Robert Pippen (World Development’s and RVN attomey) represented to Lissoy and
Ira Glasky of Far West that Mona was a man of substantiai financial means who had
personally guaranteed the Vestin loan, Lissoy asked for written proof.

65. The next day, Richard Van Buskirk (on behalf of Maize) asked for written proof of
Mona’s personal Guaranty,
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66. Mona had in his possession an amendment to the Loan (the “Amendment™), a
document that he had signed in January, 2006 as an individual.

67. Therefore in response to the initia] request from Lissoy, Mona’s Office Manager (on
behalf of Mona and acting as his agent) provided Maize with the Amendment (and not
the actual Guaranty), since it represented him to be the Guarantor personally by separate
signature and it neither revealed that the Guaranty was from Emerald Suites nor that it

bad expired.

68. The Amendment was forwarded to Far West the next day in response to its inquiries
regarding confirmation of Mona’s personal Guaranty.

69. That proof of Guaranty was sent by Maize to Far West with a copy to Mona and
containing a note stating that a “copy of the loan extension with the Guarantee is
attached- Condition met” (referring to proof of Mona’s personal Guaranty as a condition
precedent to escrow closing).

J. The Capstone Notice of Default

70. RVN was in default on its capital contributions to RVVA, and on March 31, 2006,
Capstone (through Bert) sent Mona a formal Default Notice, demanding that RVN cure
its deficit in the RVVA account.

71. Capstone demanded that RVN contribute $762,943 by April 14, 2006 and an
additional $968,953 in the coming months,

72. Mona told Bert that RVN was out of money and would not be paying anything further
to RVVA,

73. Bert told Mona and Maize that Capstone would continue moving forward with only
its portion of the Project so that its investment was not placed in jeopardy.

74. Bert refused to contribute towards any of the infrastructure that benefited the RVN
property (including what was to be Far West's lots) unless and until RVN cured its
breach.

75. Bert also told them that he was keeping all of the water meters allocated to the Project]
until RVN brought its account current.

76. Without & water meter, no developer could build and sell a home.

77. Therefore as of the Spring of 2006, RVN’s portion of the Project had no realistic
chance of completion.
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K. May of 2006

78. By May of 2006, Cathedral City {the “City”) had become very concerned with the
Project’s innumerable problems and lack of progress.

79. By that time, the PrOJect‘s infrastructure was far from complete (including a $5
million off-site water reservoir, a recreation center and common area amenities).

80. The City was threatening to shut down Phase I of the Project (which included the Far
West lots) altogether.

81. Alsg at this time, the Vestin loan was again coming due and Mona negotiated another
short (three month) extension.

82. These short extensions were costly in terms of large extension fees demanded and
subsequently paid to Vestin (and not the REITs) totaling $1,700,000 along with interest

" rate increases (rising from 8% to as high as 14.5%).

83. At this point, Vestin had now taken over $3 million in total fees from the loan
proceeds provided to Mona by the REITs (which at this point in time had funded all of
Mona's financial requirements in this Project).

84. The Project was already $1,913,636 over budget as of May 16, 2006, and RVN was
both out of cash and in default of its obligations to RVVA,

85. Mona knew that this cost overrun was important and needed to be disclosed to Far
West.

86. The same is truc with respect to the Capstone Default Notice: Mona assumed that
Maize was telling Far West all of this during their negotiations.

87. Maize told Far West nothing about the RVVA default or the cost overruns, nor did he
provide Far West with the default letters/notices.

88. As of that point in time, Mona, World Devclopment, and Vestin (and Vestin’s related
parties) had taken $7,521,254.65 (all but $900,000 coming from the §9 rm!hon
Construction Loan) that was not used by them for construction.

89. Also as of that date, there was still $6,936,454.82 that needed to be contributed to
RVVA by RVN.

90. RVN therefore had a shortfall as of June 1, 2006, with no potential available source
of additional capital.

91. Neither Maize nor Mona disclosed this shortfall to Far West at any time prior to Far
West executing the Purchase Agreements.

8
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92, Furthermore, neither Maize nor Mona ever told Far West that Mona, World
Development, and Vestin had taken $7,521,254.65 from the Project.

L. Mona and Maize Mislead Far West into Purchasing Lots by Concealing the
Project’s True State

93. Maize’s negotiations with Far West were proceeding and he kept Mona informed.

94, Mona was responsible for all finances on behalf of RVN, and Maize told Lissoy that
all decisions must therefore be made jointly with Mona.

95. Furthermore, the draft Purchase Agreements (as the transaction was negotiated
between January and May of 2006) were sent to Mona for review and comment,

96. E-mail correspondence between Maize and Mona and addressing the Far West deal
started with the first draft agreement in January of 2006 and ended with the “final deal
points” on May 26, 2006 (five days before the Purchasc Agrecments with Far West were

signed).
97. On June 1, 2006, Far West signed two Purchase Agreements for 76 lots in the Project.

98, The combined purchase price under the agreements wes $6,430,961.45. Escrow for
72 of the lots closed on June 9, 2006, and escrow for the remaining 4 lots closed on

August 31, 2006.

99.The Purchase Agreements contain, among others, the following Representations and
Warranties which were deemed to be true as of the date of the Purchase Agreements were

signed and restated as of the date escrow closed:

100.”"To the actual knowledge of the Seller, there are no...[a]ctions or claims pending or
threatened by any governmental or other party which could affect the Property”

101.”Seller warrants that none of RVVA’s improvements outside or inside the Property
boundary shall preclude, limit or delay Buyer from developing the Property (including
obtaining building permits and/or certificates of occupancy...)”

102."[A]Jll improvements except the final lift of asphalt (surface or otherwise) on the
strects surrounding the Property (Rio Largo Road, Rio Guadalupe Road and Rio Madera |
Road) will be complete by November 1, 2006

103.”Seller shell use diligent reasonable efforts to ensure that water meters are available
to Buyer, pending payment by Buyer of required meter and facilities fees...”
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104."To Seller's actual knowledge, the Due Diligence Documents constitute all of the
material documents relating to the Property in the Seller’s possession as of the date of
this Agreement...”

105.”Each of the representations and warranties set forth in this Section 3 and in Section
6.2 is materia! to and is being relied upon by Buyer and the continuing truth thereof shall
constitute a condition precedent to Buyer’s obligations hereunder”.

106.All of these Representations and Warranties were false on June 1, 2006, and both
Maize and Mona knew they were false.

107. Maize and Mona knew that RVN was in default under RVVA .Operations
Agreement, and that the Project was facing imminent failure.

108. Moreover, RVN's default had resulted in a pending claim by Capstone (sent directly
to Mona as RVN’s Manager) which would preclude completion of the infrastructure,
delivery of water meters, and Far West’s ability to develop and sell homes upon its lots.

109. Neither Maize nor Mona informed Far West that Capstone had informed them that it
would not contribute toward infrastructure construction benefiting the Far West lots or
that Capstone was retaining all water meters for the entire Project.

110. The failure to disclose those facts constituted a material breach of the Representatio
and Warranty pertaining to RVVA's improvements not precluding, limiting, or delaying
Far West in its development efforts.

111. Furthermore, RVN was not using difigent commercially reasonable efforts to insure
that Far West obtained the required water meters, thereby materially breaching that
Representation and Warranty.

112. RVN did not complete all improvements except the final lift of asphalt by
November 1, 2006, which again constituted a material breach of the Purchase

Agreements.

113. Finally, Maize and Mona did not provide Far West with all “material documents
relating to the Praperty in Seller’s possession as of the date of this Agreement” (June 1,

2006).

114. At no time did Maize or Mona provide Far West with the following material
documents: (1) the Capstone Default Notice; (2) correspondence from the City
threatening to shut down the Project; (3) documentation showing that the Project was $2
million over budget; or (4) any documentation informing Far West that RVN was out of
money and unable to meet its financial commitments 10 RVVA.

115. The Purchase Agreements contain a provision awarding Far West liquidated
damages of $1,200 per day for every day that RVN delays delivery of water meters.

10
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* 119. This was two months before Far West closed the second escrow (August 31).

received multiple letters from Far West alleging breach of the Purchase Agreements.

116. To this day, those meters have not been delivered by RVN, and the per diem
damages calculated to the first day of trial are $2,100,000.

117. Immediately after the first close of escrow, Bert wrote a second Default Notice to
Mona.

118, Here again, Bert threatened RVN that it would “cease to have any powers, rights, or
authorities” in connection with the management of RVVA and he confirmed that he toid
Maize and Mona all along: Capstone “retain(s) the exclusive right to the use if all the
water meters acquired with such amounts funded solely by us”.

120. Neither Maize nor Mona provided Far West with the second Capstone Default
Notice or informed Far West about its existence.

121. Far West continued with the transaction and the second escrow closed.
122. In good faith, Far West proceeded with its short-lived plans for development.

123. The company spent another several million dollars in: (1) completing all of the in-
tract infrastructure in preparation for connecting to the Project infrastructure, which RVN
never completed; and (2) building three model homes and one production unit for sale.

124. The Far West project was an island of completed construction in the middle of
uncompleted streets, curbs, gutters, utilities, and the like.

. Mona Unilaterally Conveys 's Only Asset Takes the Remainin

Funds for his and Maize’s Personal Use

125, Sometime in September of 2006 and less than 30 days after the second Far West
close of escrow but before the Vestin loan was due, Mona unilaterally decided to walk
away from the Project and give what remained of it back to Vestin.

126. Mona never informed Far West that RVN was transferring the remaining Property to
the lender right after Far West closed escrow.

127. RVN also has $125,000 in its account at El Paseo Bank, which was RVN’s only
bank account.

128. On or about November 13, 2006, Mona and Maize decided to take that money for
themselves via checks to the Mona Family Trust and World Development, despite having

11
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129. Far West had deposited $32,846 into Escrow at the time of the original transaction,
and that money was being held to pay for certain infrastructure improvements that RVN
was going to perform.

130. Those improvements were never constructed.

N. Far West Suffers Damage

131. RVVA never completed the infrastructure and all of RVN’s property interests were
conveyed to Vestin by Mona.

132. Because the infrastructure was incomplete, no developers could move forward with
the Project’s remaining lots.

133.Far West was left with four fully-constructed and merchandized homes (3 models
and one production home), with no way to complete the rest of the development and/or to

sell anything.

134. Far West remained obligated to complete certain in-tract infrastructure, or risk a
claim on Far West’s performance bond with the City.

135. All totaled, Far West invested $11,138,411.45 into this Project (which includes the
per-diem delay damages under the Purchase Agreements).

136, With 10% pre-judgment interest through the first day of trial, the grand total is
$16,886,132.16.

137. Daily damages of $5,259.75 from September 23, 2011 until entry of Judgment are
comprised of the per diem penalty plus further pre-judgment interest on Far West's out-
of-pocket expenses at 10%.

Q. Alter Ego
138. Mona and the Mona Family Trust failed to adequately capitalize RVN.

139. Mona commingled funds belonging to RVN, the Mona Family Trust, MonaCo
Development, and himself personally. ‘

140, Mona diverted RVN's funds to other than RVN’s uses.
141. Mona treated the assets of RYN as his own.

142. Mona used RVN as a mere shell, instrumentality, or conduit for his own personal
gain.

12
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143. Mona diverted assets from RVN to Vestin, himself, MonaCo Development, and
World Development to the detriment of RVN's creditors

144. Maintaining legal separation between RVN, Mona, and the Mona Family Trust
would sanction fraud and promote injustice.

145. All actions taken by Mona in this regard were both in his individual capacity and in
his capacity as Trustee of the Mona Family Trust.

IL Conclusions of Law

A. RVN Breached the Purchase Agreements

1. RVN breached both Purchase Agreements with Far West and Far West suffered
damages proximately caused thereby.

2. Those fixed and readily-ascertainable damages total $11,138,411.45, exclusively of
pre-judgment interest.

3. Prejudgment interest calculated from the day each expense was incurred by Far West
through the first day of trial total $5,727,720.71, and Far West is entitled to that

interest.

4. All Totaled, Far West suffered damages of $16,886,132.16 as of September 23, 2011,
that were proximately caused by RVN's breaches of the Purchase Agreements.

B. Mona and World Development Intentionally Defrauded Far West

5. Both Maize and Mona intentionally misrepresented material facts and concealed other
material facts from Far West as discussed above.

6. When Maize and Mona misrepresented and concealed those materials facts, they were
doing 50 on behalf of RVN as Members and Managers.

7. Furthermore, Maize made those same material misrepresentations and omitted those
material facts as the CEO and Shareholder of World Development.

8. Maize and Mona were under & duty to disclose those material facts that were
concealed from Far West, and Far West was unaware of those facts or Maize's and

Mona’s concealment.

9. Maize and Mona acted with an intent to defraud Far West, Far West justifiably relied
upon Maize's and Mona’s affirmative misrepresentations and omissions, and Far West
sustained damage

13
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10. As a result of Mona’s, RVN’s, and World Development’s intentional fraud, Far West
sustained damages totaling $16,886.132.16 as of September 23, 2011 (with pre-

judgment interest included).

C. Mons, RVN, and World Development are Liable for Negligent Misrepresentation

11. Maize and Mona (on behalf of World Development and RVN) misrepresented material
facts without a reasonable ground for believing them te be true and omitted certain
material facts, with the intent to induce Far West’s reliance on those facts

misrepresented or omitted.

12. Far West was ignorant of the truth, and justifiably relied upon Maize and Mona's
representations and omissions, thereby sustaining damage.

D. Mons and 1d Development iable reach of the Common Law
u isclo
13. As a seller of real property, Mona, RVN, and World Development had a duty to

disclose to Far West all facts that materially affected the value of the property being
sold. .

14. Maize and Mona failed to disclose the numerous facts referenced above which
materially affected the value of the property, and they knew that such facts were not
known to, or within the reach of diligent attention and observation of Far West.

15. As a result, Far West sustained the damage referenced above.

E. Mona, RVN gnd World Development are il Liable for Conspiracy to Commit
Fraud

16. Mona and Shustek agreed and conspired to defraud any potential purchasers of the
Project (which ultimately included Far West) by structuring this entire transaction to
appear to be a legitimate loan being made to a legitimate company (RVN) and
guaranteed by another legitimate company (Emerald Suites).

17. The conspiratorial agreement between Mona and Shustek was for them to take
millions of dollars for Vestin in the form of fecs, to pay certain individuals and entities
unrelated to the Project a total of $702,000, and for Mona and the Mona Family Trust
to personally reap an initial $1 million profit.

18. Mona and Shustek also agreed that Mona would use what was left of the Construction
Loan to move the Project along far enough to find some unsuspecting developer to
purchase all or part of it from RVN.

19. At some point after the formation of that conspiracy, but no later than the Fall of 2005,
Maize joined them as a co-conspirator.

14
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20. In exchange for agreeing; (1) to continue moving the Project along and seeking
unsuspecting developers to purchase it; and (2) to stay silent about the monies already
paid from the Construction Loan to Mona and Vestin, World Development was paid
$858,598.60, which money was separate from any project management costs 10 which
it was to be paid.

21. The many wrongful acts done furtherance of that conspiracy are more fully set forth in
the Findings of Fact. :

22, The Liability of Mona, RVN, and World Development is therefore joint and several as
a result of their conspiratorial agreement.

F. Maize Acted as Mona's Agent

23. Maize was Mona’s actual and ostensible agent when Mona directed him to submit to
Far West the fraudulent Guaranty.

IS THE ALTER EGO OF RVN. AND TO THE EXTENT NECESSARY.

OF THE MONA FAMILY TRUST

27. California law govems any alter ego analysis.
28. The alter ego doctrine applies to Limited Liability Companies.

29. Under California law, the alter ego doctrine is a viable theory of recovery against a
Trustee for actions taken in his or her representative capacity to benefit the Trust.

30. Accordingly, this finding of alter ego liability applies to Mona both in his individual
capacity and in his capacity as the Trustec of the Mona Family Trust.

31. There is such a unity of interest and ownership that the separate personalities of
RVN, the Mona Family Trust, and Mona no longer individually exist.

32. The acts of RVN are treated as those of the entity alone, an inequitable result will
follow.

33. Mona, individually and in his capacity as Trustee of the Mona Family Trust, are the
alter egos of RVN and therefore liable for any and all damages awarded against RVYN.

34, To the extent necessary, Mona is the alter ego of the Mona Family Trust, and as a

result, both he and the Mona Family Trust are both liable for any and all damages
awarded herein against RVN. :
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[I__FAR WEST 1S ENTITLED TO THE INTERPLEAD FUNDS

35, Defendant Fidelity National Title Company filed a Cross-Complaint in Interpleader,
thereby depositing $32,846 with the Court pursuant to Section 386.1 of the California
Code of Civil Procedure.

36. Far West is entitled to those funds, and the Clerk is hereby directed to pay those funds’
to Far West forthwith. :

Iv. JU NT TO BE ISSUE

Judgment shall issue forthwith against Mona in his individual capacity and as Trustee of
the Mona Family Trust, RVN, and World Development in the amount of § 16,886,132.16 plus
daily additional damages of $5,259.75 from September 23, 2011 until entry of Judgment, jointly
and severally; this amount totals $17,841,651.92 as of March 5, 2012. Furthermore, that
judgment shall leave a blank for any award of any court costs and attorney’s fees that will be the
subject of Far West’s post-Judgment motions, Finally, the Clerk is directed to release the

$32,846 interplead funds to Far West immediately.

Dated:__March 52012

16
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281 Independence Blvd.

Pembroke One, Fifth Floor

Virginia Beach, Virginia 23462

DEED OF TRUST

THIS DEED OF TRUST, made this i+ day of July, 2015, between LUNDENE ENTERPRISES LLC, a Nevada
limited liability company, GRANTOR, and First American Title Company, a corporation, TRUSTEE, whose
address is 7676 Hazard Center Dr. Suite 1100, San Diego, CA 92108, and MICHAEL D. SIFEN, BENEFICIARY.

WITNESSETH: Grantor hereby bargains, sells and conveys to Trustee in Trust, with power of sale, the following
described real property situated in the County of San Diego, State of California, legally described as follows
(hereafter the “Real Property”):

See Legal Description Attached as Exhibit "A" hereto and incorporated herein as if fully set forth.

APN: 535-114-04-11

TOGETHER with all right, title and interest of Grantor in al! buildings and improvements now located or hereafter
to be constructed thereon (collectively “Improvements™);

TOGETHER with all right, title and interest of Grantor in the appurtenances, hereditaments, privileges, reversions,
remainders, profits, easements, franchises and tenements thereof, inciuding all timber, natural resources, minerals,
oil, gas and other hydrocarbon substances thereon or therein, air rights, and any land lying in the streets, roads or
avenues, open or proposed, in front of or adjoining the Real Property and Improvements;

TOGETHER with all of Grantor’s right, title and interest to all proceeds (including claims or demands thereto) from
the conversion, voluntary or involuntary, of any of the Real Property and Improvements into cash or liquidated
claims, including, without limitation proceeds of all present and future fire, hazard or casualty insurance policies and
all condemnation awards or payments in lieu thereof made by any public body or decree by any court of competent
Jurisdiction for taking or for degradation of the value in any condemnation or eminent domain proceeding, and all
causes of action and the proceeds thereof of all types for any damage or injury to the Real Property and
Improvements or any part thereof, including, without limitation, causes of action arising in tort or contract and
causes of action for fraud or concealment of a material fact, and all proceeds from the sale of the Real Property
and/or [mprovements.

TOGETHER with all right, title and interest of Grantor in and to (i) all leases, rental agreements and other contracts
and agreements rolating to use and possession (collectively “Leases™) of any of the Real Property or Improvements,
and (ii) the rents, issues, profits and proceeds therefrom together with all guarantees thereof and all deposits (to the
full extent permitted by law) and other security therefore (collectively “Rents”). The Real Property, Improvements,
Leases, Rents and all other right, title and interest of Grantor described above are hereafter collectively referred to as
the “Property”.

1L Obligations Secured. Grantor makes this Deed of Trust for the purpose of securing:
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a Payment of all indebtedness and other obligations evidenced by a promissory note in the principal
amount of $1,000,000 dated February 28, 2014, made by Michael J. Mona III, manager and sole member of Grantor,
as principal and/or guarantor and Beneficiary as party thereto. .

b. Payment and performance of all obligations of Grantor under this Deed of Trust, including
payment of all sums expended or advanced by Beneficiary (or any one of them) hereunder and under the above-
mentioned promissory note, together with interest thereon, in the preservation, enforcement and realization of the
rights of Beneficiary hereunder or under any of the other obligations secured hereby including, but not limited to,
attorney’s fees, court costs, other litigation expenses, and foreclosure expenses.

c. Payment and performance of all future advances and other obligations that the then record owner
of all or part of the Property may agree to pay or perform (whether as principal, surety or guarantor) for the benefit
of Beneficiary, when such obligation is evidenced by a writing which states that it is secured by this Deed of Trust.

d. All modifications, extensions and renewals (if any) of one or more of the obligations secured
hereby, including without limitation ({) modifications of the required principal payment dates or interest payment
dates, deferring or accelerating payment dates wholly or partly, and (ii) medifications, extensions or renewals at a
different rate of interest, whether or not, in the case of a note or other contract, the modification, extension or
renewal is evidenced by a new or additional promissory note or other contract.

The obligations secured by this Deed of Trust are herein collectively called the “Secured Obligations”, All persons
who may have or acquire an interest in the Property shall be deemed to have notice of, and shall be bound by, the
terms of the Agreement, this Deed of Trust, and any other instruments or documents made or entered into in
connection herewith (collectively “Documents™) and each of the Secured Obligations.

2. Leases and Rents.

a. Neither the assignment of the Leases and Rents set forth in this Deed of Trust nor any provision of
the Agreement shall impose upon Beneficiary any duty to produce Rents from the Property or cause Beneficiary to
be (a) a “mortgagee in possession” for any purpose, (b) responsible for performing any of the obligations of the
lessor under any Lease or (c) responsible or liable for any waste by any lessees or any other parties, for any
dangerous or defective condition of the Property, for any nogligence in the management, upkeep, repair or contro! of
the Property or for any other act or omission by any other person.

b. Grantor covenants and agrees that Grantor shall not (i) amend, modify or change any term,
covenant or condition of any Lease in existence on the date of this Deed of Trust without the prior written consent of
Beneficiary or (ii) enter into any Lease of the Property, or any interest therein, or any portion there of, from and after
the date of this Deed of Trust without the prior written consent of Beneficiary. Grantor agrees that commencing with
an Event of Default, as hereinafier defined, each tenant of the Property, or any portion thereof, shall make such
Rents payable to and pay such Rents to Beneficiary, or Beneficiary’s agent, upon Beneficiary’s written demand to
each tenant therefor, without any liability on the part of such tenant to inquire further as to the existence of a Default
by Grantor, provided, however, in the event of Grantor’s cure of any such Default as herein provided, Grantor shall
again be entitled to recover and collect such Rents as provided above prior to the event of Default.

c. Grantor shall (i) fulfill or perform each and ever condition and covenant of cach Lease to be
fulfilled or performed by the lessor thereunder, (ii) give prompt notice to Beneficiary of any notice of default by the
lessor or the lessee thereunder received by Grantor together with a complete copy of any such notice, and (iii)
enforce, short of termination thereof, the performance or observance of each and every covenant and condition
thereof by the lessee thereunder to be performed or observed.
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d. Grantor shall furnish to Beneficiary, within thirty (30) days after a request by Beneficiary, a
written statement containing the names of all lessees of the Property, the terms of their respective Leases, the spaces
occupied and the rentals payable and received thereunder and a copy of each Lease.

3. Further Covenants of Grantor. To protect the security of this Deed of Trust, Grantor further covenants
and agrees:
a. To keep the property in good condition and repair; to permit no waste thereof, to complete any

building, structure or improvement being built or about to be built thereon; to restore promptly any building,
structure or improvement thereon which may be damaged or destroyed; and to comply with all laws, ordinances,
regulations, covenants, conditions and restrictions affecting the property.

b. To pay before delinquent all lawful taxes and assessments upon the property; to keep the property
free and clear of all other charges, liens or encumbrances impairing the security of this Deed of Trust except as
otherwise expressly authorized in writing by the Beneficiary.

C. To keep all buildings now or hereafier erected on the property described herein continuously
insured against loss by fire or other hazards in an amount not less than the total debt secured by this Deed of Trust.
All policies shall be held by the Beneficiary, and be in such companies as the Beneficiary may approve and have
loss payable first the Beneficiary and then to the Grantor. The amount collected under any insurance policy may be
applied upon any indebtedness hereby secured in such order as the Beneficiary shall determine. Such application by
the Beneficiary shall not cause discontinuance of any proceedings to foreclose this Deed of Trust. In the event of
foreclosure, all rights of the Grantor in insurance policies then in force shall pass to the purchaser at the foreclosure
sale.

d. To defend any action or proceeding purporting to affect the security hereof or the rights or powers
of the Beneficiary or Trustee, and to pay all costs and expenses, including cost of title search and attorney's fees in a
reasonable amount, in any such action or proceeding, and in any suit brought by the Beneficiary to foreclose the
Deed of Trust.

e. To pay all costs, fees and expenses in connection with this Deed of Trust, including the expenses
of the Trustee incurred in enforcing the obligation secured hereby and Trustee’s and attorney’s fees actually
incurred, as provided by statute.

f. Should Grantor fail to pay when due any taxes, assessments, insurance premiums, liens,
encumbrances or other charges against the property hereinabove described, Beneficiary may pay the same, and the
amount so paid, with interest at the rate set forth in the note secured hereby, shall be added to and become a part of
the debt secured in this Deed of Trust.

4 Additional Agreements of Parties. 1t is mutually agreed that:

a. In the event any portion of the Property is taken or damaged in an eminent domain proceeding, the
entire amount of the award or such portion as may be necessary to fully satisfy the obligations secured hereby, shall
be paid to Beneficiary to be applied to said obligation.

b. By accepting payment of any sum secured hereby after its due date, Beneficiary does not waive
their rights to require prompt payment when due of all other sums so secured or to declare default for failure to so

pay.
c. The Trustee shall reconvey all or any part of the Property covered by this Deed of Trust to the

person entitled thereto, on written request of the Grantor and the Beneficiary, or upon satisfaction of the obligations
secured and written request for reconveyance made by the Beneficiary or the person entitled thereto.
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d. Upon default by Grantor in the payment of any indebtedness secured hereby or in the performance
of any agreement contained herein, all sums secured hereby shall immediately become due and payable at the option
of the Beneficiary. In such event and upon written request of the Beneficiary, Trustee shall sell the trust property, in
accordance with the laws of the State of California, at public auction to the highest bidder. Any person except the
Trustee may bid at the Trustee’s sale. Trustee shall apply the proceeds of the sale as follows: (a) to the expense of
the sale, including a reasonable Trustee’s fee and attorney’s fee; (b) to the obligations secured by this Deed of Trust;
(c) the surplus, if any, shall be distributed to the persons entitled thereto.

e Trustee shall deliver to the purchaser at the sale its deed, without warranty, which shall convey to
the purchaser the interest in the property which Grantor has or had the power to convey at the time of his execution
of this Deed of Trust, and such as he may have acquired thereafter. Trustee's deed shall recite the facts showing that
the sale was conducted n compliance with all the requirements of law and of this Deed of Trust, which recital shall
be prima facie evidence of such compliance and conclusive evidence thereof in favor of bona fide purchaser and
encumbrances for value.

f The power of sale conferred by this Deed of Trust and by the law of the State of California is not
an exclusive remedy; Beneficiary may cause this Deed of Trust to be foreclosed as a mortgage.

g In the event of the death, incapacity, disability or resignation of Trustee, Beneficiary may appoint
in writing a successor trustee, and upon the recording of such appointment in the mortgage records of the county in
which this Deed of Trust is recorded, the successor trustee shall be vested with all powers of the original trustee.
The Trustee is not obligated to notify any party hereto of pending sale under any other Deed of Trust or of any
action or proceeding in which Grantor, Trustee or Beneficiary shall be a party unless such action or proceeding is
brought by the Trustee.

h. This Deed of Trust applies to, inures to the benefit of, and is binding not only on the parties
hereto, but on their heirs, devisees, legatees, administrators, executors and assigns. The term Beneficiary shall mean
the holders and owners of the note secured hereby, whether or not named as a Beneficiary herein.

“GRANJORY
o YN
Y- 1’
Michael J. Mona I1, Manager and Sole Member
Lundent gnlerprises, LLC

STATE OF CALIFORNIA )

) ss.
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO )
On this | l“‘ day of July, 2015, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for the State of California, duly
commissioned and swom, personally appeared Michael J. Mona III, to me known to be the Manager and duly
authorized agent of Grantor and who acknowledged that he executed the foregoing instrument on behalf of Grantor
for the uses and purposes therein mentioned.
Witness my hand and official seal hereto affixed the day and year first above written,

W hodae & Rehain

Notary Public in and for the State of California

1 RHODA E. LELEVIER
Commission # 2108659
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EXHIBIT A

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Real property in the City of San Diego, County of San Diego, State of California, described as
follows:

A CONDOMINIUM ("CONDOMINIUM") LOCATED ON THE REAL PROPERTY DESCRIBED AS LOT 1
OF SUBDIVISION MAP NO. 14325, FILED IN THE OFFICIAL RECORDS OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY,
CALIFORNIA ON DECEMBER 28, 2001 ("PROPERTY"), COMPRISED OF:

PARCEL 1:

A SEPARATE INTEREST IN UNIT NO. 701, AS DESIGNATED ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN FOR
PARKLOFT CONDOMINIUMS RECORDED ON MARCH 8, 2002 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 02-198584
AND AS AMENDED AUGUST 21, 2002 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 02-708932 BOTH IN THE OFFICTAL
RECORDS OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA ("CONDOMINIUM PLAN"),

PARCEL 2:

AN UNDIVIDED 1/120TH INTEREST IN THE UNDIVIDED INTEREST COMMON AREA AS
DESCRIBED IN THE DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR
PARKLOFT CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSQCIATION RECORDED ON MARCH 8, 2002 AS
INSTRUMENT NO. 02-198585, IN THE OFFICIAL RECORDS OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY,
CALIFORNIA ("DECLARATION") AND ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN, WHICH WILL NOT BE
OWNED BY THE PARKLOFT CONDOMINILIM OWNERS ASSOCIATION ("ASSOCIATION"),

PARCEL 3:
A NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR INGRESS, EGRESS, USE, ENJOYMENT AND SUPPORT OVER
THE COMMON AREA, AS DESCRIBED IN THE DECLARATION AND ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN,
WHICH WILL BE OWNED BY THE ASSOCIATION.

EXCEPTING THEREFROM

A, ALL NUMBERED CONDOMINIUM UNITS DESCRIBED IN THE DECLARATION AND ON THE
CONDOMINIUM PLAN OTHER THAN THE UNIT CONVEYED AS P; | CEL 1 ABOVE.

B. THOSE PORTIONS OF THE EXCLUSIVE USE COMMON AREA, A$ DESCRIBED IN THE
DECLARATION AND ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN, WHICH ARE SET ASIDE AND ALLOCATED

.FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF OWNERS OF CONDCMINIUYS (oS DEFINED IN THE

DECLARATION) OTHER THAN THE CONDOMINIUM CONVEYED HEREIN,
PARCEL 4:
THE EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO USE THE FOLLOWING ELEMENTS OF THE COMMON AREA

(DESIGNATED AS EXCLUSIVE USE COMMON AREA), AS SHOWN ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN,
WHICH WILL BE OWNED THE ASSOCIATION.

APN: 535-114-04-11




CALIFORNIA ALL-PURPOSE ACKNOWLEDGMENT CIVIL CODE § 1189
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A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who signed the
document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document.

State of California )
County of _Sam 1 e 0000 )
On_ W s before me, m.g[ﬁie_r Mok e
Date Here Insert Name 2nd Title of the Officer
personally appeared W\‘,Chgg S 5 Mana PANY .
Name(s) of Signer(s)
R —

who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(sywhose namefs) is/are
subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/sié/they executed the same in
his/het/theit authorized capacityfies], and that by his/berrther signaturgfs]on the instrument the personie};
or the entity upon behalf of which the persorlwﬁcted, executed the instrument.

| certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws

M. RUFFIER
Commission # 1980743

Place Notary Seal Above

Notary Public - Californla i
an Diego County =

ciw ghls
q’}} §
1 wE Mx Comm, Expires Jun 3, 2016‘

of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph
is true and correct,

WITNESS my hand an icial seal.

Signature /\

lgm;fure of Notary Public

OPTIONAL

Though this section is optional, completing this information can deter alteration of the document or
fraudulent reattachment of this form to an unintended document.

Description of Attached Document
Title or Type of Document:

Number of Pages: _{o Signer(s) Other Than Named Above:

Capacity(ies) Claimed by Signer(s)
Signer's Name:

Teuer WM S35 16+ UL pocument Date:  Iwdu e g

Signer's Name: e

O Corporate Officer — Title(s):
[J Partner — [ Limited
[ Individual

O Trustee Guardian or Conservator [ Trustee

[0 Other:

& Corporate Officer — Title(s):
O Partner — [ Limit (J General

U Individual Attorney in Fact

[0 Guardian or Conservator

{J Oth

Signer JsRepresenting:

r Is Representing:

R

2014 National Notary Association » www

NationalNotary.org - 1-800-US NOTARY (1-800-876-6827) ltem #5907

R R R R R R R R R R




EXHIBIT 4

EXHIBIT 4




w\?

\Q RECORDING REQUESTED BY

DOC# 2015-0410793
OB I AR

Aug 04, 2015 08:29 AM
OFFICIAL RECORDS

Terry A, Coffing, Esq. Ernest J. Dronenburg, Jr.,

Marquis Aurbach Coffing, P.C. SAN DIEGO COUNTY RECORDER
10001 Park:Run Drive FEES:  $51.00

Las Vegas, NV 89145 ’ PCOR NIA PAGES: 7

AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL DOCUMENT TO:
Terry A. Coffing, Esqg.

Marquis Aurbach Coffing, P.C.

10001 Park Run Drive . '
Las Vegas, NV 89145 Space Above This Line for Recorder’s Use Only

A.P.N.: 535-114-0411

DEED OF TRUST WITH ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS
(LONG FORM)

THIS DEED OF TRUST, made this July _<© |, 2% 2015, between

TRUSTOR: Lundene Enterprises LLC, a Nevada limited liability company
whase address is 877 Island Avenue, Unit 701, San Diego, CA 92101
TRUSTEE: First American Title Insurance Company

and BENEFICIARY: Rhonda Mona

whose address is 59 Promontory Ridge Drive, Las Vegas, NV 89135

WITNESSETH: That Trustor grants to Trustee in trust, with power of sale, that property in the City of San Dlego,
County of San Dlego, State of Callfornia, described as:

A CONDOMINIUM ("CONDOMINIUM”) LOCATED ON THE REAL PROPERTY DESCRIBED AS LOT 1 OF
SUBDIVISION MAP NO. 14325, FILED IN THE OFFICIAL RECORDS OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA ON
DECEMBER 28, 2001 ("PROPERTY"), COMPRISED OF:

PARCEL 1: |
A SEPARATE INTEREST IN UNIT NO. 701, AS DESIGNATED ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN FOR PARKLOFT
CONDOMINIUMS RECORDED ON MARCH 8, 2002 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 02-198684 AND AS AMENDED AUGUST
21, 2002 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 02-708932 BOTH IN THE OFFICIAL RECORDS OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY,
CALIFORNIA ("CONDOMINIUM PLAN"),

PARCEL 2:

AN UNDIVIDED 1/120TH INTEREST IN THE UNDIVIDED INTEREST COMMON AREA AS DESCRIBED IN THE
DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR PARKLOFT CONDOMINIUM OWNERS
ASSOCIATION RECORDED ON MARCH 8, 2002 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 02-198685, IN THE OFFICIAL RECORDS OF
SAN DIEGO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA ("DECLARATION") AND ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN, WHICH WILL NOT BE
OWNED BY THE PARKLOFT CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSOCIATION (“ASSOCIATION”).

MIM
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PARCEL 3:

A NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR INGRESS, EGRESS, USE, ENJOYMENT AND SUPPORT OVER THE COMMON
AREA, AS DESCRIBED IN THE DECLARATION AND ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN, WHICH WILL BE OWNED BY
THE ASSOCIATION,

EXCEPTING THEREFROM

ALL NUMBERED CONDOMINIUM UNITS DESCRIBED IN THE DECLARATION AND ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN
OTHER THAN THE UNIT CONVEYED AS PARCEL 1 ABOVE,

THOSE PORTIONS OF THE EXCLUSIVE USE COMMON AREA, AS DESCRIBED IN THE DECLARATION AND ON THE
CONDOMINIUM PLAN, WHICH ARE SET ASIDE AND ALLOCATED FOR THE EXCLUSIVE USE OF OWNERS OF
CONDOMINIUMS (AS DEFINED IN THE DECLARATION) OTHER THAN THE CONDOMINIUM CONVEYED HEREIN.

PARCEL 4:

THE EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO USE THE FOLLOWING ELEMENTS OF THE COMMON AREA (DESIGNATED AS
EXCLUSIVE USE COMMON AREA), AS SHOWN ON THE CONDOMINIUM PLAN, WHICH WILL BE OWNED THE
ASSOCIATION.

together with rents, issues and profits thereof, subject, however, to the right, power and authority herelnafter
given to and conferred upon Beneficiary to collect and apply such rents, issues and profits for the purpose of
securing (1) payment of the sum of $787,760.88 U.S., with interest thereon according to the terms of a
promissory note or notes of even date herewith made by Trustor, payable to order of Beneficiary, and extensions
or renewals thereof, (2) the performance of each agreement of Trustor incorporated by reference or contained
herein and (3) payment of additional sums and interest thereon which may hereafter be lcaned to Trustor, or his
successors or assigns, when evidenced by a promissory note or notes reciting that they are secured by this Deed
of Trust,

A.  To protect the security of this Deed of Trust, Trustor agrees:

Mt

(Continued on Page 3)
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2)

3)

4

5

1y

2)

3)

To keep said property in good condition and repair, not to remove or demolish any building
thereon; to complete or restore promptly and in good and workmanlike manner any building
which may be constructed, damaged or destroyed thereon and to pay when due all claims for
labor performed and materials furnished therefore, to comply with all laws affecting said property
or requiring any alterations or improvements to be made thereon, not to commit or permit waste
thereof; not to commit, suffer or permit any act upon sald property in violation of law; to
Cultivate, irrigate, fertilize, fumigate, prune and do all other acts which from the character or use
of said property may be reasonably necessary, the specific enumerations herein not excluding the
general,

To provide, maintain and deliver to Beneficiary fire insurance satisfactory to and with loss
payable to Beneficiary. The amount collected under any fire or other insurance policy may be
applied by Beneficiary upon Indebtedness secured hereby and in such order as Beneficiary may
determine, or at option of Beneficlary the entire amount so collected or any part thereof may be
released to Trustor. Such application or release shall not cure or waive any default or notice of
default hereunder or Invalidate any act done pursuant to such notice.

To appear in and defend any action or proceeding purporting to affect the security hereof or the
rights or powers of Beneficiary or Trustee; and to pay all costs and expenses, including cost of
evidence of title and attorney's fees in a reasonable sum, in any such action or proceeding in
which Beneficiary or Trustee may appear, and in any suit brought by Beneficlary to foreclose this
Deed.

To pay, at least ten days before definquency all taxes and assessments affecting said property,
including assessments on appurtenant water stock; when due, all encumbrances, charges and
fiens, with interest, on said property or any part thereof, which appear to be prior or superior
hereto; all cost, fees and expenses of this Trust

Should Trustor fall to make any payment or to do any act as hereln provided, then Beneficiary or
Trustee, but without obligation so to do and without notice to or demand upon Trustor and
without releasing Trustor from any obligation hereof, may; make or do the same in such manner
and to such extent as either may deem necessary to protect the security hereof, Beneficlary or
Trustee being authorized to enter upon said property for such purposes; appear in and defend
any action purporting to affect the security hereof or the rights or powers of Beneflciary or
Trustee; pay, purchase, contest or compromise any encumbrance, charge or lien which In the
judgment of either appears to be prior or superior hereto; and, in exercising any such powers,
pay necessary expenses, employ counsel and pay his reasonable fees.

To pay immediately and without demand all sums so expended by Beneficiary or Trustee, with
interest from date of expenditure at the amount allowed by law in effect at the date hereof, and
to pay for any statement provided for by law in effect at the date hereof regarding the obligation
secured hereby any amount demanded by the Beneficlary not to exceed the maximum allowed
by law at the time when said statement is demanded.

B. It is mutually agreed:

That any award in connection with any condemnation for public use of or injury to said property
or any part thereof is hereby assigned and shall be pald to Beneficiary who may apply or release
stich moneys recelved by him In the same manner and with the same effect as above provided
for disposition of proceeds of fire or other Insurance.

That by accepting payment of any sum secured hereby after its due date, Beneficiary does not
walve his right elther to require payment when due of all other sums so secured or to declare
default for failure so to pay.

That at any time or from time to time, without liability therefore and without notice, upon written
request of Beneficiary and presentation of this Deed and said note for endorsement, and without

(Continut_ad on Page 4) MTM
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4)

5)

6)

7)

affecting the personal liabliity of any person for payment of the indebtedness secured hereby,
Trustee may: reconvey any part of sald property; consent to the making of any map or plat
thereof; join in granting any easements thereon, or join in any extension agreement or any
agreement subordinating the lien or charge hereof.

That upon written request of Beneficiary stating that all sums secured hereby have been pald,
and upon surrender of this Deed and said note to Trustee for cancellation and retention or other
disposition as Trustee in its sole discretion may choose and upon payment of its fees, Trustee
shall reconvey, without warranty, the property then held hereunder. The recitals in such
reconveyance of any matters or facts shall be conclusive proof of the truthfulness thereof. The
Grantee in such reconveyance may be described as "the person or persons legally entitled
thereto".

That as addItional security, Trustor hereby gives to and confers upon Beneficiary the right, power
and authority, during the continuance of these Trusts, to collect the rents, issues and profits of
said property, reserving unto Trustor the right; prior to any default by Trustor in payment of any
indebtedness secured hereby or in performance of any agreement hereunder, to collect and
retain such rents, Issues and profits as they become due and payable. Upon any such defaul,
Beneficlary may at any time without notice, either in person, by agent, or by a receiver to be
appointed by a court, and without regard to the adequacy of any security for the indebtedness
hereby secured, enter upon and take possession of said property or any part thereof, in his own
name sue for or otherwise collect such rents, issues, and profits, including those past due and
unpaid, and apply the same, less costs and expenses of operation and collection, inciuding
reasonable attorney's fees, upon any Indebtedness secured hereby, and in such order as
Beneficiary may determine. The entering upon and taking possession of said property, the
collecting of such rents, issues and profits and the application thereof as aforesaid, shall not cure
or walve any default or notice of default hereunder or invalidate any act done pursuant to such
notice.

That upon default by Trustor in payment of any indebtedness secured hereby or In performance
of any agreement hereunder, Beneficlary may declare all sums secured hereby immediately due
and payable by delivery to Trustee of written declaration of default and demand for sale and of
written notice of default and of election to cause to be sold said property, which notice shall
cause to be filed for record. Beneficiary also shall deposit with Trustee this Deed, said note and
all documents evidencing expenditures secured hereby.

After the lapse of such time as may then be required by law following the recordation of said
notice of default, and notice of said having been given as then required by law, Trustee, without
demand on Trustor, shall sell said property at the time and place fixed by it in said notice of sale,
either as a whole or in separate parcels, and In such order as it may determine, at public auction
to the highest bidder for case in lawful money of the United States, payable at time of sale.
Trustee may postpone sale of all or any portion of sald property by public announcement at such
time and place of sale, and from time to time thereafter may postpone such sale by public
announcement at the time fixed by the preceding postponement. Trustee shall dellver to such
purchaser its deed conveying the property so sold, but without any covenant or warranty,
express or Iimplied. The recitals in such deed of any matters or facts shall be conclusive proof of
the truthfulness thereof. Any person, including Trustor, Trustee, or Beneficiary as herelnafter
defined, may purchase at such sale.

After deducting all costs, fees and expenses of trustee and of this Trust, including costs of
evidence of title in connection with sale, Trustee shall apply to proceeds of sale to payment of: all
sums expended under the terms hereof, not then repaid, with accrued Interest at the amount
allowed by law in effect at the date hereof; all other sums then secured hereby; and the
remainder, if any, to the person or persons legally entitled thereto.

Beneficiary, or any successor in ownership of any indebtedness secured hereby, may from time
to time, by Instrument In writing, substitute a successor or successors to any Trustee named

(Continued on Page 5)
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10}

Dated;

SIGNED:

herein or acting hereunder, which Instrument, executed by the Beneficiary and duly
acknowledged and recorded in the office of the recorder of the county or counties where said
property is situated shall be conclusive praof of proper substitution of such successor Trustee or
Trustees, who shall, without conveyance from the Trustee predecessor, succeed to all its title,
estate, rights, powers and dutles. Said fnstrument must contain the name of the original Trustor,
Trustee and Beneficiary hereunder, the book and page where this Deed s recorded and the
name and address of the new Trustee.

That this Deed applies to, inures to the benefit of, and binds all parties hereto, their heirs,
legatees, devisees, administrators, executors, successors and assigns. The term Beneficiary shall
mean the owner and holder, including pledgees, of the note secured hereby, whether or not
named as Beneficiary herein. In this Deed, whenever the context so requires the masculine
gender includes the feminine and/or neuter, and the singular number includes the plural.

That Trustee accepts this Trust when this Deed, duly executed and acknowledged, is made a
public record as provided by law. Trustee Is not obligated to notify any party hereto of pending
sale under any other Deed of Trust or of any action or proceeding in which Trustor, Beneficiary
or Trustee shall be a party unless brought by Trustee.

Trustor requests that copies of the notice of default and notice of sale be sent to Trustor's
address as shown above.

Beneficlary requests that copies of notices of foreclosure from the holder of any lien which has
priority over this Deed of Trust be sent to Beneficiary's address, as set forth on page one of this
Deed of Trust, as provided by Section 2924(b) of the California Civil Code.

Lundene Enterprises LLC,
a Nevada limited Liability company

MICHAEL MONA III, Manager

) Mons

MI™
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A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the lder;tity of the individual who signed
the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfuiness, accuracy, or validity of tha
document.

\ \
STATE OF CC\" FOW"O‘ )SS
CoUNTYoF __<an Diegg )

J
On 7‘/&5//5 1, before me, DMQV f?. KQVIQ” , Notary
Public, personally appeared Micnaf! 35 Mono OF
» who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to
be the person(gd whose namet is/ape’ subscribed to the within Instrument and acknowledged to me that
he/shefthey executed the same in his/herftheir authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(@ on
the instrument the person¢sy, or the entity upon behalf of which the persongsy acted, executed the instrument.

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph Is
true and correct.

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 1

OMAR R. KANAN <

Comw. # 2008274 i
NOTARY PUBLIG-é;guLII‘F‘sRNM u
My cm. Daligu Fee. 23, W13 7

Signature

This area for official notarial seal

(Continued on Page 8) MIM
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Real Party in Interest, FAR WEST INDUSTRIES (“Far West”), by and
through its undersigned attorneys, hereby opposes Petitioners’ Emergency Motion
for Relief Under NRAP 27(e) (“Second Emergency Motion”) and Supplement to
Emergency Motion for Relief Under NRAP 27(e) (“Supplement”). This
Opposition is based on the pleadings and papers, the following points and
authorities and any argument the Court may allow regarding this matter.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

INTRODUCTION

Upon instruction from this Court, Far West successfully moved the Eighth
Judicial District Court (“District Court”) for an order requiring Michael J. Mona,
Jr. (“Mr. Mona”) and Rhonda Helene Mona (“Ms. Mona”) (collectively, the
“Monas”) to post a supersedeas bond in exchange for a stay pending resolution of
the Monas’ Petition for Writ of Mandamus or Prohibition (“Writ”). See Order
Regarding Motion on an Order Shortening Time for Bond Pending Appeal (“Bond
Order”), attached to Supplement as Exhibit 1. After careful consideration of
Nevada law and the facts before it, the District Court issued its Bond Order
requiring Mr. Mona to post a $24,172,076.16 bond and Ms. Mona to post a
$490,000 bond. See Bond Order, Ex. 1 to Supplement, at 7:611. The District
Court’s decision included an analysis under the case cited by this Court, Nelson v.

Heer, 121 Nev. 832, 122 P.2d 1252 (2005). Id. at 3-7. The Bond Order serves the
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purpose of NRCP 62(d): to protect Far West’s ability to collect if the Monas are
unsuccessful with their Writ by preserving the status quo and preventing prejudice
to Far West arising from the stay pending appeal. See Nelson, 121 Nev. at 835-36,
122 P.3d at 1254.

At the hearing on Far West’s Motion on an Order Shortening Time for Bond
Pending Appeal (“Bond Motion”), attached hereto as Exhibit A, the Monas failed
to present any evidence of their financial ability to post a bond or any evidence
regarding the existence of creditors that would be prejudiced by their having to

post a bond. See Bond Order, Ex. 1 to Supplement, at 5:19-21; see also Transcript

from Hearing on Bond Motion, dated September 17, 2015 (“Bond Hearing
Transcript”), at 11:2-12:5; 28:4-9, attached hereto as Exhibit B. The Monas did
not request that the District Court consider alternative security nor did they present
any evidence of alternative security. The alternative security the Monas are now
proposing for the first time is essentially worthless because the Monas have
repeatedly asserted that their residence located at 2793 Red Arrow Drive, Las
Vegas, Nevada 89135 (“Red Arrow Property”) has no equity, leaving no value for
Far West to execute against, and any execution against Ms. Mona’s stock options

(“Stock Options”) from CannaVEST Corp. (“Cannavest”)" could be null and void

' In the Supplement, the Monas inaccurately, and without evidentiary support, state
that “Far West accepted stock options directly from Cannavest” in a separate
action for fraudulent transfer. See Supplement at 1. In reality, Far West agreed to

-2
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according to the terms of the employee stock option plan, which would render any
collection efforts by Far West against those options an exercise in futility.

Allowing the Monas to continue to enjoy a stay pending appeal without
posting a bond or by posting their proposed alternative security would contravene
the purpose of NRCP 62(d). Accordingly, the Second Emergency Motion should
be denied in its entirety.

I. SUMMARY OF RELEVANT FACTS

In April 2012, Far West obtained a Judgment of more than $18,000,000
against Mr. Mona and the Mona Family Trust Dated February 21, 2002 (“Mona
Family Trust”), for fraud, among other claims. See Judgment and Findings of Fact
and Conclusions of Law (“Judgment”), attached hereto as Exhibit C.

Once Far West domesticated its Judgment in Nevada and obtained an order
for examination of Mr. Mona (see Order for Appearance of Judgment Debtors,
dated January 30, 2013 (“First Examination Order”), attached hereto as Exhibit
D), the Monas immediately began dissipating their assets. The Monas began
liquidating approximately $6.8 million worth of shares in a company called
Medical Marijuana, Inc. See Post-Marital Property Settlement Agreement

(“Property Agreement”) at 1, attached hereto as Exhibit E. Sitting on $6.8 million

(continued)
accept actual stock in Cannavest and another company, not stock options.

-3-
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with Mr. Mona’s judgment debtor examination looming, the Monas devised a plan
to turn themselves from millionaires to paupers in just a few weeks.

First, the Monas executed a Property Agreement on September 13, 2013, just
12 days prior to the September 25, 2013 deadline to complete the production of
documents. See Property Agreement, Ex. E, and Order, dated October 7, 2013
(“Second Examination Order”), attached hereto as Exhibit F. The Property
Agreement purports to divide the $6,813,202.20 proceeds equally between the
Monas as their separate property, with each receiving approximately
$3,406,601.10. See Property Agreement, Ex. E, at 1-2. Second, Mr. Mona
transferred his $3.4 million to his entities in the form of loans and other
contributions.” In sum, Mr. Mona disposed of $6.8 million dollars within two
months of the scheduled judgment debtor examination.

At his November 25, 2013 judgment debtor examination, when asked what
he did with the $6.8 million in stock sale proceeds, Mr. Mona perjured himself,
refusing to disclose the $3.4 million transfer to his wife. See Order Regarding

Order to Show Cause Why Accounts of Rhonda Mona Should Not Be Subject to

2 On November 14, 2013, just eleven days before the judgment debtor examination
scheduled for November 25, 2013, Mr. Mona sold a note in the amount of $2.6
million from Roen Ventures, LLC (“Roen”) along with his 50% membership
interest in Roen, (which held hundreds of millions of dollars in assets in the form
of a note convertible to $215,500,000 in stock) to Mai Dun, LLC for a mere
$500,000. Thus, Mr. Mona converted millions of dollars in assets into a few
hundred thousand dollars of cash just so he could avoid satisfying Far West’s
Judgment.
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Execution and Why the Court Should Not Find Monas in Contempt (“Sanction
Order”), entered July 15, 2015, at 4:4-6, attached hereto as Exhibit G. Notably,
Mr. Mona also failed to produce the Property Agreement, despite the District
Court’s orders requiring him to produce all of his financial records and contracts to

which he was a party. Id. at 4:1-3; see generally First Examination Order, Ex. D

and Second Examination Order, Ex. F.

During the judgment debtor examination of Ms. Mona, Far West learned that
Ms. Mona gave her son, Michael Mona III, approximately $900,000 to purchase a
condo in San Diego from the approximately $3.4 million she received through the
Property Agreement. See Judgment Debtor Examination Transcript of Rhonda
Mona, dated June 26, 2015 (“Ms. Mona’s Transcript”), at 26:16-23, attached
hereto as Exhibit H. Although the Monas have attempted to characterize the
$900,000 transfer as a “loan,” Ms. Mona: (i) never produced any written
agreements documenting this “loan”; (ii) never received any payments from her
son on this “loan”; and the supposed repayment terms for the “loan” were never
negotiated because Ms. Mona “didn’t get into it.” Id. at 27:9-24. Coincidentally,
just days after Far West’s counsel examined Ms. Mona about the $900,000
transaction with her son, two liens totaling nearly $1.8 million (over twice the price

actually paid for the condo’) were recorded against the San Diego condo.

> Upon information and belief, the San Diego condo was purchased for

-5-
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Specifically, a Mona family friend, Michael Sifen, recorded a first Deed of Trust
against the San Diego condo in the amount of $1,000,000, on July 17, 2015,
attached hereto as Exhibit I. Ms. Mona recorded a second Deed of Trust’ against
the San Diego condo in the amount of $787,760.88, on July 28, 2015, attached
hereto as Exhibit J.

On July 15, 2015, the District Court properly ordered sanctions against the
Monas finding that they violated court orders, lied under oath and deliberately
made gross omissions in their briefing. See Sanction Order, Ex. G, at 4:4-5:1,
6:14-19, 7:13-17.

The Monas appealed the Sanction Order and requested an emergency stay of
Far West’s entire judgment collection proceeding, as opposed to just a stay of the
Sanction Order even though the Writ only raised issues connected to collection
against Ms. Mona. See Emergency Motion for Relief Under NRAP 27(e) (“First
Emergency Motion”). This Court granted the Monas requested stay but deferred to
the District Court to address the amount of the bond. See Order, filed on August
31, 2015 (“Stay Order”). The Stay Order states:

It does not appear that the district court has yet considered the proper

amount of any supersedeas bond, NRAP 8(a)(1)(B), and we have

routinely recognized that the district court is better suited for making
(continued)

approximately $840,000 in cash.

* Ms. Mona’s deed of trust against the San Diego condo is essentially worthless
because it is in second dposmon. Upon a possible foreclosure of the San Diego
condo, Ms. Mona would only be paid on her second deed of trust after the Sifen
first deed of trust is paid off from the proceeds of the foreclosure sale.

-6 -
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supersedeas bond determinations. See Nelson v. Heer, 121 Nev. 832,
836, 122 P.2d 1252, 1254 (2005). Accordingly, we deny without
prejudice real party in interest's request to require a bond and
determine the amount of such a bond.

Additionally, real party in interest has filed a motion to prevent

petitioners from “transferring, disposing of or encumbering any non-

exempt property while this [matter] remains pending.” Having
considered the motion and petitioners’ opposition, we deny the
motion. We note that a bond would be an appropriate method to
protect real party in interest’s ability to eventually execute on their
judgment and, as explained above, the district court is the proper
forum to seek a bond.

See Stay Order at 2 (footnotes omitted).

On July 23, 2015, while the Writ was pending, the Monas made quick work
of obtaining a Decree of Divorce (“Divorce Decree”) from the Family Division of
the Eighth Judicial District Court (“Family Court”). See Divorce Decree, attached
hereto as Exhibit K. A review of the Divorce Decree makes the Monas’
motivations in pursuing their divorce apparent: obtaining an opinion from a
different district court that purports to undo the Sanctions Order, which is the
subject of the Writ before this Court without giving Far West an opportunity to be
heard. The Divorce Decree states that the Property Agreement is “adopted by the
Court and incorporated into this Decree and the assets set forth therein are
confirmed to each party as his/her own sole and separate property, subject only to

the resolution of disputed third party claims in Case No. A-12-670352.” See

Divorce Decree, Ex. K, at 3:24-26. The Divorce Decree awards Mr. Mona the Red
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Arrow Property, and the Family Court determined the Red Arrow Property was
encumbered by approximately $3.31 million in debt compared to its purported
estimated value of $2.2 million. Id. at 4:1-14. Under the Divorce Decree, Mr.
Mona must pay Ms. Mona $10,000 per month in alimony. Id. at 3:12-16. The
Divorce Decree also divides four (4) million stock options from Mr. Mona’s
employer, Cannavest, with Ms. Mona receiving three (3) million stock options and
Mr. Mona receiving the remaining one (1) million stock options. Id. at 4:15-20.°
However, according to Cannavest’s filings with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”), the stock options Cannavest awards to employees
are restricted from transfer and execution:

[The stock option] may not be assigned, transferred (except as

expressly provided in the Plan), pledged or hypothecated in any way,

shall not be assignable by operation of law and shall not be subject to

execution, attachment or similar process. Any attempted assignment,

transfer, pledge, hypothecation or other disposition of the Option

contrary to the provisions hereof, or the levy of any execution,

attachment or similar process upon the Option, shall be null and void

and without effect.

See Stock Option Grant Notice Amended and Restated 2013 Equity Incentive Plan

(“Stock Option Plan”) at 6, Sec. 5, attached hereto as Exhibit N.

> See Statement of Changes in Beneficial Ownership, dated December 17, 2014
(“Stock Award”), attached hereto as Exhibit L. (Cannavest awarding Mr. Mona
employee stock option of four (4) million common stock at $2.64 per share). As
Cannavest is currently trading at approximately 98 cents per share, with a strike
price of $2.64 per share, the Stock Options are currently worthless. Compare
Stock Award, Ex. L, with Stock Quote & Summary Data for Cannavest, dated
October 28, 2015 (“Cannavest Stock Quote™), attached hereto as Exhibit M.

-8-
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II. LEGALANALYSIS

A. This Court Should not Address the Issues That the Monas
Failed to Raise During the District Court Bond Hearing.

This Court should not address the issues that the Monas failed to raise during
the District Court’s hearing on the supersedeas bonds.

The issue of the amount of the supersedeas bonds was fully briefed and
heard by the District Court. See Bond Motion, Ex. A, Oppositidn to Motion on an
Order Shortening Time for Bond Pending Appeal (“Opposition to Bond Motion”),
attached hereto as Exhibit O, and Bond Hearing Transcript, Ex. B. Not once in
such a proceeding did the Monas address the issue of alternative security in lieu of
supersedeas bonds. Id. Instead, the Monas simply took the position that they
should not be required to provide any bond. Id. The Monas never raised in the
alternative, or any capacity, as to whether or not they should be able to provide
alternative security. The Supplement is the first time the Monas ever suggested
that a purported interest in the Red Arrow Property or Stock Options could be used
as alternative security. By failing to raise these issues in the District Court, the
Monas deprived the District Court of making factual findings as to the legitimacy
of such claims. As further addressed herein, a factual inquiry into the above-
referenced proposed alternative security would indicate that neither the Red Arrow
Property nor the Stock Options provide any sort of legitimate security which can
serve as a basis for replacing the supersedeas bonds as ordered by the District
Court.

This Court has expressly held that “this court is not a fact-finding tribunal;
that function is best performed by the district court.” Zugel by Zugel v. Miller, 99
Nev. 100, 101, 659 P.2d 296, 297 (1983). The Nevada Supreme Court will “not

resolve matters of fact for the first time on appeal.” Liu v. Christopher Holmes,

LLC, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 17, 321 P.2d 875, 881 (2014) (citation omitted). Since

-9.
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the Monas failed to raise these issues in the District Court they are deemed waived
for purposes of the appeal. It is well-established that the “failure to raise an
argument in the district court proceedings precludes a party from presenting the

argument on appeal.” Mason v. Cuisenaire, 122 Nev. 43, 48, 123 P.3d 446, 449

(2006). The failure to raise these issues with the lower court is deemed to be a
waiver of these issues at the Nevada Supreme Court. Cervantes v. Health Plan of

Nev., 127 Nev. Adv. Rep. 70, 263 P.3d 261, 263 n.2 (2011). This Court has

recognized the inequity of considering new issues which were not “mere

refinements of points already in play,” but were “potentially game-changing

issues” for the first time on appeal. Schuck v. Signature Flight Support, 126 Nev.
Adv. Rep. 42, 245 P.3d 542, 545 (2010).

The Monas elected not to raise the issue of alternative security at the District
Court. Consequently, the District Court did not address the factual allegations
regarding alternative security which the Monas make for the first time in their
Supplement. Now the Monas seek the proverbial second bite at the apple, since
the Monas were unsuccessful in avoiding a bond, they now seek to have this Court
address alternative security in lieu of a bond for the first time. Such a
determination at this juncture is not supported by law and as further addressed
herein is not supported by the facts.

B.  This Court Should Deny the Second Emergency Motion Pursuant
to NRAP 8.

a. The Court Should Deny the Emergency Motion Because
the Monas Failed to First Motion the District Court.

NRAP 8 requires that a “party must...move first in the district court for ...a
stay.” NRAP 8(a)(emphasis added). While counsel for the Monas indicated to Far

West’s counsel that they intended to file a motion for emergency relief pursuant to

-10 -
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NRAP 27(e), they did not request a stay from the District Court. Additionally
NRAP 8(a)(2) requires the Second Emergency Motion show that first moving in
the District Court would be impracticable or that the District Court had already
denied their request. The Second Emergency Motion fails to make either of these
assertions, and it is respectfully submitted, that is because neither assertion is true.

b. An Analysis of the NRAP 8(c) Factors Requires that
this Court Deny the Emergency Motion.

i. The Object of the Writ Petition Will Not be Defeated if a
Stay of the Bond Order is Denied.

Requiring the Monas to post a bond pending appeal does not defeat the
object of their Writ. Instead the Bond Order faithfully serves the purposes of
NRCP 62(d): preservation of the status quo by requiring the funds be held by a
third party, prevention of prejudice to Far West while the Monas pursue their
unmeritorious appeal, and protection of Far West’s ability to collect against the

Monas when Far West prevails. Nelson v. Heer, 121 Nev. 832, 835, 122 P.3d

1252, 1254 (2006).

As the District Court recognized, preservation of the status quo is mandatory
given the Monas’ obvious propensity to quickly dissipate assets when judgment
creditors such as Far West are pursuing valid collections. See Bond Order, Ex. 1
to Supplement, at 5:1-6, 6:1-8. The Monas provide no valid explanation as to how

the bonds in any way prevent them from pursing their Writ. While the Monas
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insinuate that Ms. Mona will have no funds if she is required to post a bond, the
Divorce Decree states that Mr. Mona must pay Ms. Mona $10,000 per month in
spousal support, alleviating any concerns about her not being able to sustain herself
pending resolution of the appeal. See Divorce Decree, Ex. K, at 3:12-16.

ii. The Monas Will Not Suffer Irreparable or Serious Harm if
the Injunction is Denied.

The Monas cannot plausibly argue that having to post a bond would subject
them to irreparable or even serious harm. If the stay expires then Far West would
be entitled to pursue collection of money and other property through the legal
processes available to other judgment creditors, processes that provide procedural
safeguards for debtors. While the Monas protest Far West’s motions to compel
application of particular assets towards satisfaction of the Judgment (which were
only pursued when a stay was no longer in place)’, it is difficult to imagine how
much more due process Mr. Mona should be afforded beyond a noticed hearing
with an opportunity to respond. Regarding Ms. Mona, the Bond Order does not
leave her without funds to live. She is paid $10,000 per month in alimony from

Mr. Mona. See Divorce Decree, Ex. K, at 3:12-16.

® In the Second Motion to Compel Application of Particular Assets Towards
Satisfaction of Judgment (“Second Motion to Compel”), cover page attached to
Second Emergency Motion as Exhibit 7, Far West sought only application of
assets that were awarded to Mr. Mona as his separate property in the Divorce
Decree and only after expiration of the period for Mr. Mona to post a bond.

-12-
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iii. Far West Will Suffer Serious Injury if the Stay is Granted.

In the nearly four years that Far West has been attempting to collect on the
Judgment, Mr. Mona’s conduct has made the collection process unnecessarily
“complex, convoluted, time-consuming, and resource-consuming in terms of
attorneys’ fees and costs” by making multiple transfers to his family and related
entities, lying under oath, and “do[ing] everything in his power to complicate the
collection process.” See Bond Order, Ex. 1 to Supplement, at 5:11-8. Ms. Mona
has also hindered the collections by failing to produce bank records as detailed in
the District Court’s prior order. See SanctionOrder, Ex. G, at 8:6-8. Ms. Mona
admitted to further fraudulently transferring funds to her son without any
documentation or payments. See Ms. Mona’s Transcript, Ex. H, at 26:16-23. It
was not error for the District Court to consider the transfer Ms. Mona made to her
son because that information came from her testimony in the proceeding before the
District Court, not unsubstantiated allegations. This information is directly
relevant to the complexity of the collection process, which is a factor this Court

directed the District Court to consider under Nelson. See Bond Order, Ex. 1 to

Supplement, at 6:1-6. Further, the terms of the Divorce Decree subsequently
awarded Ms. Mona the same property that the District Court found was
fraudulently transferred to her. See Ms. Mona’s Transcript, Ex. H, at 26:16-23,

27:9-24 and Bond Order, Ex. 1 to Supplement, at 6:1-8. Because Far West will
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suffer serious injury if the Monas are not required to post a bond, the Second
Emergency Motion should be denied.

iv. The Monas Are Not Likely to Prevail on Reversal of the
Bond Order

1. The District Court carefully weighed the necessary
factors to be considered for a supersedeas bond

As this Court stated, “the district court is better suited for making
supersedeas bond determinations[.]” See Stay Order at 2. Here, the District Court
has much more “familiarity with the facts and circumstances of th[is] particular
case. Additionally, [it] is better positioned to resolve any factual disputes
concerning the adequacy of any proposed security . . . .” Nelson, 121 Nev. at
1256, 122 P.3d at 836. Accordingly, the Bond Order should only be vacated if it

was an abuse of discretion. See Pac. Reinsurance Mgmt. Corp. v. Ohio

Reinsurance Corp., 935 F.2d 1019, 1027 (9th Cir. 1991); Raby v. M/V Pine Forest,

918 F.2d 80, 81 (9th Cir. 1990).
The factors to be considered in determining whether a supersedeas bond may
be waived and/or may be substituted with alternative security are:

(1) the complexity of the collection process; (2) the amount of time
required to obtain a judgment after it is affirmed on appeal; (3) the
degree of confidence that the district court has in the availability of
funds to pay the judgment; (4) whether the defendant's ability to pay
the judgment is so plain that the cost of a bond would be a waste of
money; and (5) whether the defendant is in such a precarious financial
situation that the requirement to post a bond would place other
creditors of the defendant in an insecure position.

-14 -
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Nelson, 121 Nev. at 1256, 122 P.3d at 836 (footnote omitted).

a. The Monas Have Made Collections
Extraordinarily Complex.

As set forth above, the Monas have continually hindered Far West’s efforts
to collect on its Judgment by engaging in complex transfers, lying about assets, and
withholding information in contravention of court orders. See Bond Order, Ex. 1
to Supplement, at 5:11-8, 8:6-8. In light of the complexity the Monas have added
to the collections process, the supersedeas bonds required by the Bond Order are
warranted in exchange for a stay pending appeal.

b. The Longer the Monas Have to Dissipate Assets,
the More Time Will be Needed to Obtain

Judgment.

The Monas’ past conduct, including their sale of $6.8 million worth of
shares immediately after Far West began pursuing collection and their divorce that
attempts to cover up their wrongdoing, makes clear that they will make it more
time consuming for Far West to obtain judgment if they are protected by a stay
without having to post a bond. See Property Agreement, Ex. E and Divorce
Decree, Ex. K. The District Court found this factor, to the extent applicable,
favored posting of a full bond for Mr. Mona and neutral as to Ms. Mona. See

Bond Order, Ex. 1 to Supplement, at 5:10-12, 6:9-10
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¢. The Monas provided no evidence regarding funds
available to pay a judgment.

There is a complete lack of evidence regarding funds the Monas have
available to pay a judgment. See Bond Hearing Transcript, Ex. B, at 11:2-13. The
District Court had no confidence as to Mr. Mona and Ms. Mona’s ability to pay if
they do not prevail on their Writ. See Bond Order, Ex. 1 to Supplement, at 5:13-
18, 6:11-15. This conclusion was based on the representations of counsel for the
Monas that the Monas do not have money to post even 1/10™ of the Judgment, that
Ms. Mona’s assets are limited to those awarded in the Divorce Decree, and that
Ms. Mona has been unemployed for several years. Id. at 5:15-17, 6:12-14.
Because the Monas have not provided any evidence as to their available funds to
pay if they lose on appeal, their request to stay the Bond Order should be denied.

d. The Monas’ ability to pay the Judgment is not so
plain that the cost of a_bond would be a waste of

mouney.

The Monas’ failure to present any evidence to support why a supersedeas
bond would superfluous further weighs against the Second Emergency Motion.
The District Court’s lack of confidence in the Monas’ ability to satisfy their
obligations if unsuccessful on appeal favors Far West’s request for bonds from the
Monas. See Bond Order, Ex. 1 to Supplement, at 5:13-18, 6:11-15. The fact that
the Monas’ state they cannot afford a bond demonstrates the unlikelihood of their
ability to pay the entire Judgment.
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e. The Monas presented no evidence demonstrating
that Mr. Mona is in such a precarious financial
situation that other creditors would be placed in an
insecure position.

The Monas presented no evidence of risk to creditors warranting a reduced
bond for Mr. Mona. See Bond Order, Ex. 1 to Supplement, at 5:19-21. Regarding
Ms. Mona, her financial situation was not precarious enough to eliminate the need
for her to post a bond. Id. at 6:16-18. This factor does not favor elimination of the
supersedeas bonds ordered by the District Court.

v. The Proposed Alternative Security Is Inappropriate and
Unreliable.

A supersedeas bond should only be replaced by alternative security if it is
appropriate and reliable given the unique facts and circumstances of the particular
case. See Nelson, 121 Nev. at 835, 836, 122 P.3d at 1254.

Here, the Red Arrow Property and Stock Options provide no security to
protect Far West’s ability to collect if the Bond Order is affirmed. While the
Monas tout the Red Arrow Property’s value as being approximately $2.2 million,
the Divorce Decree states that it is encumbered by approximately $3.3 million
dollars of debt, not even taking into account the $550,000.00 homestead exemption
under NRS 115.010. See Divorce Decree, Ex. K, at 4:1-14. This renders the
Monas’ proposal to pledge the Red Arrow Property as collateral a meaningless

gesture that should be rejected. The Stock Options are of even less value than the
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Red Arrow Property because the Stock Option Plan purports to prohibit any
transfers and makes any execution against the Stock Options “null and void.” See
Stock Option Plan, Ex. N, at at 6, Sec. 5. In addition, the purchase price for the
Stock Options is set at $2.64 while Cannavest shares are currently trading for
approximately $0.98. Compare Stock Award, Ex. L, with Cannavest Stock Quote,
Ex. M. This means that Ms. Mona would have to purchase the shares at two and
half times their value to exercise the Stock Options, which clearly renders the
Stock Options worthless at this time. Moreover, even if Far West was able to
obtain stocks, because they were issued to Mr. Mona, who is an insider to
Cannavest, there is a restriction period for trading those shares, see 17 CFR
230.144, and there is no assurance as to any market interest in the Cannavest
shares which are not traded on a centralized exchange and are what is commonly
referred to as Over-The-Counter (“OTC”) stocks.

The cases from other jurisdictions cited by the Monas are entirely
distinguishable from their facts on the issue of alternative security. For example,

in Pennsylvania, federal case of C. Albert Sauter Co. v. Richard S. Sauter Co., the

defendants filed uncontradicted financial statements reflecting insufficient assets to
pay the judgment against them and inability to obtain a bond. 368 F. Supp. 501,
520-21 (E.D. Pa. 1973). The court still required them to put up stocks (not stock

options), cash, and their business income in order to stay execution. Id. The
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defendants also were required to maintain the value of their assets, prohibited from
paying debts other than those approved by the court, and required to report their
monthly profits and losses to the plaintiff. Id. at 521. Unlike the defendants in
Sauter, here, the Monas, have provided no financial statements or any other
evidence to demonstrate why an alternative bond is appropriate. Instead they have
offered an “underwater” residence with no equity and stock options that apparently
cannot be executed against and do not offer to any restrictions on their transfers of
other assets or supervision of their financial situation.

Miami Int’l Realty Co. v. Paynter is also distinguishable because there the

defendant submitted an affidavit regarding his inability to post a full bond beyond
the $500,000 available from his insurance, which was placed in escrow to secure
the $2.1 million judgment against him, and he was prohibited from transferring any
of his assets except for necessary living and business expenses. 807 F.2d 871, 874
(10th Cir. 1986).

Finally, the case of Olympia Equip. Leasing Co. v. W. Union Tel. Co. is

inapposite to the Monas’ facts because there the defendant offered alternative
security consisting of a pledge of $10 million in cash, $10 million in accounts
receivables, and a security interest in the defendant’s physical assets represented to
be worth about $70 million, compared to a judgment of $36 million. 786 F.2d 794,

796 (7th Cir. 1986).
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In sum, the proposed alternative security offered by the Monas does nothing

to protect Far West, maintain the status quo, or prevent prejudice to Far West’s

collection on the Judgment. Nelson v. Heer, 121 Nev. 832, 122 P.3d 1252 (2006).
The Monas have not pledged assets having any value nor provided for meaningful
restrictions on their disposition of property. In fact, the Monas clearly omitted any
mention of the encumbrances on the Red Arrow Property and the transfer and
execution restrictions on the Stock Options in their briefing. Therefore, this Court
should affirm the District Court’s Bond Order and lift its stay of the same.

III. CONCLUSION

For the above-stated reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court
should deny the Second Emergency Motion along with such other and further
relief this Court deems just and proper.

Dated this 3" day of November, 2015.

HOLLEY DRIGGS WALCH
FINE WRAY PUZEY & THOMPSON

/s/ F. Thomas Edwards, Esq.
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